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DEFINITIONS
Ba

W

AR AR

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following RABRERN  BRIEXEREHIE » TRIAT

words and expressions shall have the following meanings.

“2020 Share Incentive Plan”
[ 20205 B tn B b=t &1 )
“2020 Share Option Plan”
[20205F g e it &1 |
"AGM"

[RERBAFRE ]

"associate(s)”

(BB AL

“Audit Committee”

[EZZEE

“Beijing Tiantu”

[ KE |

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

=

"BVI”
[RBRERRES]

“Chengdu Tiantu”

[ A ER R & |
“Chairman”
==

"Chief Executive Officer”
[BRERTE ]

ARRELEE TIIES -

the share incentive plan of the Company approved and adopted on
May 15, 2020
7202045 B 15 B #t/f MR E) A R R IR (0 B Bh At &

the share option plan of the Company approved and adopted on May
15, 2020
1202045 A 15 B #LfE RERMA) AN R R R A i =T &

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company proposed to
be held on Wednesday, June 21, 2023
RRAFIEFEN2023F6A21 B (RH=)RTHNERERRBFRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

A _EHRARE T AR E

the audit committee of the Board
EEeEZELES

Beijing Tiantu Xingbei Investment Center (Limited Partnership) (3t =X
BlEIL & ER O (BRER)), a limited partnership established under the
Laws of the PRC on June 26, 2015

ERREEILREPOL(BRER) » —KN2015F6 A26 A REHBEVER
PRIV ARE B

the board of Directors of the Company
ARRERE

the British Virgin Islands
RBERRES

Chengdu Tiantu Tiantou Dongfeng Equity Investment Fund Center
(Limited Partnership) (X #RKB XK ERAKEHREZFL(BERE
%)), a limited partnership established under the Laws of the PRC on
November 17, 2016

REBRERERABREREESFO(ERER) - —KK20165F11 717
BREPBEIEERINBEREBEE

the chairman of the Board

Bk

the chief executive officer of our Company

ARABEFENTE



“"Company”

[ARRE ]

"Controlling Shareholders”

[ 42 AR AR |

"Director(s)”

(=%

“Equity Incentive Plans’

[ s Eh =t &

“Fucheng”

[

"General Manager”

I

“Group,” “our Group,” "we" or

[ SR Ik [ 34 )

"HK$" or “HKD" or “HK dollars”
or "Hong Kong dollars”

[

“Hong Kong” or “HK" or
“Hong Kong SAR”
(&% % [ BB FRITHIE]

"Independent Third Party” or
"Independent Third Parties”

I

fEiz

IR |

" "

us

BT

o A —

B FE=

7]

U
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DEFINITIONS
EEL

Nayuki Holdings Limited (RE#I X IZEE R A ) (formerly known as
Pindao Holdings Limited (MEBIEREMR A F])), an exempted company
with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on September
5, 2019, whose Shares are listed and traded on the Stock Exchange
RENKEBRARAR (AIHEMEERARAR) » —HKR2019F9A58E
FEHETMRIMNERREGRAR - EROOBIMETREE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the
context of this report, means Mr. Zhao, Ms. Peng, Linxin Group, Linxin
International, Linxin Holdings and Crystal Tide Profits Limited
BEREITRANE FZANRE  HARSEME @ fBlxE  ZHL
Linxin Group * Linxin International * #R:/{#% A% 2 Crystal Tide Profits
Limited

member(s) of the board of directors of the Company, including all
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors

ARREFENE  BREBWITES  FFATESRBUIFNTES

the 2020 Share Option Plan and the 2020 Share Incentive Plan
20205 & ix it 8 2 20205 It B B =1 &1

Shenzhen Fucheng Technology Co., Ltd. (RIITMEEEHEBR AR, a
company established in PRC and a connected person of our Company
AYTHERRER AR - —KRPBIK AR - WARKDTNEEA
T

the general manager of our Company
EA/NCIFEE e

the Company and our subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or
more of our subsidiaries, as the context may require)
RARREBPIEME R E (AR R RBPIER —RS A B AR (AR
XEmME))

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEREEERAET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEEEFINITHER

any entity or person who is not a connected person of our Company or
an associate of any such person within the meaning ascribed thereto
under the Listing Rules
WHEARREEATHERMBEALHOBEA(RF TR R FZFN
WE) ZERERBIAL



DEFINITIONS
Ba

“Linxin Group”

[Linxin Group]

“Linxin Holdings”

[ PR ERR

“Linxin International”

[ Linxin International |

“Linxin Trust”
[Linxin Trust]
“Listing Date”
[ E B

“Listing Rules”

[ EmAR A

“Model Code”

MEeEsra) |

“Nomination Committee”

REZBE

“Option(s)”
[ i % e

“Prospectus”

[ A=

4  Nayuki Holdings Limited - 25 HZIEIRE R A F)

Linxin Group Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on December
29, 2020, one of our Controlling Shareholders

Linxin Group Limited * —K/X20205F 12 A29 B B4 R R B Sk AL
MERTE RBRPIMZERRRZ —

Linxin Holdings Limited (#.0#ZEAX AR A R), a company incorporated in
the BVI on September 5, 2019, one of our Controlling Shareholders
MOERBRAE » —KR2019FIASRERBABR RS TMA LR
Al AEMrE Hxﬂxﬁz—

Linxin International Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on
December 29, 2020, one of our Controlling Shareholders

Linxin International Limited * —ZKMA2020F 12298 E RBHEB RS
M RT - BRANIZERRR 2 —

Linxin Trust, an irrevocable discretionary trust established in Guernsey
on December 30, 2020 with Linxin Holdings as beneficiary

Linxin Trust » 720205F12 H30B ERAAS R A PRI BEE 2 EFT © M
DERABXEA

June 30, 2021
20216 A30H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

EEMAERGAARDAEFES LR (B IRER - BRI UEMT R
&2

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

ETRRMESE AR LM RITAZSETESF X HNRETR

the nomination committee of the Board

EExgR%%EY

share option(s) granted pursuant to the 2020 Share Option Plan
RIF2020F BB AT X eV BB A i

the prospectus of the Company dated June 18, 2021
ARABHAR20215F6 H18AMAKRER

“PRC" or “China” or the
“People’s Republic of China’

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context
' otherwise requires, references in this report to the PRC or China do not
apply to Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR or Taiwan Province
[FRE sk [ EE ARHAE ] B PEARKNE  BRIEXEZAME  AmEHHPENRRL SERR

ERBRTHER RFIFRITRRNKEGES



“"Remuneration Committee”
[HFNZE=

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
[ARE

"Reporting Period”
[ &5 2R |

"RSU(s)"”
[ BR il B £ BE7 |

“Shanghai Chatian”

[ E/gzcm ]

“SFO" or "Securities and Futures

Ordinance”
[ &% K HAE 0 ]

“Share(s)”
[ %15 |

"Shareholder(s)”
[ A%

“Shenzhen Pindao Group”

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 2 Ffr

"

"substantial shareholder(s)

[EERR]
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the remuneration committee of the Board
ExghEEe

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
FEVEEEBARE

the year ended December 31, 2022
B E2022F 128318 IEFE

restricted share unit(s) granted pursuant to the 2020 Share Incentive
Plan

WRIZ 20205 B BR B A+ B th B 2 IR A0 BB AL

Shanghai Chatian Catering Management Co., Ltd. (/85 HEREES
R 2 7]), a company with limited liability established and existing under
the laws of the PRC

FPEXAERERBERLAF  —REKBPBEAEERNFENERE R

NG|

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

BREDIEST1 EEF MG (ETRER] ~ MR IARA T HEH)

share(s) of the Company of nominal value of US$0.00005 each
AN AR EI{E0.000055 7T /Y A% 15

holder(s) of the Shares
D EFEE A

Shenzhen Pindao Group Co., Ltd. (YT B EEERAF]), a company
incorporated in the PRC on December 17, 2019 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company
FITRBEEERAR - —RKN2019F12A17BEFRBEFEMEAZHA
7 BARRNEZENRBAF

Shenzhen Pindao Food & Beverage Management Co., Ltd. (YT miE
BMEEAFRAF]), a company incorporated in the PRC on May 12, 2014
and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company

A mEEREEBRAR - —KK201465A128 £+ B M AL/
DA RARRNEEHE AR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BERBMERFHABR AT

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules

BB EWmARAE T ZARRE
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“Tiantu Dongfeng”

[REIRE |

“Tiantu Entities”
[ REERE ]

“Tiantu Xingli”

[ REF |

“Tiantu Xingnan”

PNElN

“Tiantu Xingpeng”

PN

"US$” or “U.S. dollars”
[ZT]

"Zundao”

ll%ll
[%]

6 Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZZEMHZIERER D7)

Shenzhen Tiantu Dongfeng Medium Small and Micro Enterprises Equity
Investment Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (/& JIl T X B 3 1&
RN EEREREESERCE(AREE)), a limited partnership
established under the Laws of the PRC on July 25, 2017
RITRERER NICEREREESERECE(AREE)  —FR0
201757 A25 ARBHBIERERUNBRABEE

collectively, Tiantu Xingli, Chengdu Tiantu, Tiantu Dongfeng, Tiantu
Xingnan and Tiantu Xingpeng
REES - RERE - RERIE - KE HeE KK B E# S H 4T

Shenzhen Tiantu Xingli Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
(RINKBEIIIEELZE(BRET)), a limited partnership established
under the Laws of the PRC on March 15, 2016
FYREEIRERE(BRER) - —HKNR2016F3A15AREFEER
RIHEREBEE

Shenzhen Tiantu Xingnan Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
7RIS MREAGELEEX(BARAER)), alimited partnership
established under the Laws of the PRC on April 3, 2018
FYNREEREREGBER(BREE) - —KN2018F4A3RREPEE
RRNEREH B

Shenzhen Tiantu Xingpeng Consumption Industry Equity Investment
Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (RIIIK B ELHE A B = XA #1%
BESAEBDLFE(BRER)), a limited partnership established under the
Laws of the PRC on December 29, 2017
RYRBEBEAOHBEEXREREESABREE(ARER) - —FKKN2017
FI2A9BARBPBREERNINEREBEE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
ERHEEEBET

Dongguan Zundao Environmental Packaging Services Co., Ltd. (R5E
MEBEREBREETEFR2AA), a company established in PRC and is a
connected person of our Company

REMEBRRBEEEERAR - —FKRPBEKIHRAF - WRKRRA
HRAEAL

per cent

ADLE



COMPANY NAME
Nayuki Holdings Limited

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Lin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Peng Xin
Mr. Deng Bin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Pan Pan
Mr. Wong Tak-wai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Qunsheng
Mr. Liu Yiwei
Ms. Zhang Rui

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Zhang Rui (Chairperson)
Mr. Chen Qunsheng
Mr. Liu Yiwei

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhao Lin (Chairperson)
Mr. Chen Qunsheng
Mr. Liu Yiwei

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Liu Yiwei (Chairperson)
Mr. Zhao Lin
Mr. Chen Qunsheng

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Shi Chao
Ms. Ho Yin Kwan

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Zhao Lin
Ms. Ho Yin Kwan

AUDITOR

KPMG
Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LREH

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Guotai Junan Capital Limited
28/F., Low Block

Grand Millennium Plaza

181 Queen’'s Road Central
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

Tian Yuan Law Firm LLP

Suite 3304-3309, 33/F Jardine House
One Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Zone F, 2F, Building 3
Huangguan Science Park
Chegongmiao Industrial Zone
Futian District

Shenzhen

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER

OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

ERE™

BREEZMERRAT

B

EEKEFR1815

L TTES

1K RE281E

SEERE R
RUTEMEXF(BREEEEEE)
&5

IR

FREEEIS 157
16HK=33/E3304-3309 %

MEREEMNREE

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

BMERPEFTELE LR

e

I

R MA@

E-/N -
EREEE
3IRFRE2IE

BERETREXRME

BB

VT

SR NBR2485
RETE B 0401

MERERHOBFERARE

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands



HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Shenzhen Branch

China Merchants Bank Shenzhen Branch Building
No. 2016, Shennan Blvd

Futian District

Shenzhen

PRC

China Everbright Bank Company Limited
Shenzhen Branch

1/F, Education Technology Building

No. 26 Zizhu 7th Road

Futian District

Shenzhen

PRC

STOCK CODE
2150

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.naixuecha.com

CONTACT INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

ir@pin-dao.cn
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBIHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our

Group for the last five financial years, is set out below:

TXHEHINEREASERBEREMBFEN

XEUARBENABNRE

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 202146 20205 2019 20185
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETE AR%®T:
Revenue Wzs 4,291,586 4,296,618 3,057,181 2,501,510 1,086,826
Other income Hi A 124,950 27,339 205,951 5,604 2,526
Cost of materials MR (1,416,094)  (1,400,674)  (1,159,322) (915,653) (383,950)
Staff costs BIKA (1,362,115)  (1,424,358) (919,096) (750,724) (340,205)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREEEE (434,930) (420,272) (352,912) (261,417) (120,353)
Other rentals and related Hine RB@HY
expenses (228,962) (212,996) (100,568) (127,379) (73,216)
Depreciation and amortization HihBEMITEREH
of other assets (263,183) (204,026) (154,117) (92,534) (39,847)
Advertising and promotion BEREERAY
expenses (142,933) (111,592) (82,172) (67,484) (39,384)
Delivery service fees B R B (380,520 (258,976) (167,369) (64,435) (10,796)
Utilities expenses KERL (113,556) (90,750) (66,909) (51,659 (23,632)
Logistic and storage fees NRLERE (123,112) (90,502) (56,710) (39,891) (12,039)
Other expenses Hif % (249,578) (176,325) (123,655) (80,267) (44,544)
Other net losses HioBEFE (130,865) (38,746) (7,382) (2,17¢6) (2,617)
Finance costs RMEBKA (80,326) (91,547) (130,258) (96,185) (46,160)
Share of losses of associates EGHE AR B8 (1,288) = = - -
Fair value changes of financial AR EBEtEBRESE
assets at fair value through AEHBER([UDAREES
profit or loss (“FVTPL") ERHEHHAERES))
HNERMEENAAEEEY (2,603) 7,560 = - S
Fair value changes of financial AR EBEGEEEZEH
liabilities at FVTPL AEHBERNSRBED
RAEEZY (2,989) (11,330) (132,757) - -
Fair value changes of convertible ~ A[& i aFEEE LA A/
redeemable preferred shares BEZH - (4,329,052 = = =
Loss before taxation BREiAIEE (516,518) (4,529,629 (190,095) (42,690) (47,391)
Income tax e Rt 40,712 4,105 (13,207) 3,010 (22,338)
Loss for the year FRBE (475,806)  (4,525,524) (203,302) (39,680) (69,729)
Non-IFRS measure FEIRTHRE LR E
Adjusted net (loss)/profit LARE(ER)/HE
(non-IFRS measure) ! (BB BT RS
ERIFE)O (461,331) (145,265) 16,643 (11,735) (56,580)
Adjusted net (loss)/profit RAZF(ER) /FIEX
margin (non-IFRS measure) @ (BB B SRS
ERIFE)O (10.7)% (3.4)% 0.5% (0.5% (5.2%




Notes:

(1) The adjusted net (loss)/profit (non-IFRS measure) is defined as net (loss)/profit
for the period adjusted by adding back fair value changes of financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, fair value changes of convertible redeemable
preferred shares, listing expenses, equity-settled share-based payment
expenses, interest on redeemable capital contributions, income from output

value-added tax exemption and uncreditable input value-added tax.

(2) Calculated using adjusted net (loss)/profit (non-IFRS measure) divided by revenue

for a given period.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEHE

B EE -

() KLABFUER) FECGERRMBRELAFE)
RE/BBNEARAREENEBEEEHFAEY
BaneRAENAABERY  AERRLDE
EROARBELEY  LHAX  AESFEEUR
MAERNNRRAX - IRETEENNE - 2%
IR G B B P A5 R A T 7 BT 0 69 3 488 1B A5 T 5
BOHAE (E1R), /FE -

2 RAKAHEF(HR), B GERRE B R E LA
B)RRABTE PR AT E -

As at December 31,

R12A31H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022% 20216 2020% 20195 20185
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Assets, Liabilities and EE - BER
Equity/(Deficit) B/ (F4)

Total assets mEE 6,939,700 7,328,446 3314109 2,051,148 1,343,293
Total liabilities B (2,174,116)  (2,385,016)  (3,738,526)  (2,200,614)  (1,453,076)
Total equity/(deficit) B/ (B4 BE 4,765,584 4,943,430 (424,417) (149,466) (109,783)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEEBWME S

BUSINESS REVIEW

The offline consumption industries, including the freshly-made tea
drinks industry, faced tremendous challenges in 2022. The recurring
outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19") has caused
significant disruption to the operation of the enterprises within the
industry and impacted the profitability of these enterprises through
the relatively high operating leverage. At the same time, affected
by the macro environment, the income of consumers either
decreased or grew slower than expected, their expected income
was suppressed, and the uncertainty for the future increased,
which in turn affected their ability and willingness to consume
discretionary goods.

In order to overcome the challenges, the Company made efforts
to both revenue and cost perspectives. On the one hand, the
Company continued to introduce popular quality products in 2022,
while ensuring the stable gross profit margin, the overall price
range of new products has been adjusted downward to attract
consumers to make purchase decisions easier; we have insisted on
opening stores in premium locations, while constantly optimizing
the store model, expanding the geographical area available for
store openings where are closer to our consumers. On the other
hand, the Company reduced the operating leverage and improved
the operational flexibility through digitalization and automation
measures such as the self-developed automatic shift scheduling
system and automatic tea-making equipment, so as to maintain the
stability of single-store model in a challenging environment and
lay a concrete foundation for the Company to quickly restore its
profitability in the aftermath of COVID-19.

Furthermore, following the gradual optimization of control
measures on COVID-19 across the regions in the mainland China
and the rapid peak and decline of the first wave of COVID-19 at
the end of 2022, our operation and financial indicators began
to improve swiftly. We believe that the silver lining of the offline
consumption recovery in the post-pandemic era has appeared.

In 2022, the Group's revenue decreased by approximately 0.1% to
RMB4,291.6 million from RMB4,296.6 million in 2021. Affected by
the factors including COVID-19 and the change of consumption
environment, the Group's adjusted net loss in 2022 was RMB461.3
million (2021: RMB145.3 million).

EHROE

BRERANERITEEANANGE T HEITER
20225 EER T ERBKE - COVID-19% 18
(IREDTERE  SITERNCENELE
MTHEEZENTE UEBHEERSMNLER
2 BAFENEXNEE - A SEBR
B2 HBEIWA TR RRE - A
TEERSZ B BRI - ¥R R HEE 1 T8 B A Pid
- EmMEETHEEEEERNE N

B -

ATRRDEEL - AN R WA R K S i () B Ao
M2 o —7E 20224 » AR RIFFERE D
XBANBEER  ERFAENERENR
B FmEREERTE  ERHEEEY
RMEHBERR - RABRSEEE MR
JEREE - TETE(LPIEREL - SN AT E R
fEE  WEFEEZRORMANEEE - 5
—TH G ARRBEEMABHFLESR - 8
BREARBERFE  BBDEFE - BREL
SRR BILELEEE  EPEEERE
EBRERBENRRE TESAYRE €5
ARRERBHERKARKERFENDTT
i o

SN - BEEPEAEREBEEERES
B UR2022FFRFE - RRBFARZE
WHE - AEEEERRMY LA
MAERNRE - HAIMEE  BRERBRAKETHE
EEENE —BHIEERR -

2022 » AEE W A B 2021 FH AR
4,296 6B BT NEL0.1%ZEAREEL 291.6F
BT - XRBEMHEBREE(LCEREZZE
REB022F LA FEEBABARKEL61.380
BIr(20214F : ARB1453H8TT) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2022, we recorded store-level operating profit of RMB469.9
million for our Nayuki teahouses, representing an decrease of
approximately 20.6% compared to 2021. The store-level operating
profit margin of Nayuki teahouses was 11.8% in 2022, representing
a decrease of approximately 2.7 percentage points compared to
2021. Net cash generated from operating activities of the Group

THE MRS Hh

202F REMRRZARIEHEPIELEF
HARBAOIEBEIL + 2021 F TBEH
20.6% ° 2022F EE R R F RGP IE KL & F
BERAE11.8% @ W2021F #4271 &
ho AEBKEEHBRESFEA2021F
FIARB506.18 BT NE#39.4%E20224F

decreased by approximately 39.4% from RMB506.1 million in 2021 HARE306.6EETT ©

to RMB306.6 million in 2022.

Performance by sub-brands
RENRRFEER T AER
majority of our revenue. In the foreseeable future, we expect BRI D WA o FMITERT - AR AR
that Nayuki teahouses will continue to be our key business. The R BREMNREEFEDERRMOEBTER
B o TREHTRMARMEE DHKRRE

For the Reporting Period, Nayuki teahouses contributed a vast REEHNR -

following table sets out our performance by our sub-brands.

For the year ended December 31,

BZE12A318LLEE

2022 2021 Change
20225 20214 2
Percentage
RMB % RMB % RMB point(s)
AR % ARETT % AR B
(in thousands, except percentages)
(ATt - BRI
Nayuki RERIR 3,969,306 92.5 4,067,298 94.7 -97,992 2.2
Tai Gai BE 82,584 1.9 141,489 33 -58,905 -14
Others!" Eppm 239,696 5.6 87,831 2.0 151,865 3.6
Total it 4,291,586 100.0 4,296,618 100.0 -5,032 N/A
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For the year ended

December 31, 2022

For the year ended
December 31, 2021

BZE2022% BZE20214
12A31BLLEE 12A318IEFE
Store-level Store-level
Store-level Operating Store-level Operating
Operating Profit Operating Profit
Profit® Margin@ Profit@ Margin®
e I R e R P s PIE# &
FEe Bz FEe FEEe
RMB % RMB %
AR¥RT % AR %
(in thousands, except percentages)
(AT B2 BRIN
Nayuki FEmF 469,945 11.8 591,527 14.5
Tai Gai =¥ -11,949 -14.5 18,726 13.2
For the For the
year ended year ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
BZ2022%F BZ20214F
12A31BLEE 12RA31BIEFE
Nayuki teahouses RENERNE
Average sales value per order (RMB)® FBEIETHEEBE(AREKT)® 34.3 41.6
Average orders per teahouse per day#)¥ FEXMEFHEFATEE #)9 348.2 416.7

Notes: PfHaE -

(1) Including revenue derived from other than Nayuki teahouses or Tai Gai (1) BREEERSHRZRIEXESRAEINEEH I
teahouses, which consist primarily of sales of retail products such as bottled A ERETEEFERERE  RXE22  HEERTE
drinks, gift tea boxes, seasonal gift sets and other gifts. BaREMHFEETEEMHEESE -

(2)  We define store-level operating profit as revenue deducting operational costs, (2) BEMEPAELLFEEEASRAKIERENERE
comprising costs of materials, staff costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets, HRANBEENESERAS  BFEMEKEA - 8T
other rentals and related expenses, depreciation and amortization of other BA - FREESENTE  HaBekiEEAX - &
assets, utilities expenses and delivery expenses, incurred at the store level under tEENTE NS KERIIARRXRS 0 P95
each teahouse brand, while store-level operating profit margin is calculated by 428 F) R SR R AR P I A8 & A1) BR LA AR FE HA RS A U A
dividing store-level operating profit by revenue for the corresponding period. 5TE o

(3) Calculated by the revenue generated by a Nayuki teahouse in certain period Q) BRE—HEEBRSHNRFZREEENRABRIAR
divided by the total number of orders placed by customers to such Nayuki HEFPRZERENARRIE T ENBRHGTE -
teahouse in the same period.

(4) Calculated by the arithmetic average amount of valid orders per day of a Nayuki 4 BE—HRHEBEERESNEERES AR EERN

teahouse in certain period.

B FIBEE -
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Performance by business lines

We intend to modernize China’s long-lived tea-drinking culture
and promote it to more customers by offering freshly-made tea
drinks and baked products coupled with enjoyable customer
experience. Moreover, in order to cater to the diversified demands
of our customers, we have launched various retail products such
as sparkling water and snacks. The following table sets out our
performance by business lines.

THE MRS Hh

D EGHRRE

TP LR B IR IR AR KM BEE A &
SABENERER  STBEEANKRX
EEIABRRKTELEREFTLEF - KRtz
Sh - BT RMEZHACNER - HABELT
Ak TREZBEEEM - TREIT
BMREBREDTHRRBER -

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12R31HLEE
2022 2021 Change
2022% 20214 &
Percentage
RMB % RMB % RMB point(s)
AR®R % ARETT % ARBTT B
(in thousands, except percentages)
(JAF&t  BALERSN)
Freshly-made tea
drinks BRI 3,135,326 73.1 3,186,988 74.2 -51,662 -1.7
Baked products BEREE T 775,672 18.1 940,054 21.9 -164,382 -3.8
Other products!” EfERO 380,588 8.9 169,576 3.9 211,012 5.0
Total et 4,291,586 100.0 4,296,618 100.0 -5,032  N/ATER
Note: MiET -

(1) Primarily including retail products and gifts, such as bottled beverage drinks
including bottled fruit tea and sparkling water, gift tea boxes, snacks and
seasonal gift sets. As the proportion of bottled beverage drinks lines is relatively
low, we still classify them into “other products” at present. As the product line
grows in size, we will continue to assess whether a separate disclosure is required
for such business line.

Performance by income sources — Nayuki teahouses

In 2022, impacted by COVID-19, there was a significant increase
in the proportion of delivery orders due to inconveniences for the
customers to dine-in or pick up. However, at the end of 2022, with
the rapid lifting of control measures on COVID-19, we noticed
that the proportion of delivery orders began to decline. As the
Company continues to increase the density of stores in the existing
market, it is more convenient for customers to spend in stores.
We expect that the proportion of delivery orders will return to a
healthier level.

() FTERETEERRHETFRE  MEBEREAKREK
FBKEANBERE  HE3  ZREHAHER
ER - FRESRHERSGLAERE - Bl
IS E SRR [ E A IR - BEEE mARRE
BR BRMRESHETEZSEBRECTER
DWE -

DWAKIREKIR — BRI RE

20226 - XEBEHE  HEEIEERKE
REBLZTE  AUARRIINERTE L HIH
IBEAFA T o AT > MR20226 K @ BEERIE
BEIE R AR ERRR - BMB R Z IR
TR - EEARRRBEMARBEAEMGMER
B HEBEEREEEBEAER - HMTEI
ERTEL A LR BAEE BREMKTE
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The following table sets out the performance of Nayuki teahouses
by income sources.

TR TRENARKEDWARIRE R
BIFI

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12B31HLEE
2022 2021 Change
20224 20215 #
Percentage
RMB % RMB % RMB point(s)
AR®RT % ARETL % ARETT EEr
(in thousands, except percentages)
(AF&t - BAHKR)
Nayuki teahouses mEE‘J%?ﬁﬁ'}IF

Order at store counter " Fi[E24E 759,744 19.1 1,146,582 28.2 -386,838 9.1
Pickup orders®? Bizs] £ 1,372,624 34.6 1,422,538 35.0 -49,914 0.4
Delivery orders® SNEETEG 1,836,938 46.3 1,498,178 36.8 338,760 95
Total At 3,969,306 100.0 4,067,298 100.0 97,992 N/ATEHR

Notes: B 5T

(1) Representing revenue generated from customer orders placed on-site at Nayuki
teahouses (excluding orders placed through our WeChat and Alipay mini
programs and Nayuki app).

(2) Representing revenue generated from customer pickup orders placed through
our WeChat, Alipay or third party platform mini programs and Nayuki app.

(3) Representing revenue generated from delivery orders that require delivery
services. In 2022, out of the revenue of the Group's Nayuki teahouses,
approximately 38.4% was derived from revenue generated from delivery orders
placed by third-party platforms; and approximately 7.9% was derived from
revenue generated from delivery orders placed by the Group's self-operated
platform.

Nayuki Membership Program

Since we introduced the Nayuki Membership Program in 2019, the
number of our members is continuously increasing. As at December
31, 2022, the Company had registered members of approximately
56.6 million. The monthly active members” of the Company
amounted to approximately 3.2 million with a monthly repurchase
rate® of approximately 26.3%.

Notes:

(1) Representing the average number of members who ordered our products at least
once a month during 2022;

(2) Representing the average proportion of active members who ordered our
products at least twice a month during 2022.

() BEERMANRSHRRKRERS TEZFE(TE
EBBRMANMERINENMEFARREHRE
FAI2FFRT T RT ) FEEAE IR ©

@) ?aLiﬂ?ﬂF‘iE’H*ﬂ* XNBRE=Fa/ I EFNA
ENRERREF TENTFP BRI EMELDN
LBU\

() EFBRZARBAIFATETELENWA © 2022
FoAREBARSORRRIERANLIBA%KER
F=ZNHNEFETENNIEITEMEENRA - 4
T9%KEARARBEBEFETENINERTEMEL
0L N

ZFERRAER

B2019FE AR Ra & B XK - M
SEHEREEER - N20225F12A318 © &
NAZMEEHEERN6AEL  AE

EE SREEBETINI2AESR - AEER
FO#)26.3% ©

(1) #E2022% A BEAZIBE-RARERNER
2 HETHE

(2 #2027 BEAZEIBEMAARERNER
1EERE BROLLAIRFI9E



Annual Report 3§ 2022 17

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEBWME S

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS OF STORES

Number and distribution of stores — Nayuki teahouses

As of December 31, 2022, our Group had 1,068 self-owned Nayuki
teahouses in 89 cities. In 2022, we recorded a net increase of 251
Nayuki teahouses. We insist on further expanding our teahouse

FIE R D

FIEEER DM -SSR RRE
HE20229F 128318 » A& B E8EH T #
F1,068BERENRRRE - HEBE - 2022
F o BISFFIE2S1IRESHRRRIE - &M
REFTEAEREN—KF M GNEH K
WHiE— T REEAREEK LIRS E LA
X DHE S MEBEEEE S = imIR I R R
FHEBEE - TR THMZHIELEE

network and increasing market penetration mainly in the existing
Tier 1 cities, New Tier 1 cities and key Tier 2 cities, so as to cultivate
and consolidate consumers’ habits for high-end freshly-made tea
drinks. The following table sets out the breakdown of the number

of our Nayuki teahouses by geographic location.

7 HIPIIE BE R -

As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
R2022%F 7220214
12A31H 12A31H

Number of Type-l Teahouses (#) E-BERMUETEA#)
Tier 1 cities — &R 309 245
New Tier 1 cities H— S 294 245
Tier 2 cities —mWm 213 172
Other cities ™ E g mm 80 56
Total et 896 718
As of As of
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
R2022% 720214
12HA31H 12A31H

Number of Type-ll Teahouses (#) E-EERMUEEA#)
Tier 1 cities — 4RI T 64 35
New Tier 1 cities H— S 63 37
Tier 2 cities &M 29 15
Other cities A3 O 16 12
Total @t 172 99
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Notes:

(1) Including (i) cities of other tiers across mainland China; and (ii) cities outside
mainland China.

(2) At present, almost all of the newly opened Nayuki teahouses of the Group are
PRO teahouses, and the existing regular teahouses will be gradually converted
into PRO teahouses upon the expiry of their lease or with the permission of the
shopping malls or other lessors. At present, the differences between regular
teahouses and PRO teahouses are relatively minor and will continue to reduce
in the future, and we no longer put emphasis on such differences. Due to the
similarity of the location and operating performance of the stores, regular
teahouses and Type-l PRO Teahouses disclosed previously was consolidated
as "Type-| Teahouses” in the 2022 interim report of the Group, while Type-
Il PRO Teahouses located in other less prime shopping malls, office buildings,
residential neighborhoods, etc. was named as “Type-Il Teahouses”. Meanwhile,
we will no longer separately disclose the number of regular teahouses that have
been converted to PRO teahouses on a quarterly basis.

Certain additional key performance indicator data of our Nayuki
teahouses by market and by nature of teahouses is shown below for
the ease of understanding of Shareholders and potential investors.

Performance by market — Nayuki teahouses

Benefiting from our strong brand influence, when tapping into
a new market, Nayuki teahouses usually attract customer traffic
from outside the peripheral communities and experienced “store
opening customer traffic” with higher sales volume. However, as
it is difficult to cultivate customers’ consumption habits due to the
relative sparsity of stores; therefore, until store density reaches a
reasonable level, daily sales per teahouse will gradually decline.
At the same time, as we continue to expand, newly-opened stores
account for a larger proportion and it is necessary for existing
stores in these markets to recruit and reserve talents for them, thus
putting pressure on the operating margins of existing stores.

With our accumulated operating hours and growing store density,
customers’ consumption habits will be gradually established in
these markets. Coupled with gradual decline in the proportion
of newly-opened stores, we expect that the average daily sales
per teahouse of Nayuki teahouses in these markets will gradually
stabilize and thus our store-level operating profit margin will
gradually increase. Therefore, we believe that it is necessary
to further increase our store density in the existing markets to
accelerate market maturity.

(N BREOPEREEMEET R B RERINE
o

(2 Bl AEEATHAEFAESOHELRRIES R
PROK&E - B AMZRERKIE S ERLEIH
BREESIEMERAAFAMNART  EEEA
PROZEEKIE - B AT + ZEZKIEEBPROKKIEM
BEMZENERCAR/) - BRTEHER /)
BRMETERAZSEEZE - ERPIENBEURES
REMBOE - AR ENZERSUEESE
PROZEE B M AN B20224F R B3R & A4 A B &
[E—BARHE]  MUuREHRESROED PO
kBEFE HESHMULENSE ZFEPROFK/ER
WBAIE_BEAKE] - ¥YE  RABTHEBR
FEBBZERRIEEBPROFZKIENHE -

AT RO TS RDPROKFUEME N E T
SMERIEIREE - TREBRRMEEREEE
I IR AR PIH R B MR RRIERR

DTSR —RENRERIE
ERENRRFENEA—EFHER - X
SRRFIBAH MEEEE  BEEWREIKE
REBERIAMETSRE - HMEE[F%E
EFPREINESNHE - AT - EFIEEE
ZRAEAKEZA - RPIERERE -
NEREFPHEEE BEEAHERSES
T AR ARFERR  HFEFMEGT
HEES  ZEMSRBMAEFTREBEM
FEAR - Rt HRAPIE KL N BXRERK
73 -

BELCERHEER  UARFIEEEZE T
meHEEEZSMENHEEBEERST
B Dz #E PR L E T - AR
it REMSERENAZRREFIIEE A H
ERMELERFR  LAPIEKLMNEEX
IKEREFERTT - Bt - BRMRA/ELEE
BEMSE-—FLNAPIERE @ EMEST
BERKR



The following table sets out certain key performance indicators for
stores in certain cities.
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December 31, 2022
EZ2022%128318 K

TREH T ETWHPIE O E T BIRAERE

Ci)
i

As of and for the year ended

BEZALEE
Store-level
Average daily operating
Number of sales per profit
stores(#) teahouse margin?
FIJE FHEE FIE R &
EEM(#) AEER @R
(RMB’000) (%)
(AR%¥T ) (%)

Nayuki teahouses REMERME

Shenzhen il 146 17.7 17.5
Shanghai fabis! 66 11.8 1.6
Guangzhou =0 73 13.1 12.8
Wuhan RS 53 11.3 10.9
Xi'an iges 40 13.7 18.5
Beijing bl 57 12.3 4.8

The following table sets out certain same-store key performance
indicators of Nayuki teahouses in certain cities.

(7] /5 BSR4 R AR -

TR TETHIRENRRFENET

For the year ended December 31,

HZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021 2022 2021
20224 20214 20224 20214F
Number of
same Average daily sales Store-level operating
stores®(#) per teahouse profit margin@®
S FHERE PE£R &
A HiHER MEx
(RMB'000) (%)
(AR¥EFTT) (%)
Nayuki teahouses REMNERRE
Shenzhen el 109 18.7 23.4 17.5 21.8
Shanghai s 40 12.7 18.2 -0.2 12.9
Guangzhou =00 37 15.0 20.9 12.9 17.9
Wuhan BE 36 12.2 19.2 10.5 17.3
Xi'an itk 29 15.0 18.7 18.5 16.2
Beijing Al 30 14.0 21.1 4.4 7.7
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Despite the relatively greater changes in external factors such as
the COVID-19 during the Reporting Period, and the impact of which
is difficult to quantify, we believe the logic of increasing our store
density can facilitate the cultivation of consumption habits, and in
turn assist different markets to progressively develop into mature

oligopolistic market remains valid and is gradually being verified.

We will continue to disclose performance by cities in the future to

assist investors in understanding and verifying the above logic.

Performance by store nature — Nayuki teahouses

The following table sets out certain key performance indicators of
Type-l Teahouses and Type-Il Teahouses.

BERBFIARZRBEHRRAZ (R
R BEZEREHAERE(  HMR
B MAFEZEAINEDERHEERE
EMEBTRITIHE T ERKAREEDA
PRI E IR B o BIATBERRESE
BEIMMRE  EPHREEEBEERZIA
L -

HPEHERE - RENRRRE
TRINRTRENRE - RRREME R
HRERER)E TRARRERIER -

As of and for the year ended
December 31, 2022
BZ£2022F12A318 K

BEZBLFE

Store-level

Average daily operating

Number of sales per profit

stores"(#) teahouse margin?

F3 5 FI9EE FERE

BEO#) AEER BN Bt
(RMB’000) (%)
(AR¥FT) (%)

Type-l Teahouses 827 13.3 12.5
Type-Il Teahouses 157 9.5 16.1

Notes:

M

Only including stores that opened for at least 60 days as of December 31, 2022
and did not cease operation as of December 31, 2022. We are of view that
stores opened for less than 60 days may be significantly affected by opening
promotions, “store opening customer traffic” and other factors, which may
lead to the overall data being unrepresentative and misleading to investors.
Therefore, we have excluded those stores.

Since there are one-off opening expenses, including but are not limited to, pre-
operating labor costs for the teahouse and other expenses, to be included in the
profit and loss for the month that the teahouse commences operation, it will be
not meaningful for reference due to the fact that the store-level profit margin of
such teahouses to be significantly affected by the opening expenses. To facilitate
investors to have a better understand of and compare the daily profitability of
teahouses in different types, the store-level operating profit margin listed in
the table has excluded the impact of the one-off opening expenses mentioned
above.

Only including stores that operated for at least 60 days in 2021 and 2022 and did
not cease operation as of December 31, 2022.

P -

(1) EeFEEZE20229412A31 BREFETDR60X
B2022F 12 A31 A MAREIEEZEZFIE - BIFIR
B REREDR60KXRIPIE R 8 3R HEE
g [AEXERFAEISRETERA  AJREHRE
BHETAARRYE  BIREEEKRE - At &
P2 5 L PYE HEBRAESD ©

(2 BRRREREE ARBAE RIERBRERF ARG
(B BREETERRY : ZARERXINANER
&) HFEREFEEZHZIRARERNEEZE
MAELZESR - BT EBRAEE T F MY H
LEARBRZERIEN BB RAMES - RRBAHIIR
ZPIEREFEEEHR Lt — RIEFAR B RS
K E o

(3) {EBIEAE20214 20225 L ¥ BT D RE0K
BR2022F12A31 B MK EIEEEZPIE -
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OUTLOOK

The gradual optimization of control measures on COVID-19 across
the regions in the mainland China and the rapid peak and decline
of the first wave of COVID-19 at the end of 2022 have greatly
strengthened our confidence in the recovery of consumption.
From the perspectives of recovery degree of offline traffic, same-
store performance and profitability shown in unaudited monthly
consolidated management accounts, we see a sign of recovery: the
control measures on COVID-19 have been lifted, the proportion
of delivery orders dropped as consumers returned to offline
consumption, and the income and profitability of same-store began
to recover. We believe we have reasons to be optimistic about
2023.

We will continue to make efforts to optimize both revenue and
cost. We will introduce more quality products with a more balanced
price range that are suitable for a wide range of customer groups,
and continue to enhance digitalization and automation capabilities,
strengthen refined management and strive to achieve the goals set
out in the interim report in 2022, which are to stabilize the labor
cost ratio at the store level of Nayuki teahouses within 20% and
maintain the actual rental cost ratio at the store level within 15%.
In principle, we will not hire mid-office and back-office personnel
in the short term, thus the labor cost ratio for headquarters is
expected to drop. We are of view that, under the background of
consumption recovery, we are more confident on consolidating the
above optimization achievements in 2023 to maintain a reasonable
level of profit for Shareholders. The performance of the Group's
stores in January and February 2023 further strengthen our
confidence.

In terms of store expansion, in 2023, we expect to maintain an
active and steady store opening plan by increasing store density
in the existing high-tier cities. With the continuous optimization on
store model, staff at stores and equipment are more streamlined
than before, the restrictions in stores are fewer, making the Group
easier to reach breakeven. As a result, the number of potential
store locations available for us is increasing, the supply-demand
relation is beneficial to the Group, thus enhancing our negotiation
advantages as a tenant. In the future, the space for the Group's
store number expansion is expected to be enlarged. At the same
time, considering the market environment is rapidly recovering, we
will continue to evaluate the store opening plan.

THE MRS Hh

RE

TEAESRREEEZEERESBL AR
02FFRE—RNRBRARZEILIHER - K
RIZR TRMEEBEENE D - ERTR
EWERE RERR RAEEZAEHA
ERREBTNANENSTZEEE - 1M
WEINTBEUNHETR - RISEEER
SRR - SNERT B EE REEEHM
R TOHEMESE - [BEKRATER T 61 #
FIaIRE - HFIRS - BIE B H2023F R

295 -

HPBEBES NERBRAMKENEL - B
ML EERBZBEEEREN  BRE
BERHENELEEER  YHERAHT
1t~ BEMLRES - ISRBAMLE R - NFE
BARKE2022F 7 HBETAABRFR - K
REMRRREFIEBEANIKAXRBEE
20% AR - WA EREERARGEFEIS%
AW RAIE - EHARMANEHES - &
BAR - BEANKANEREE TR - RMR
R EHBEENAKERT  RABREH
EOHE2023FEE L @R R - £ Ak
RERAEKENAF - NEEPIEE2023
F1R - 2ARBE-—FZE TRANGED °

FYUERIR T E - 2023 - RPIFEFHD B R
EBIBRORAEE - ERAX ST
AFIEZE - BEFERLNFERL -
EAE  REBAEERIERE  PISRHIE
L BRZGERBETE - Bt - RAATH
BENECEHUBRERFHEM  HFEBER
ERNMRAEENTMER  HANESH
HIBE N UL IR T o R2K - FAPIRFE IS £
BEEE—FEA - AEFEETIHERRE
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In terms of capital security, we have sufficient cash and cash flow to
support our operation and expansion. At present, we do not have
any plans for large-scale refinancing.

In the past year, facing the challenging operating environment
and unpredictable capital market, we faced difficulties head on,
broadened sources of income and reduced expenditure and
insisted on timely, effective and transparent communication,
strived to provide professional and valuable services for
Shareholders and potential investors. As we believe in the saying
“No pain, No gain”. With the recovery of consumption, we are
confident that our efforts in the past year will create better returns
for Shareholders in 2023.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group generates substantially all of its revenue from sales of
products offered by Nayuki teahouses. For the Reporting Period
and 2021, Nayuki contributed 92.5% and 94.7% of the total revenue,
respectively. The remaining small portion of revenue was mainly
derived from our bottled drinks business as well as teahouses
operated under our sub-brand Tai Gai.

The Group recorded revenue of RMB4,291.6 million for the
Reporting Period (2021: RMB4,296.6 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 0.1% as compared with 2021, which
was mainly attributable to the sluggish consumption atmosphere
resulted from the recurring outbreak of COVID-19 in various
regions in mainland China in 2022.

Other income

Other income of the Group consists primarily of (i) interest income
on bank deposits, term deposits, rental deposits and other financial
assets; and (ii) government grants, primarily representing subsidies,
and unconditional cash awards granted by local governments.
Other income of the Group amounted to RMB125.0 million for
the Reporting Period (2021: RMB27.3 million). The increase in the
Group's other income was primarily due to (i) interest income
from an increase in the proceeds from our Global Offering and an
increase in interest income from term deposits; and (ii) an increase
in subsidy from government.

BexehE  ZMAERRMNBRSMESR
MEEEMME - BAT - RPVRBERBREF
BEMEHE -

BEN—F  EHTRABAELRINE
ERINEARATS  RMEERE - AR
R XRRERE - B BRHNER S
FRERMBEREERHERXN - BEE
R - [ TE—BEWME @ EREIEES
Bl -BEHEEE  BERMEBE —FM
WS BPBEELE2023FRERRAER
FFEVEIFR -

Bt %5 [2] 8

W
AEBEEARENARKERUNERFE
EERNBY WS - RBERER2021F - R
SORD BIER92.5% M 947 %M S - B
(RESIN: 0N PR e e = EE A (OR3-S
BHEBARARFIN T mif 6 EELHRR
JE o

RBEHB  AEEHBSREAEARE
42916 EETT(20214F : AR¥A4,296.6H &
TT) 0 BR2021FRAH0.1% 0 T EB AR
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BUHBIRIER (R o
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AIEAN 5 R (i) BT R B2 A0 o



Annual Report 4§ 2022 23

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Expenses
Cost of materials

Cost of materials consists primarily of (i) cost of raw materials,
including tea leaves, dairy products, seasonal fruits, juices, and
other raw materials used for the preparation of our freshly made tea
drinks, baked goods and other products, and (ii) cost of packaging
materials and consumables such as tea cups and paper bags.

Cost of materials of the Group amounted to RMB1,416.1 million,
representing 33.0% of the total revenue of the Group for the
Reporting Period, compared to RMB1,400.7 million, representing
32.6% of the total revenue for 2021. Our cost of materials remained
stable.

Staff costs

Staff costs consist primarily of (i) salaries, wages and other benefits,
(ii) contributions to defined contribution retirement plan, (iii)
equity-settled share-based payment expenses and (iv) outsourced
staff costs. Staff costs of the Group amounted to RMB1,362.1
million, representing 31.7% of the total revenue for the Reporting
Period, compared to RMB1,424.4 million, representing 33.2% of
the total revenue for 2021. The proportion of staff costs over total
revenue decreased, primarily due to capacity improvement of
delicacy management of the Group. During the Reporting Period,
staff costs classified by brands included: (i) store-level staff costs for
Nayuki, which amounted to RMB931.1 million, representing 23.5%
of revenue for Nayuki, (ii) store-level staff costs for Tai Gai, which
amounted to RMB28.5 million, representing 34.6% of revenue for
Tai Gai, and (iii) staff costs for headquarters and others, which
amounted to RMB402.5 million, representing 9.4% of the total
revenue.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Depreciation of right-of-use assets represents depreciation
charges for the Group's leases. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is recognized using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of
the right-of-use assets or the end of the lease term. Depreciation
of right-of-use assets of the Group amounted to RMB434.9 million
for the Reporting Period, representing 10.1% of the Group's total
revenue during the Reporting Period (2021: RMB420.3 million,
representing 9.8% of the Group’s revenue for 2021).
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Other rentals and related expenses

Other rentals and related expenses consist primarily of lease
payments for our leases of teahouses. Our other rentals and related
expenses mainly include (i) short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets; and (ii) variable
lease payments which subject to some specified event or condition.

Other rentals and related expenses of the Group amounted to
RMB229.0 million for the Reporting Period, representing 5.3%
of the Group's total revenue during the Reporting Period (2021:
RMB213.0 million, representing 5.0% of the Group’s revenue for
2021).

Depreciation and amortization of other assets

Depreciation and amortization of other assets represent
depreciation charges for property and equipment and depreciation
expense for leasehold improvements. Depreciation and
amortization of other assets of the Group amounted to RMB263.2
million for the Reporting Period, representing 6.1% of the Group's
total revenue during the Reporting Period (2021: RMB204.0 million,
representing 4.7% of the Group's revenue for 2021). The proportion
of depreciation and amortization of other assets over total revenue
increased, primarily due to the increase in the number of stores of

the Group.

Advertising and promotion expenses

Advertising and promotion expenses primarily represent expenses
incurred in connection with marketing, branding and promotion
activities of the Group. Advertising and promotion expenses
of the Group amounted to RMB142.9 million for the Reporting
Period, representing 3.3% of the Group's total revenue during the
Reporting Period (2021: RMB111.6 million, representing 2.6% of the
Group's revenue for 2021).

Delivery service fees

Delivery service fees represent fees paid by the Group to third-
party delivery service providers. Delivery service fees of the
Group amounted to RMB380.5 million for the Reporting Period,
representing 8.9% of the Group's total revenue during the
Reporting Period (2021: RMB259.0 million, representing 6.0% of
the Group's revenue for 2021). The increase in delivery service fees
was primarily due to the impact of COVID-19 in 2022 resulted in the
change in customers’ consumption habits, which in turn led to an
increase in the proportion of delivery orders.
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Utilities expenses

Utilities expenses consist primarily of expenses in relation to
electricity utilities, and to a lesser extent, gas and water utilities that
are attributable to the operation of the Group's teahouses. Utilities
expenses of the Group amounted to RMB113.6 million for the
Reporting Period, representing 2.6% of the Group's total revenue
during the Reporting Period (2021: RMB90.8 million, representing
2.1% of the Group’s revenue for 2021).

Logistic and storage fees

Logistic and storage fees represent fees paid by the Group to
third-party service providers for raw materials transportation
and warehousing services. Logistic and storage fees of the
Group amounted to RMB123.1 million for the Reporting Period,
representing 2.9% of the Group's total revenue during the
Reporting Period (2021: RMB?0.5 million, representing 2.1% of the
Group's revenue for 2021).

Finance costs

Finance costs consist primarily of interests on lease liabilities.
Finance costs of the Group amounted to RMB80.3 million for the
Reporting Period, representing 1.8% of the Group's total revenue
during the Reporting Period (2021: RMB91.5 million, representing
2.1% of the Group’s revenue for 2021). The following table sets
forth the components of our finance costs for the period indicated,
both in absolute amount and as a percentage of total revenue.
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2022
20224

RMB
AR®R

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLFE

2021
20214

% RMB %

% ARMTT %

(in thousands, except percentages)

ATEE - BALKRIN

Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 79,182 1.8 88,757 2.1
Interest on provisions BEF B 1,144 0.0 1,073 0.0
Interest on bank loans RITEFF S - = 851 0.0
Interest on redeemable AEOEERER
capital contributions & - - 866 0.0
80,326 1.8 91,547 2.1
Other expenses At s

Other expenses consist primarily of (i) administrative expenses
incurred during the ordinary course of business of the Group,
such as telecommunication expenses and maintenance expenses,
(ii) travelling and business development expenses incurred by
employees of the Group, (iii) other-party service fees representing
costs associated with third-party management consulting and other
professional services, (iv) impairment losses and (v) others, such
as insurance fees and other tax and surcharges. Other expenses
of the Group amounted to RMB249.6 million for the Reporting
Period, representing 5.8% of the Group's total revenue during the
Reporting Period (2021: RMB176.3 million, representing 4.1% of
the Group's revenue for 2021). The following table sets forth the
components of our other expenses in absolute amounts and as
percentages of total revenue for the periods indicated.
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For the year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEFEE

2022 2021
2022% 20214F
RMB % RMB %
AR®T % N %

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT& - B LLRRSN)

Administrative expenses THRAX 142,016 3.3 72,631 1.7
Travelling and business = YT
development expenses FER 40,825 1.0 31,873 0.7
Other-party service fees Hith RIS & 23,257 0.5 20,656 0.5
Impairment losses and BB ET1E &
write-down of inventories FEMUR 18,368 0.4 8,410 0.2
Listing expenses istiilco b - - 14,735 0.3
Others HAith 25,112 0.6 28,020 0.7
249,578 5.8 176,325 4.1
Income Tax P51

The income tax benefits of the Group amounted to RMB40.7 million
for the Reporting Period. The income tax benefits of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2021 amounted to RMB4.1 million.

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement the Group's consolidated financial statements
that are presented in accordance with IFRS, the Group also use
adjusted net loss (non-IFRS measure) as an additional financial
measure, which is not required by, or presented in accordance with,
IFRS. The Group believes that this non-IFRS measure facilitates
comparisons of operating performance from period to period
and company to company by eliminating potential impact of
items that our management does not consider to be indicative
of the Group'’s operating performance. The Group believes
that this measure provides useful information to investors and
others in understanding and evaluating the Group’s consolidated
results of operations in the same manner as it helps the Group's
management. However, the Group’s presentation of adjusted net
loss (non-IFRS measure) may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures presented by other companies. The use of this non-IFRS
measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and the investors
should not consider them in isolation from, or as substitute for
analysis of, the Group's results of operations or financial condition
as reported under IFRS.
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THERR S

Year Ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
(RMB in thousands)
(AR¥FT)

Reconciliation of net loss and FEHEESHABTER

adjusted net loss (FE B PR B 75 3R 5 22 B

(non-IFRS measure) FTE) ZHER
Net loss for the year FRFEE (475,8006) (4,525,524)
Add: b
Fair value changes of financial NAnEBEEEBEE#SHET

liabilities at fair value through profit or ASHEZSNEREEN

loss DR EEEEO = 2,874
Fair value changes of convertible Al 8532 A] fE B8 S iR A

redeemable preferred shares@ NRAEBEZFH - 4,329,052
Listing expenses® FHREx® = 14,735
Equity-settled share-based payment AR E AR AETEH

expenses ¥ R 14,475 32,732
Interest on redeemable capital AIHEEE &SR A1 B0

contributions © = 866
Adjusted net loss KRR FEE

(non-IFRS measure) (GEEIBR B s s s 2RIt =) (461,331) (145,265)
Adjusted net loss margin KRR FEEE

(non-IFRS measure) CGERBRFBRELERE) (10.7)% 3.4)%
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Notes:

m

Fair value changes of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
represent the gains or losses arising from change in fair value of the Group's
warrants, onshore loans and convertible note with conversion rights in connection
with the Series B-2 investments. Such changes are one-off and non-cash in
nature and are not directly related to the Group’s operating activities. The
aforementioned financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss have been
ultimately converted into ordinary shares of the Company upon the closing of
the Global Offering on June 30, 2021 and no further gains or losses on fair value
changes from these financial instruments going forward.

Fair value changes of convertible redeemable preferred shares represent fair
value changes in all classes of preferred shares, which is a non-cash item, and
there will be no further gains or losses on fair value changes from these preferred
shares after the automatic conversion into ordinary shares upon the closing of the
Global Offering.

Listing expenses relate to the Global Offering, which is one-off in nature and is
not directly related to the Group's operating activities.

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses consist of (i) share options and
RSUs granted under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, and (ii) difference in fair
value of ordinary shares and preferred shares arising from the re-designation of
ordinary shares held by the Group’s Controlling Shareholders to preferred shares
by the Company. For (i), it is adjusted for as these items are non-cash and non-
operational in nature; and for (i), it is adjusted for as the transaction is irregular
to the operation of the business. In addition, both (i) and (ii) are not directly
correlate with the Group's business performance in a given period.

Interest on redeemable capital contribution represents interest on the Group's
Series A, Series A+ and Series B-1 investments. Upon completion of the Global
Offering, the redeemable capital contribution in connection with such Pre-IPO
Investments has been ultimately converted into ordinary shares of the Company
upon the closing of the Global Offering on June 30, 2021 and subsequently
no interest would accrue. In addition, the interest on redeemable capital
contribution is a non-cash and non-operational item, which is not directly
correlate with the Group's business performance in a particular period.

Cash, Bank Deposits and Borrowings

As of December 31, 2022, the total cash and cash equivalents
of the Group amounted to RMB1,387.5 million (as of December

31,

2021: RMB4,052.8 million) and the total term deposits and

certificates of deposit of the Group amounted to RMB2,088.8
million (as of December 31, 2021: nil), primarily denominated in
RMB, HKD and USD. As of December 31, 2022, the Group did not
have any interest-bearing borrowings (as of December 31, 2021:

approximately RMBO.4 million).

Right-of-Use Assets

The Group's right-of-use assets primarily represent the leases for

the Group’s teahouses, office at headquarters and warehouses.
As of December 31, 2022, the right-of-use assets of the Group

amounted to RMB1,273.3 million (as of December 31,

2021:

RMB1,313.3 million). The balance of the Group's right-of-use assets
remained stable.
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Property and Equipment

The Group's property and equipment consist primarily of leasehold
improvements, office building situated on leasehold land, kitchen
equipment, furniture equipment, electronic equipment and others
and construction in progress. As of December 31, 2022, the
property and equipment of the Group amounted to RMB1,024.1
million (as of December 31, 2021: RMB801.4 million). The increase
in the Group's property and equipment was primarily due to the
increase in the number of stores and purchase of office building in
Shanghai.

Inventories

The Group's inventories consist primarily of raw materials and
packaging materials. As of December 31, 2022, the inventories
of the Group amounted to RMB126.3 million (as of December 31,
2021: RMB174.1 million).

The Group's inventories turnover days increased from 36.1 days for
2021 to 38.7 days for the Reporting Period.

Trade and Other Receivables and Prepayments

The Group's trade receivables consist primarily of receivables due
from third parties in connection with the sales of products. The
Group's other receivables and prepayments consist primarily of
input valued-added tax recoverable in connection with purchase
of raw materials, loan to an ongoing investment, rental deposits
within one year and prepayments to suppliers. Trade and other
receivables and prepayments of the Group increased from
RMB346.1 million as of December 31, 2021 to RMB376.5 million
as of December 31, 2022, primarily due to the loan to an ongoing
investment and partially offset by a decrease of prepayments.

Trade and Other Payables

The Group's trade payables consist primarily of trade payables to
the Group's raw materials suppliers. The Group also recorded other
payables and accrued charges in connection with various aspects
of its operations, including (i) payroll and welfare payables to
employees, (ii) payables for purchase of property and equipment,
(iii) accrued charges, which are mainly utilities, and (iv) others.
Trade and other payables of the Group decreased from RMB654.2
million as of December 31, 2021 to RMB478.5 million as of
December 31, 2022, primarily due to the decrease in payables for
procurement of raw materials and property and equipment.
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Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2022, our gearing ratio, which is calculated as
total debt divided by total assets, was 31.3%, as compared with
32.5% as of December 31, 2021.

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a prudent financial management approach for
its treasury policy to ensure that the Group’s liquidity structure
comprising assets, liabilities and other commitments is able to
always meet its capital requirements.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Taking into account the financial resources available to the
Group, including cash and cash equivalents, cash generated from
operations and available facilities of the Company, and the net
proceeds from the Global Offering, and after diligent and careful
investigation, the Directors are of the view that the Group have
sufficient working capital required for the Group's operations at
present.

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had total cash and cash
equivalents of RMB1,387.5 million (as of December 31, 2021:
RMB4,052.8 million). In 2022, the Group mainly used cash for store
operation and deposited part of idle cash into banks for term
deposits and certificates of deposit (as of December 31, 2022,
the total term deposits and certificates of deposit of the Group
amounted to RMB2,088.8 million (as of December 31, 2021: nil)).

The Group did not have any bank loans and interest-bearing
borrowings as of December 31, 2022 (as of December 31, 2021:
approximately RMBO0.4 million), and current ratio as of December
31, 2022 was approximately 3.30 times (as of December 31, 2021:
approximately 3.51 times).
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

For the Reporting Period, the Group mainly operated in China
and the majority of the transactions were settled in RMB. As of
December 31, 2022, apart from cash and cash equivalents and
term deposits denominated in foreign currency, the Group did
not have any significant foreign exchange risk in its business
operations. During the Reporting Period, the Group had entered
into several forward foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign
exchange fluctuations. Apart from the aforementioned instruments,
the Group currently does not engage in other foreign exchange
hedging activities. The Group will continue to monitor foreign
exchange changes to best preserve the Group’s cash value.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As of December 31, 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Our capital expenditures amounted to approximately RMB448.3
million for the Reporting Period, which were incurred primarily in
connection with payment for purchase of equipment and leasehold
improvements.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As of December 31, 2022, bank deposits of RMB1.0 million was
restricted by the relevant courts for two contractual disputes and
RMBO.3 million has been released as at the date of this report.
Except for the above, as of December 31, 2022, the Group did not
pledge any assets.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated December 5, 2022, December 19, 2022 and January 6, 2023
in relation to the Group's investment in Shanghai Chatian (the
“Investment”). Upon completion of the Investment, the Group
will be interested in approximately 43.64% of the enlarged equity
capital of Shanghai Chatian, and Shanghai Chatian is expected to
become an associate of the Company.
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Shanghai Chatian is a company established in the PRC with limited
liability and is the operator of the "LELECHA" brand. Founded in
2016, "LELECHA" is one of the leading brands in freshly-made tea
industry in the PRC, focusing on offering freshly-made tea drinks
and bakery goods with signature products such as Dirty Milk Tea
series (BEBFZS £ %)) and Dirty Bakery series (B8 8 &%), which
gained widespread popularity among the customers. The Directors
are of the view that the Investment will further enhance the brand
diversity of the Group, reduce the Group's costs in store expansion
and operation, and optimize the competitive environment of the
freshly-made tea industry in the PRC. After taking into account
of its terms and conditions, the Directors are further of the view
that Investment is determined on normal commercial terms, is
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

As at December 31, 2022, the Company and the respective parties
of the Investment were in the process of fulfilling the conditions
precedent to the completion of the Investment. Further, on
March 1, 2023, the Group has received the “Decision on No Further
Examination in relation to Concentration of Business Operators and
Anti-monopoly Examination” (& & &SP REHEE TN E B E
— S HFERTEE)) issued by the State Administration for Market
Regulation of the PRC (B 5 1 15 BE & & I 48 /) with respect to the
Investment. It is expected that the Investment will be completed
in the first half of 2023. Further announcement with respect to the
completion of the Investment will be made by the Company as and
when appropriate.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2022, there was
no significant investment held by the Group or future plans for
significant investments or capital assets.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As of December 31, 2022, save for the “Significant Investment”
disclosed in this report and “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have any existing
plan for acquiring other material investments or capital assets.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

For the Reporting Period, save for the “Significant Investment”
disclosed in this report, there was no material acquisitions or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had a total of 7,557 full-
time employees, among which 1,550 employees work in the
Group's headquarters and regional offices, and the remaining
employees are in-store staff. The Group values its employees
and is committed to growing with employees. The Group has
launched an employee retention initiative, under which the Group
incorporates employee retention rate as one of the key criteria
that used to assess its teahouse performance. The Group is also
committed to establishing a competitive and fair remuneration
and benefits environment for its employees. Remuneration is
determined with reference to the qualification, experience and
work performance, whereas the payment of discretionary bonus is
generally subject to work performance, the financial performance
of the Group in that particular year and general market conditions.
To effectively motivate the Group’s business development team
through remuneration incentives and ensure that our employees
receive competitive remuneration packages, the Group continually
refine its remuneration and incentive policies through market
research and comparisons with its competitors. As required by
the PRC laws and regulations, the Group participates in various
employee social security plans for its employees that are organized
by municipal and provincial governments, including basic pension,
unemployment insurance, maternity insurance, work-related injury
insurance, medical insurance and housing fund.

The Group also share its success with employees by offering them a
variety of incentives and financial rewards to keep them motivated.
To recognize and reward, among others, the Group’s employees,
directors and senior management for their contributions to the
Group, to attract suitable personnel and to provide incentives
to them to remain with and further contribute to the Group, the
Group has adopted the 2020 Share Option Plan and the 2020 Share
Incentive Plan by way of resolutions of the Board on May 15, 2020.
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In addition, the Group places strong emphasis on providing
trainings to its employees in order to enhance their professional
skills, understanding of industry and work place safety standards,
and appreciation of the Group's value, especially the Group's
unwavering commitment to food safety and product quality as
well as satisfying customer services. The Group designs and offers
different training programs for employees at various positions. For
example, the Group requires every newly recruited employee at
operational functions to attend a one-month in-store training as
the Group strives for consistency and high quality of its product
delivery and customer services. In addition, the Group pairs its new
in-store staff with seniors, who are responsible for guiding them
through the probation period. The Group have also established a
vanguard program to foster and maintain a local talent pool and
offer a promotion path for excellent employees to become future
teahouse managers.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on June 30, 2021.
The net proceeds raised from the Company’s global offering
(the "Global Offering”), after deduction of the underwriting
fees and commissions and other estimated expenses payable
by the Company in connection with the Global Offering, were
approximately HK$4,842.4 million. As of December 31, 2022,
there was no change in the intended use of net proceeds and the
expected timeline as previously disclosed in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of proceeds” in the Prospectus. The net
proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering will
be used for the following purposes:

. approximately 70.0%, or HK$3,389.8 million, will be used
over the next three years to expand the Group's teahouse
network and deepen the Group’s market penetration;

o approximately 10.0%, or HK$484.2 million, will be used over
the next three years to further improve the Group's overall
operations through enhancing technology capabilities, with
a goal to improve operational efficiency;

° approximately 10.0%, or HK$484.2 million, will be used over
the next three years to strengthen the Group's supply chain
and product distribution capabilities, with a goal to support
our expanding scale; and

° the remaining approximately 10.0%, or HK$484.2 million, will
be used for working capital and general corporate purposes.
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The following table sets forth a summary of the utilization of the net
proceeds from the Global Offering as of December 31, 2022:

TREFNEE2022512 A31 A 2R EHRE
HIEFEHABEROHRE

Expected
Net proceeds  Actual use of Unutilized  timeline of full
incurred from proceeds up to amount as of utilization of
Percentage to the Global December 31 December 31 the remaining
Purpose total amount Offering 2022 2022 proceeds
EZ2022%F BH
RRBE 12A318  BZE2022F BAKT
EENFE ERBA 12A318 MBREN
EL:y HREERDL RERE 8RR ABASE RHARBX
HKS (million) HKS (million) HK$ (million)
Ar(asgr) #Br(agr) Br(B8n)
Expand the Group's teahouse network and
deepen the Group's market penetration 70.0% 3,389.8 1,063.8 2,326.0  June 2024
BRASENRFEBEL RS AEED
mE2ER 2024%F6 7
Further improve the Group's overall
operations 10.0% 484.2 253.8 230.4  June 2024
E-IRALKENRRES 2024%F6 1
Strengthen the Group's supply chain
capabilities 10.0% 484.2 233.8 2504 June 2024
RARSENHERE 2024%F6 1
Fund the Group's working capital and
general corporate purposes 10.0% 484.2 195.7 288.5  June 2024
RARENEERS R —REXAERE 202456
Total 100.0% 4,842.4 1,747.1 3,095.3
st
IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING RMEHEREAREIE

PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements and “Significant Investment” in this report, there has
been no important events subsequent to the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report, which would affect the Group’s
business operations in material aspects.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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As of the date of this annual report, biographical details of the
Directors and senior management are set out below.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, of which three are
executive Directors, two are non-executive Directors and three
are independent non-executive Directors. The following table sets
forth information regarding our Directors.

WIIWT
==

RAFHAN EERSRETEREHE

EXeEa B N\RESEK  EP=25%H
TESF MARFRTESFR=RRBIULIF

HITEE - TR BHEFNEH -

Date of appointment as

Name Age Position Director

®E Fir B BZIAREENAE

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Zhao Lin 43 Chairman of the Board, June 9, 2020
Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer

R E 435% EER WTEZEREFRHITE  202066H9H

Ms. Peng Xin 35 Executive Director and September 5, 2019
General Manager

gt 355% HITESRAKE 20199 A5H

Mr. Deng Bin 41 Executive Director and June 9, 2020
chief operation officer

B 4 4155 HITESRERERR 202056 A9H

Non-executive Directors

FHTES

Mr. Pan Pan 43 Non-executive Director October 26, 2020

BREE 435 FHITES 20205108268

Mr. Wong Tak-wai 46 Non-executive Director December 31, 2020

BEELE 46755 FHITES 2020128318

Independent non-executive

Directors

BUFHTES

Mr. Chen Qunsheng 45 Independent non-executive June 18, 2021
Director

BREFAE K4 455% BUFNTES 20216 A 18H

Mr. Liu Yiwei 51 Independent non-executive June 18, 2021
Director

FREEE 515% B IEITES 202167 18H

Ms. Zhang Rui 60 Independent non-executive June 18, 2021
Director

R+ 605% BUFNTES 20216 5 18H
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhao Lin (##), aged 43, has served as a director of
Shenzhen Pindao Management from February 2017 to October
2020 and Director of our Company since June 2020. Mr. Zhao was
redesignated as executive Director and appointed as Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company on February
5, 2021. Mr. Zhao co-founded our Group with Ms. Peng in May
2014 and was principally responsible for the identification and
development of store locations to further the Group’s expansion.
After leaving Meixin (defined below) in January 2016, he has
dedicated his full capacity to the Group and is responsible for
overall strategic planning and business direction of our Group
and overseeing management of our business. Mr. Zhao is the
chairperson of the Nomination Committee and member of the
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Zhao has been acting as a director
of Shanghai Chatian since February 2023. Mr. Zhao is also the
director of Linxin Group.

Prior to founding Shenzhen Pindao Management, Mr. Zhao worked
at BK Foods (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (Z2 T B XY AR A F]) from
January 2010 to May 2011. Mr. Zhao served as the development
manager of Meixin Food (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. G2 BRI AR
2 A]) from May 2011 to January 2016 (“Meixin").

Mr. Zhao received a diploma in chrematistics from Urumgqi
Vocational University (&8 /KRB KE) in July 2001.

Mr. Zhao is the spouse of Ms. Peng Xin, our executive Director and
General Manager.
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Ms. Peng Xin (#1+), aged 35, has served as the director of
Shenzhen Pindao Management since our inception in May 2014
and a Director since September 2019. Ms. Peng was redesignated
as executive Director and appointed as our General Manager on
February 5, 2021. Ms. Peng co-founded our Group with Mr. Zhao in
May 2014 and is responsible for overseeing product development,
quality control and overall marketing strategy of our Group. Ms.
Peng has been acting as a director of Shanghai Chatian since
February 2023. Ms. Peng is also the director of Linxin Group and
Linxin Holdings.

Prior to founding Shenzhen Pindao Management, Ms. Peng
served as the deputy secretary general of Pearl Club of Kingdee
Software (China) Co., Ltd. (& {F (FE)BRAF]) from August
2010 to October 2012; as the director of Shenzhen Linxin Culture
Communication Co., Ltd. (RINTI ML XL EEEREEL A7) from
July 2018 (which has been voluntarily deregistered in July 2022) and
the director of Shenzhen Xinlin Culture Communication Co., Ltd.
CRINTI UM BB R B E A A from August 2017.

Ms. Peng received a bachelor’s degree in business management
from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (I FAEI A& KE2) in
July 2010. Ms. Peng currently holds directorships in the following
principal subsidiaries of our Group: Shenzhen Pindao Group,
Shenzhen Pindao Management and Shenzhen Pindao Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (FIIITh frB Rt fEEEIEFR A A]).

Ms. Peng is the spouse of Mr. Zhao Lin, our Chairman of the Board,
executive Director and Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Deng Bin (¥#), aged 41, was appointed as our Director
on June 9, 2020 and redesignated as our executive Director on
February 5, 2021. Mr. Deng joined our Group in August 2016 and
has served as our chief operation officer since January 2019. Mr.
Deng is responsible for overseeing operations of our Group.

Mr. Deng served as an operation officer of our Group from
August 2016 to December 2017 and he served as regional general
manager in charge of our South China businesses from January
2018 to December 2018. Mr. Deng has been acting as a director
of Shanghai Chatian since February 2023. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Deng served as senior division manager of Genki Sushi
Catering Service & Management (Shenzhen) Limited (JLRE /& &
RS EIR R AR AT from March 2009 to March 2016 and later,
an operation manager from April 2016 to June 2016.

Mr. Deng received a bachelor’'s degree in business management
from Yamanashi Gakuin University in March 2006.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Pan Pan (B%), aged 43, was appointed as our Director
on October 26, 2020 and redesignated as our non-executive
Director on February 5, 2021. Mr. Pan is responsible for providing
professional strategic advice to the Board.

Mr. Pan has been with Tiantu Capital Management Center LLP (i
IREEAREEFRL(BERER)), which is ultimately controlled by
Tiantu Capital Co., Ltd. (RIITTKBEIREE R KD BRAF]), since
March 2014 and he is currently a managing partner in charge of
the venture capital division. Mr. Pan has been the non-executive
director of Zhou Hei Ya International Holdings Company Limited
(B 2B IEM AR A R]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1458), since June 2016; and the director of Hunan
Chayue Cultural Industry Development Group Co., Ltd. (# B &
X bEFEREBEBR QA formerly known as Hunan Chayue
Catering Management Co., Ltd. (R R E R EEFR A 7)) since
February 2019; and the director of Shenzhen Pagoda Industrial
(Group) Corporation Limited (I B REEZ (SE)RHER DA,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2411) since
July 2015, and has been redesignated as non-excecutive director
since March 2020. Mr. Pan served as the director of TVZone Media
Co., Ltd. (FEREZEBFEHERMH AR A F]), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603721), from October 2013
to June 2021.

Mr. Pan obtained a bachelor’'s degree in finance from Hunan
University (#FK22) in June 2002 and a master's degree in finance
from Hunan University in December 2004.

Mr. Wong Tak-wai (Z&E&), aged 46, was appointed as our
Director on December 31, 2020 and redesignated as our non-
executive Director on February 5, 2021. Mr. Wong is responsible for
providing professional strategic advice to the Board.

Mr. Wong joined Pacific Alliance Group as an executive director
since March 2011 and has been a partner of Pacific Alliance Group
since April 2014. Before joining Pacific Alliance Group, Mr. Wong
served as a vice president of TPG Capital Ltd. (formerly known
as Newbridge Capital Limited) from 2006 to 2010. From 1999 to
2005, Mr. Wong served as a manager of the investment banking
department of Morgan Stanley.
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As a representative of Pacific Alliance Group, Mr. Wong is a board
member of various listed companies. He has been a non-executive
director of Mobvista Inc. (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1860) since February 2021 and a non-executive director
of Yingde Gases Group Company Limited (a company previously
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2168) since April 2017,
and he has been serving as the chairman of the board of AirPower
Technologies Limited after the integration of Yingde Gases and
Baosteel Gases. Mr. Wong also served as an independent director
of Tencent Music Entertainment Group, a company listed on
the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE Ticker: TME) and the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1698), from July 2016 to September 2020.

Mr. Wong received a bachelor’s degree in business administration
and a bachelor’s degree in Asian studies from University of
California, Berkeley in May 1999.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Qunsheng (BR&# %), aged 45, has been appointed as
our independent non-executive Director with effect from June 18,
2021. Mr. Chen is the member of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. Chen served as the executive director of Shui On Group
Shanghai Xintiandi Commercial Management Co., Ltd. and the
chairman of Fung Cheng Property Co., Ltd., both companies are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Shui On Land Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 272), from October 2017
to June 2020. Mr. Chen served as the deputy general manager
of strategic management department of China Resources Land
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1109), from June 2015 to December 2015, and the deputy general
manager of commercial property business division from January
2016 to September 2017.

Mr. Chen received a bachelor’s degree in economics from Wuhan
University (EVZEAZ2) in July 2000.
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Mr. Liu Yiwei (8/218), aged 51, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from June 18,
2021. Mr. Liu is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. Liu has served as the director and deputy general manager of
Shenzhen Yingtai Investment Management Co., Ltd. (R B FILE
EIRAH PR A A since January 2008 and the director of Langold Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (ABIE ZEMNBERAE]), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002305), from August 2014
to May 2022.

Mr. Liu received a diploma in labor and personnel major from
Communication University of China (FEI{EE K2, formerly known
as Beijing Coal Management Cadre College (3t /R BRI E
B)) in July 1991 and a master's degree in monetary banking from
Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (FElItt &
BB FEART) in April 1998.

Mr. Liu obtained the qualifications of Securities Practitioner (&%
A B) in June 2004 and Futures Practitioner (HIE# % AE) in
January 2003, respectively.

Ms. Zhang Rui (5&#), aged 60, has been appointed as
independent non-executive Director with effect from June 18, 2021.
Ms. Zhang is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

Since September 1984, Ms. Zhang has been working at Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics (LA & KRE, formerly
known as Jiangxi Institute of Finance and Economics (JLFEEf 4L
Bt)), where she successively served as a teacher in department of
finance and accounting, the head of the teaching and research
section for auditing of department of finance and accounting, a
deputy head of department of finance and accounting, the dean of
faculty of accounting and a director of research and development
center for accounting development.
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Ms. Zhang has been an independent director of Shenzhen Aisidi
Co., Ltd. (R EMRERMDERAF]), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002416), since October
2019. Ms. Zhang has been an independent non-executive director
of Jiangxi Bank Co., Ltd. (LARITAA BR A 7)), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1916), from March 2016 to
June 2022. Ms. Zhang served as an independent director of Jiangxi
Fushine Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (IFAEFEEERHBER AT, a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
300497), from March 2019 to March 2022. Ms. Zhang served as an
independent director of Changhong Huayi Compressor Co., Ltd.
(RITZESFRHE#KMHDER AT, a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 000404), from April 2016 to December
2021.

Ms. Zhang received a bachelor’'s degree in commercial finance
and accounting from Jiangxi Institute of Finance and Economics in
July 1984, a master’s degree in accounting from Jiangxi Institute
of Finance and Economics in July 1990 and a doctorate degree in
accounting from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (g
B BUERZ) in December 2001.

Ms. Zhang has been an expert entitled to special allowance granted
by the State Council since August 2005. She also obtained a
certificate of Star Teacher in Higher Education Institutions (=% %
REHEBZ AN ) issued by the Ministry of Education of the People's
Republic of China in September 2009. Ms. Zhang was accredited as
a professor by Jiangxi Title Reform Committee (T4 BiERE<E

¥ /\H) in March 1999.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhao Lin (##) is our Chief Executive Officer. See the
paragraph headed “Executive Directors” above for details of his
biography.

Ms. Peng Xin (1) is our General Manager. See the paragraph
headed “Executive Directors” above for details of her biography.

Mr. He Gang (filffll), aged 47, is our chief technology officer
and joined our Group in June 2020. Mr. He is responsible for the
digitalization strategy and overseeing management of information
technology of our Group.
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Prior to joining our Group, Mr. He served as the chief technology
officer of Luckin Coffee Inc., a company previously listed on the
NASDAQ (NASDAQ Ticker: LK), from September 2019 to April
2020; and vice president of JD.com, Inc., a company listed on the
NASDAQ (NASDAQ Ticker: JD) and the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 9618), from April 2012 to July 2019.

Mr. He received a bachelor’'s degree in theoretical physics from
University of Science and Technology of China (FEIRHZKE) in
July 1996 and master degrees in computer sciences and physics
from University of Wisconsin-Madison in December 1998.

Mr. Deng Bin (B#) is our chief operation officer. See the
paragraph headed “Executive Directors” above for details of his
biography.

Ms. Chen Shengyu (FREE$E), aged 45, is our senior human
resources director and joined our Group in September 2017. Ms.
Chen is responsible for the management of human resources and
administrative matters.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Chen served as human resources
director of Guangzhou Jiumaojiu Restaurant Management Co., Ltd.
(BMNNENEREEERAF]) from April 2014 to December 2016.
Ms. Chen served as a human resources supervisor of Guangdong
Sanyuan McDonald's Food Co., Ltd. (BER = TEELRMERE
f£2d]) from June 2004 to August 2009 and a human resources
manager from August 2009 to April 2014.

Ms. Chen received a diploma in economics from Guangdong
Ocean University (BBER/EF X2, formerly known as Zhanjiang
Ocean University (&) T/8FKXE)) in June 2000. Ms. Chen received
a bachelor’s degree in human resources from South China Normal
University ((EFSRM&IAZ3) through the completion of the adult
higher education program in January 2013.

Ms. Chen obtained the professional qualification of senior human
resources management specialist (A A ERE EAN) from the
Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC in
March 2018.
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Mr. Shen Hao (&), aged 34, is our co-chief financial officer,
general counsel and board secretary. Mr. Shen joined our Group
in July 2019 and is responsible for the capital market and legal
matters of our Group. Mr. Shen has been acting as a director of
Shanghai Chatian since February 2023.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Shen worked at SZ DJI Technology
Co., Ltd. (R KBEIF B AR A F]) from June 2013 to June
2019, where he served as legal manager and head of legal
department from June 2013 to June 2016 and the head of legal
department and corporate development department from July
2016 to June 2019. Mr. Shen also served as a director of Victor
Hasselblad AB from November 2017 to May 2019 and a director of
Koenigsegg AB from May 2017 to May 2019.

Mr. Shen received a bachelor’s degree in law from Shenzhen
University (FJIIKZ) in June 2010 and a master’s degree in
international economic law from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in November 2012.

Mr. Liang Feiyan (R M%), aged 40, is our co-chief financial officer
and joined our Group in October 2019. Mr. Liang is responsible
for overseeing financial operations and capital management of our
Group.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Liang worked at Meten Education
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (=Bt E ORI B A R]) from October 2011
to August 2019, where he lastly served as co-financial officer.

Mr. Liang received a bachelor's degree in accounting from
Shandong Agricultural University (LU Z 2 KE2) in July 2006.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Shi Chao (%) was appointed as one of our joint company
secretaries on February 5, 2021. Ms. Shi joined our Group in
January 2019 and has served as the deputy director of corporate
finance and legal department. Ms. Shi worked at Baoneng
Department Store Limited (BB EZTEHMR A 7)) from November
2017 to January 2019, where she lastly served as the senior legal
manager. Ms. Shi worked at Wal-Mart (China) Investment Co., Ltd.
(REIE (P B EBR AT from February 2014 to November 2017,
where she lastly served as the legal consultant.

Ms. Shi received a bachelor’s degree in law and economics from
Minzu University of China (FF R & AE2) in July 2007 and a master's
degree in economic law from Minzu University of China in July 2012.
Ms. Shi also received a postgraduate diploma in international and
European law from Université Jean Moulin Lyon 3 in March 2012.
Ms. Shi passed the National Judicial Examination (HZ a)/£E )
in the PRC and obtained her legal professional qualification in
March 2010. Ms. Shi also received the Certification of Fund Practice
Qualification (EEHEEKFEZE) from the Asset Management
Association of China (FEIFEHIEEE S EHE) in July 2017.

Ms. Ho Yin Kwan (f#3%¥), was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of our Company on June 22, 2022. Ms. Ho
is a Vice President of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong
Kong) Limited. She has over 20 years of professional experience
in corporate secretarial field and has been providing corporate
secretarial services to both listed and private companies
incorporated in Hong Kong and overseas. Ms. Ho holds a
bachelor’'s degree in business and finance from the University of
Portsmouth and a master’s degree in corporate governance from
the Open University of Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong
Metropolitan University). Ms. Ho is a member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in the
information of Directors and chief executives of the Company since
the publication of the interim report for the six months ended June
30, 2022 of the Company and up to the date of this annual report
are set out below:

With effect from May 17, 2022, Mr. Liu Yiwei ceased to be a director
of Langold Real Estate Co., Ltd. (FAEIE Z RN BRR A 7).

With effect from June 28, 2022, Ms. Zhang Rui ceased to be an
independent non-executive director of Jiangxi Bank Co., Ltd. (T 78
RITIRD AR A F).

With effect from March 28, 2022, Ms. Zhang Rui ceased to be an
independent director of Jiangxi Fushine Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

(IAEFEXRNERAT).

With effect form February 15, 2023, Mr. Zhao Lin, Ms. Peng Xin and
Mr. Deng Bin have been acting as a director of Shanghai Chatian.

Save as disclosed above in this annual report, there is no other
information required to be disclosed Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

GLOBAL OFFERING AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
September 5, 2019 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The Company'’s
Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on June 30, 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company of the Group.
The Group operate Nayuki teahouses, a leading premium modern
teahouse chain in China serving freshly-made tea drinks.

The activities and particulars of the Group and an analysis of the
Group's revenue and operating profit for the year by principal
activities are set out under the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. The
principal business activities of the subsidiaries of the Group are
set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

A review of the Group’s business, major risks, use of net proceeds
from the Global Offering, uncertainties faced by the Group, and
the future development of the Group's business could be found in
the sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
"Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report. The review
and discussion form part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS

The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2022 are set out on pages 108 to 232 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE
OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM,
to be held on Wednesday, June 21, 2023, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Friday, June 16, 2023 to
Wednesday, June 21, 2023 (both days inclusive) during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending the AGM, all share certificates with completed transfer
forms must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
June 15, 2023.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material incompliance with all
relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and
the environment. The Group has implemented environmental
protection measures and has also encouraged staff to be
environmental friendly at work by consuming the electricity
and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimize unnecessary waste. Discussion on the
key relationships with the Group’s major stakeholders, the Group's
environmental policy and performance as well as compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have significant impact
on the Group are set out in the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2022 (the "ESG Report”). The
ESG Report will be published separately on the websites of the
Company (www.naixuecha.com) and the HKEXnews' website
(www. hkexnews.hk)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out
in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2022, the aggregate amount of distributable
reserves of the Company, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law, amounted to RMB5,757,296,000 (as of December
31, 2021: RMB5,287,226,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors for the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Lin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Peng Xin
Mr. Deng Bin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Pan Pan
Mr. Wong Tak-wai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chen Qunsheng

Mr. Liu Yiwei

Ms. Zhang Rui
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as of the date of this annual report are set out under
the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with our Company with an initial term of three years
with effect from the date of the appointment, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other (subject always to re-
election as and when required under the Articles of Association).

Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a service contract/letter
of appointment with our Company. Each of our non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is appointed
with an initial term of three years commencing from February 5,
2021 or the date of Prospectus, respectively subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant services
contracts/letters of appointment. Under these service contracts/
letters of appointment, each of the independent non- executive
Directors will receive a Director’s annual remuneration of

HK$120,000.

Save as aforesaid, none of our Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with our Company or any members of our Group
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTOR'S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the material related party transactions as disclosed in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
and the connected transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” in this directors’ report, no Director
or any entity connected with them had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Company to which the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party for the
year ended December 31, 2022.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management receive compensation from
the Group in the form of fees, salaries, bonuses, contributions to
pension schemes, allowances and benefits in kind. The emoluments
of the Directors and senior management of the Group are decided
by the Board with reference to the recommendation given by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in Note 8 and
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

The emoluments before tax paid to the senior management of the
Company whose names are listed in this report are set out by band

EERSREEE M

EELREEEEEBAREESHFMOER
BEMAT  Fe o A4 RARSFHEIMK
RUELRBEYNGD - AREEERSREERE
MFHEEETE2EFMEBENERE - I
REBASENREEE  BEARREAL
MM I ERHERTE o

EEMeRAEELEESFHALOHNS
BRI A F AR B M SRR 8 S LS -

F IR AR E FH) AR A = AR E I BB A
MizEEE S HIBERINT -

as follows:
Number of senior
management for
the year ended
December 31,
2022
B ZE2022F
12B31BLEE
Band £iE HNEREEEAY
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/ 7T 1
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,0017% 7T 2= 2,000,000 7T 5
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 75 £ 2,500,0007% 7T 1

For the year ended December 31, 2022, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has
waived any emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2022.

BE2022F12A31BIEFE - AEB W E
) E (7] & =5 sk 217 1 & & = 5 B A 2= S AT A
& - ERMAZAE Bk hn A& B 12 7 52 E)
S EABEEEE - HIE20224 128318 1H4F
B UTEARESHECHNES -



Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, the
Group participates in a defined contribution basic pension
insurance in the social insurance system established and managed
by government organizations. The Group makes contributions to
basic pension insurance plans based on the applicable benchmarks
and rates stipulated by the government. The local government
authorities are responsible for the pension obligations payable
to the retired employees covered under the defined contribution
basic pension insurance. There are no forfeited contributions
for the defined contribution basic pension insurance in the PRC
social insurance system as the contributions are fully vested to the
employees upon payment to the scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately. There are no forfeited contributions for the the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes as the contributions are fully
vested to the employees upon payment to the scheme.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other payments have
been made or are payable, during the Reporting Period, by our
Group to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In respect of the non-compete undertaking (the “Non-compete
Undertaking”) made by each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin,
being the ultimate beneficiaries and holders of the voting rights
to the controlling interests of every other Controlling Shareholder,
the Company has reviewed the annual declaration from Mr. Zhao
Lin and Ms. Peng Xin on the compliance with the terms of the Non-
compete Undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the compliance with the Non-compete Undertaking
and are satisfied that Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin have complied
with the terms of the Non-compete Undertaking during the
Reporting Period.
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POSITIONS HELD BY DIRECTORS IN
SHAREHOLDERS AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period and as of the date of this annual
report, Mr. Pan Pan (&Z2) is a director of Hunan Chayue Cultural
Industry Development Group Co., Ltd. (Him It EXEREEE
BBR A7) (“Chayue”), a tea drinks provider in China. We are of the
view that the business of Chayue competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with our business.

As of the date of this annual report, Chayue is held as to
approximately 14.54% by Tiantu Dongfeng. As confirmed by Tiantu
Dongfeng, Mr. Pan represents Tiantu Dongfeng, which is entitled
to appoint a director to the board of Chayue due to its investment
in the company, on the board of Chayue. Mr. Pan’s role in Chayue
is non-executive in nature and he has not assumed any day-to-day
management responsibilities since the commencement of his term
of directorship at Chayue. Furthermore, Mr. Pan represents Tiantu
Entities on our Board and his role is also non-executive in nature.
He has not participated in our Group's day-to-day management
since joining our Group.

Furthermore, Chayue is a tea drinks provider operating mainly
in Changsha, Hunan Province, while our Group has an extensive
network of teahouses across China. In addition to geographical
coverage, the price ranges, store locations and product offerings of
our flagship premium modern teahouse brand Nayuki and Chayue
are different. We provide a wide variety of products including
handcrafted baked goods and other lifestyle products, while
Chayue's products are generally limited to tea products. As such,
our Directors are of the view that the competing interest disclosed
above is unlikely to give rise to any material conflict of interest.

EENBRREENBURESER
BEREHNES
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Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, none of the
Directors or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group, other than being a director of the Company and/or its
subsidiaries under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this report, to
the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors is a director
or employee of a company which has an interest in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in this annual
report, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had any
contract of significance with the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective subsidiaries, nor any contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by
a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries (as defined in
Appendix 16 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules).

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS AND THEIR PLEDGED
SHARES

As at December 31, 2022, to the best knowledge of the Company,
none of the controlling shareholders pledged their shares pursuant
to Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Our Group has entered into several connected transaction
agreements with certain connected persons of our Group as
described in the paragraphs below.
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Non-exempted Continuing Connected Transactions

Continuing
connected
transactions

RERERZ

Parties

HEY]

Term of
agreement Contents of transaction

iEE RHRE

R ERE

Pricing policies

EEBE

Packaging Materials
Sales Framework
Agreement

BEIHHEER
i

Our Company

and Zundao"

ARAREED

The term shall Our Company agreed to purchase
commencing tea cups and certain packaging
from the materials for our tea drinks (the
Listing Dateto ~ "Packaging Materials”) from
December 31, Zundao.

2023

EEREMANR ANAREREEREARRRANE

AT 2003512 TaEME(agns]) -
A3ALE

The assessment and selection of packaging materials suppliers

and the exact sales prices of the Packaging Materials under
any definitive individual sales contract shall be determined
taking into account a variety of factors on a case by case basis
with reference to the types, quality and specifications of the
Packaging Materials to be purchased. The Group only enter
into individual sales contracts with Zundao when purchase
prices are in line with the prevailing market prices and not less
favorable to us than what we are able to receive from other
comparable independent suppliers.

Negotiations between the parties of the Packaging Materials

Sales Framework Agreement are conducted on an arm's
length basis, taking into account factors including but not
limited to the comparison of quotations from Zundao and
those submitted by no less than two packaging material
suppliers who are Independent Third Parties, prevailing
market prices of open-market packaging raw materials,
quality of products, processing skills to meet our customized
specifications, capacity to meet our increasing demand of the
Packaging Materials, length of settlement period provided,
the logistics capacity of suppliers to deliver products to our
teahouses located around the country and prior cooperation
relationship.

BEMHHEBNTERERI RENSSREBHEQNNAEN
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Continuing
connected Term of
transactions Parties agreement Contents of transaction Pricing policies
HARERS HEY [iE R RENE EEBE
Delivery Platform Our Company The term shall Fucheng will provide management Service fees to be charged shall be determined based on
Management and Fucheng®  commencing and consultation services (the a percentage of the revenue generated through third-
and Consultation from the "Delivery Platform Consultation party delivery platforms and a percentage of the revenue
Service Agreement Listing Date o Services”) to our Group, including, generated from the Company's Weixin/WeChat and Alipay
December 31, among other things, (i) advising mini program facilitated and managed by Fucheng. The
2023 on the management of our abovementioned percentage is negotiated by the parties
merchant accounts on third-party after arm's length negotiations with reference to (i) the
delivery platforms, (ii) advising on nature, complexity and value of the Delivery Platform
the integration of our operating Consultation Services to be provided, and (ii) the prevailing
systems and such third-party market rate in respect of similar services and such percentage
delivery platforms, (iii) advising on is in line with the industry standard.
the operation of online deliveries of
our products through our Weixin/
WeChat and Alipay mini program,
and (i) compiling and analyzing
the relevant order reports.
HETEERR ARERERY  FHRLTRER BRRRASERMEERZARE  EAROREERRBRAE-NETELNUENAS LA
AR nE023%F12  (HEFARARE))  Ahafki)  BEGBNERHARDMERXNE MEFELNKENE
R31BIE HERAMES-ANETRLNE  OHET LEASLMEN2Z(RIRHMINETY & kR
PRPRILES : (MHBAAMNE  HEE BREENEER: ROEUREORTHEEGATY
1’?%%3‘@3@%7 NETERLE  hEKET MEBEAULNATRREAT -
# (m)ﬂﬁﬂ FRBMERINE )
BFEEAMERNERNERIE
& RGNS TR B8RS «
Notes: Mi&E -

M

Zundao is held as to 50% by Shenzhen Xinlin Culture Communication Co., Ltd. (&
T O AL EE AR E E AR, which is held as to 50% by Mr. Zhao and 50% by
Ms. Peng, each of whom is our executive Director and Controlling Shareholder,

respectively.

Fucheng is held as to 51% by Mr. Peng Zhen Yu

(IS, who is the brother of

Ms. Peng (our executive Director and Controlling Shareholder) and an executive
director of two of our Company’s subsidiaries, namely Shenzhen Pindao Food
Co., Ltd. (FYITfRERMAPRAF]) and Xiamen Naixue Catering Management
Co., Ltd. (EFITRSERERERAR).

@)
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Transaction caps and actual transaction amounts for
the Reporting Period

Actual transaction amounts and transaction caps of the above-
mentioned non-exempt continuing connected transactions for the
Reporting Period are as follows:

HEPENXS LR AR FEHE

5 HIRE LAt SEEA R i AR R
TRERS ERWAT ¢

EXHNERR

For the year ended
December 31, 2022
B Z2022F12A318LEE

Actual
Proposed transaction
annual caps amounts
BEXZLER BEEXZEH
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR
Packaging Materials Sales Framework BEMHHEERGZ
Agreement 95,000 8,976
Delivery Platform Management and INETABERREARS B
Consultation Service Agreement 9,600 9,461

The Company has followed the pricing policies as disclosed in
the Prospectus and this annual report in respect of the above
continuing connected transactions for the year ended December
31, 2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid non-exempt
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;
(i)  on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the
Company and Shareholders as a whole.

HE2022F12A31B IEFEE - ANA A FE Lt
BEREXSHEETHERERRANFERITE
B EEBHCR -

HE2022F12A31HILFE  BIYIFEHITE
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The Company’s auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board with
a copy to the Stock Exchange that:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Board;

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;
and

(i) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the above
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to their
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have exceeded the annual
cap as set by the Company.

Annual Report %% 2022 59

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

AARZEBMEZRIARESESSHMAE
B2 BB ZB L EAER 300057 (K85])
[[EL B 5 BRI B e AN 2 ZE T (E)
K2EZEETRIE7405: (BIEE]) [ B R & &
imiﬁﬁf/T#ﬁtFﬁ@ S S E AR ]
REBFERE EITRE ©

AR BB HEE S R (RFEIAE
gﬁ)&ﬁﬁ)qjﬁguu .

() ZEMITEIE
BENRERE

ZIEREESER/E
EXHRNEEEGHA

(i) BREMITEIEINENRESERR/E
HRENRHERER S ESEALEARR
BAEZERXZNHHET &

(i) MEAZSFHEREISINBESTMS
Vﬁﬁlﬂﬁsﬁﬁﬂ$ﬁéﬁﬁﬁa
WEANREBERINSEBAAR
FINHFEE LR



60 Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZZEHZIERER D7)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions carried out
in the normal course of business are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in the paragraph headed "Connected Transactions”
above, none of these related party transactions constitutes a
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and disclosed in this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or in existence as of the end of the
year or at any time during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares,
were entered into by the Company during the Reporting Period.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, we positively assume our social
responsibilities. During the Reporting Period, the Group made
various kinds of charitable donations amounted to approximately
RMB1.5 million in total.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding
during the Reporting Period.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Human resources are one of the valuable assets of the Group.
The Group intends to be an attractive employer for competent
employees. The objective of the Group’s human resource
management is to provide employees with competitive
remuneration packages and to promote career development and
progression of employees by appropriate training and providing
opportunities within the Group for career advancement. The Group
has also adopted Equity Inventive Plans to reward, motivate and
retain Directors and employees for contributions to the growth and
development of the Group.

We are committed to offer high-quality and healthy freshly-made
tea drinks and related products to our customers. A customer
service and customer complaint handling mechanism are in place
to collect, analyse and study complaints from customers and make
recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving quality of
our products and services.

We have developed long and good relationships with a number of
suppliers to maintain steady supplies of materials and outsourced
products. We carefully select our suppliers and require them
to satisfy certain criteria including track record, experience,
reputation, ability to produce high-quality products and quality
control effectiveness in order to ensure that our suppliers share our
commitments to quality and ethics.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan
or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the
Directors, senior management of the Company, the Controlling
Shareholders or their respective connected persons.
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FINANCIAL, BUSINESS AND FAMILY
RELATIONS AMONG DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of
directors and senior management” and “Corporate governance
report”, Directors are not related to one another with respect to

finance, business and family, or other material relations.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which he/she was taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,
were as follows:

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest

ESENUE  XBRBEEBRE

RIEERSRERENBEAE IR EXE
AME IFIREEIN B - FHRREX
HMEAREIH  EFMELERRE -

§$& RETHRABEREFHE

HZE2022%12A8318 » A RRIEZRERSIT
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Approximate
Number of percentage of the
Company'’s issued

share capital

Shares interested
in the Company""

REQARFEEEZN EXAFSBITRE
EERE B,/ EwEHYy BAEEM BABESE
Mr. Zhao Lin @@ Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 1,007,281,120 58.73%
corporation' interest of spouse
RS @ Enln  NXEABE ER  REEs
Ms. Peng Xin @3 Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 1,007,281,120 58.73%
corporation; interest of spouse;
executor or administrator
Zih e EnfEnm  MXEAR s
Il BITALBEA
Mr. Deng Bin © Beneficial interest 1,526,300 0.09%

G e

EmEn




Notes:
(1) All interests stated are long positions.

(2) Linxin Group, a company incorporated in the BVl on December 29, 2020, is a
holding company wholly-owned by Linxin International, a holding company
incorporated in the BVI, which is in turn wholly owned by Linxin Trust. Linxin Trust
is an irrevocable discretionary trust established in Guernsey on December 30,
2020, the beneficiary of which is Linxin Holdings, a holding company ultimately
controlled as to 50% by each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin, respectively. The
voting rights of the Shares held by Linxin Group are exercised by Mr. Zhao Lin
and Ms. Peng Xin, a married couple. Accordingly, each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms.
Peng Xin is deemed to be interested in the total number of Shares held by Linxin
Group.

(3) Ms. Peng Xin is the spouse of Mr. Zhao Lin and is therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Mr. Zhao Lin. Moreover, each of Mr. Zhao Lin
and Ms. Peng Xin has been granted Options with respect to 220,781 outstanding
Shares under the 2020 Share Option Plan.

(4)  Crystal Tide Profits Limited, a company incorporated under the Laws of the British
Virgin Islands, is a platform holding Shares for future benefit to employees,
advisors and consultants as the Board deems fit. As of December 31, 2022, Crystal
Tide Profits Limited was wholly-owned by Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited,
an independent third party who serves as trustee. The voting rights of the Shares
held by Crystal Tide Profits Limited were exercised by Ms. Peng Xin.

(5)  Mr. Deng Bin has been granted options with respect to 1,526,300 outstanding
Shares under the 2020 Share Option Plan.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, as of December 31, 2022, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company has any interests and/or short
positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN

SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2022 so far as is known to any Director or chief
executive of the Company, as recorded in the register of interest
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,

the following persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the

Company, had an interest of 5% or more in the Shares or underlying

Shares:

Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature of Interest

FTERRRBSFOER

HZE2022%128318 » BARREMESES
BETHABAM  FOARBRIBEESR
HEGPIFE3BEETIFENER S MR
8 WAL (BRARAZEZERRSTHRAE
SN R 19 S AR RERR (7 R B 5% S A ERE S ¢

Number of
Shares interested
in the Company""

Approximate
percentage of the
Company'’s issued

share capital

REQARFEEEZN EXAFRASBITRAR
BREREE B,/ REHEME BeEE™ BAES
Linxin Group @ Beneficial interest 977,344,414 56.98%
EmfEm
Linxin International @ Interest in controlled corporation 977,344,414 56.98%
REEEE 2 s
Cantrust (Far East) Limited @ Trustee 977,344,414 56.98%
A
Linxin Holdings @ Beneficiary of a trust 977,344,414 56.98%
MERR@ EEEmA
Forth Wisdom Limited @ Beneficial interest 90,013,558 5.25%
BafEm
Zedra Holdings (Cayman) Limited ® Interest in controlled corporation 90,013,558 5.25%
REEEE 2 s
Zedra Trust Company Trustee
(Cayman) Limited © ZEEA 90,013,558 5.25%
Ms. Nong Xiu Xia @ Interest jointly held with another person 90,013,558 5.25%
EFELLO HE—ZANTHRFE 2R
Ms. Zou Wei Wei @ Interest jointly held with another person 90,013,558 5.25%

ot to

BRE—AANTHRRARAE 2 #H
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Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature of Interest

Number of
Shares interested
in the Company™

Approximate
percentage of the
Company'’s issued

share capital

REQARFEEEZN EXAFSRITRER
REZRE B,/ REHEME RiEEM BaEIH
Shenzhen Tiantu Capital Interest in controlled corporation 190,184,497 11.09%
Management Center
(Limited Partnership)
(“Shenzhen Tiantu Capital”)
FYRBEAERPL(BREY) RIEEEzZER
(FRINKEEA )@
Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation 190,184,497 11.09%
(NEEQ stock code: 833979) @
Y AEREEERNAERAR RIEEEZ EE
(FT=IREH I - 833979)@
Mr. Wang Yong Hua Interest in controlled corporation 190,184,497 11.09%
EAE LD KRB
PAGAC Nebula Holdings Limited ©  Beneficial interest 90,622,345 5.28%
EmfEn
PAG Asia Ill LP © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%
REEE 2 s
PAG Asia Capital GP IIl Limited © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%
REEEE 2 s
PAG Capital Limited © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%
REEE 2 s
Mr. Shan Weijian © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%
BRERLE NS RN I T
Pacific Alliance Group Limited © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%
iR NI T
PAG © Interest in controlled corporation 90,622,345 5.28%

REAE 2 e
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Notes:

All interests stated are long positions.

Linxin Group, a company incorporated in the BVl on December 29, 2020, is a
holding company wholly-owned by Linxin International, a holding company
incorporated in the BVI, which is in turn wholly-owned by Linxin Trust. Linxin
Trust is an irrevocable discretionary trust established in Guernsey on December
30, 2020, the trustee of which is Cantrust (Far East) Limited, an independent
third party, and the beneficiary of which is Linxin Holdings, a holding company
ultimately controlled as to 50% by each of Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin,
respectively. The voting rights in the Company held by Linxin Group are
exercised by Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin, a married couple.

Forth Wisdom Limited, a company incorporated in BVI, is our Company'’s offshore
employee incentive platform for the Equity Incentive Plans. Forth Wisdom
Limited is wholly-owned by Zedra Holdings (Cayman) Limited. Zedra Holdings
(Cayman) Limited is wholly-owned by Zedra Trust Company (Cayman) Limited,
an independent third party who serves as trustee. The voting rights of the Shares
held by Forth Wisdom Limited are controlled jointly by Ms. Nong Xiuxia and
Ms. Zou Weiwei. Accordingly, Zedra Holdings (Cayman) Limited, Zedra Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited, Ms. Nong Xiuxia and Ms. Zou Weiwei are deemed to
be interested in all of the Shares held by Forth Wisdom Limited.

Tiantu Xingli, a limited partnership directly holding 66,670,287 Shares of our
Company, is directly owned as to 99.96% by Beijing Tiantu. Shenzhen Tiantu
Capital is the general partner of Tiantu Xingli. Accordingly, Beijing Tiantu and
Shenzhen Tiantu Capital are each deemed to have an interest in all of the Shares
held by Tiantu Xingli.

Chengdu Tiantu, a limited partnership directly holding 57,060,462 Shares of our
Company, is directly owned as to 46.67% by Shantou Dongfeng Printing Co., Ltd.
CLEBR R ENRIAR D BBR A F) (the Shanghai Stock Exchange stock code: 601515),
26.67% by Chengdu Tianfu Innovation Equity Investment Fund Centre (Limited
Partnership) (KX EP R FRIFTIREHR EE S H L (BRER)), 10.00% by Shenzhen
Yaoyin Information Advisory Partnership Enterprise (General Partnership) (&3
RREEEFZRAEGBREE(EBEE)), 5.00% by Mr. Yuan Jin Hua (= #8E), 5.00% by
Shenzhen Tiantu Capital, 3.33% by Shenzhen Iread Foundation (RIITTE A
£ &), and 3.33% by Shantou Dongfeng Consumer Goods Industry Co., Ltd.
CLUEERIEEE BEZEAMRAT]). Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is the general partner
of Chengdu Tiantu. Accordingly, Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is deemed to have an
interest in all of the Shares held by Chengdu Tiantu.

Tiantu Xingpeng, a limited partnership directly holding 33,227,189 Shares of
our Company, is directly owned as to 20.00% by Shenzhen Government Guiding
Fund-of-funds Co., Ltd. (R TS| EE LK E B R A Al), 18.05% by Shenzhen
Tiantu Xing An Investment Fund (Limited Partnership) (& 3Il X [B # 22 4% & 1b 2
(BERA%)), 10.53% by China Merchants Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd.
(BEESHBEEEEAFRAH), 10.00% by Shenzhen Fu Tian Government Guiding
Fund-of-funds Co., Ltd. (FIITTEHSIBESEEBR AR, 7.89% by Greatwall
Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (R AFRBIMDER AR, 7.52% by ICBC (Shenzhen)
Equity Investment Fund Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (L R ()%
W) BREREESEHRCE(BRER)), 7.52% by Xing Ye Wealth and Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (XM EEEEEBR R A), 4.51% by Qianhai Equity
Investment Fund (Limited Partnership) (RT/ERIEIRERE & (BREH)), 3.95% by
Wuxi Construction Finance Industry Co., Ltd. (5T EMEEER A A, 2.63%
by Shenzhen Tiantu Xingfu Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd. (“Tiantu
Xingfu”) ORYIKE E gk R & B R AR AR, 2.63% by Shenzhen Kun Peng
Equity Investment Co., Ltd. (7 JI| 77 8 5 A% /£ 1% & B R A A]), 2.50% by Bosera
Capital Management Co., Ltd. (BREREEBRAA) and 2.27% by Southern
Capital Management Co., Ltd. (B85 & A E B B R A 7). Tiantu Xingfu, which
is wholly-owned by Shenzhen Tiantu Capital, is the general partner of Tiantu
Xingpeng. Accordingly, Shenzhen Tiantu Capital and Tiantu Xingfu are deemed
to have an interest in all of the Shares held by Tiantu Xingpeng.

GEX

FRAFSIERE RITR -

Linxin Group * — X R 20205 12 A 29 B A H &
HRRBEEFMAILIH AT + B— KB Linxin
International 2 & # & M & I 2 A + i Linxin
International B — XN R BHB RASFMA LA
AR A &) 0 A Linxin Trust2 & %A © Linxin Trust
BR20205F12 A30B ERAS [ I H N A g2 %
25 - X A BIB L% = /5 Cantrust (Far East)
Limited » AR E R AR/MROIER - WO EERR
—RERDF - ABEMRETEREOZ T 5 BI&EKE
#150% © Linxin GroupFT§ZAN A RI1% 2 4E B ML &
REOLZETRETE -
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Tiantu Xingnan, a limited partnership directly holding 19,936,188 Shares of our
Company, is directly owned as to 39.50% by Shenzhen Tiantu Xing An Investment
Fund (Limited Partnership) (RYIKEREZRERE (BRERH) ), 25. OO% by Hubei
Chu Si Fang Da Investment Co., Ltd. ﬁﬂjt”mﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ , 25.00% by
Shenzhen Government Guiding Fund-of-funds Co., Ltd. ( Wm%\&rgﬁhﬁﬁ
R 2 @]), 10.00% by CMB Cigna Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (Tﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ/\#f% RERA
A]) and 0.50% by Shenzhen Tiantu Capital. Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is the general
partner of Tiantu Xingnan. Accordingly, Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is deemed to
have an interest in all of the Shares held by Tiantu Xingnan.

Tiantu Dongfeng, a limited partnership directly holding 13,290,371 Shares of
our Company, is directly owned as to 41.67% by Shenzhen Tiantu Dongfeng
Investment Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (RJIKERIEZEZFAR L (B
REF) ), 29.17% by Shenzhen Government Guiding Fund-of-funds Co., Ltd. (%
YITEIEELHZEBR AT, 16.67% by CICC Qi Yuan National Rising Industry
Entrepreneurship Investment Guiding Fund (Limited Partnership) (f&RTE X
MEEFAIZIEESIBES (BRAR) ), 11.67% by Shenzhen Qian Hai Industry
Guiding Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd. (RYITATGEZ S| EREREELH
fR A7) and 0.83% by Shenzhen Tiantu Capital. Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is the
general partner of Tiantu Dongfeng. Accordingly, Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is
deemed to have an interest in all of the Shares held by Tiantu Dongfeng.

Shenzhen Tiantu Capital is wholly-owned by Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd. (“Tian Tu
Capital”; NEEQ stock code: 833979). Accordingly, Tian Tu Capital is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by each of Tiantu Xingli, Chengdu Tiantu, Tiantu
Xingpeng, Tiantu Xingnan and Tiantu Dongfeng under the SFO. As such, Tian
Tu Capital and Shenzhen Tiantu Capital are each deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 190,184,497 Shares of our Company.

Mr. Wang Yong Hua directly holds 209,748,220 ordinary shares of Tian Tu Capital,
representing approximately 40.35% of the total number of issued shares of Tian
Tu Capital. Moreover, he is the general partner of Shenzhen Tian Tu Xing He
Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (RYIKBIEFIEE % (BRE%) )
and Shenzhen Tian Tu Xing Zhi Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (&Il
KEIFERERE (BRE%) ), each of which directly holds 8,750,000 ordinary
shares of Tian Tu Capital, representing approximately 1.68% of the total number
of issued shares of Tian Tu Capital. Hence, Mr. Wang Yong Hua is entitled to
exercise or control the exercise of approximately 43.71% of the voting power at
general meetings of Tian Tu Capital. Ms. Li Wen (¥3X) is the spouse of Mr. Wang
Yong Hua.

PAGAC Nebula Holdings Limited directly holds 90,622,345 Shares of our
Company. The entire share capital of PAGAC Nebula Holdings Limited is owned
by PAG Asia lll LP; PAG Asia Il LP is managed by PAG Asia Capital GP Ill Limited,
the entire share capital of which is wholly owned by PAG Capital Limited. PAG
Capital Limited is owned as to 100% by Pacific Alliance Group Limited, which is
in turn wholly-owned by PAG (formerly known as PAG Holdings Limited). PAG is
owned by Mr. Shan Weijian as to 35.21%. Accordingly, PAG Asia Il LP, PAG Asia
Capital GP Il Limited, PAG Capital Limited, Mr. Shan Weijian, Pacific Alliance
Group Limited and PAG (formerly known as PAG Holdings Limited) are deemed
to be interested in the total number of Shares held by PAGAC Nebula Holdings
Limited.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the

Directors, as of December 31, 2022, no person (other than the

Directors or chief executives of the Company) had registered an

interest or a short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the

Company as recorded in the register of interest required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

(6)
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EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS

We have adopted the Equity Incentive Plans, including the 2020
Share Option Plan and the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, by resolutions
in writing by the Board on May 15, 2020. Unless otherwise duly
approved by the Board, the total number of Shares underlying
the Equity Incentive Plans shall not exceed 126,262,308 Shares,
representing approximately 7.36% of total number of issued
Shares of our Company as at December 31, 2022. As at the date
of this report, the total number of Shares available under the
Equity Incentive Plans is 119,508,702, representing approximately
6.97% of the total issued Shares of the Company as at the date
of this report. These Shares are held by Forth Wisdom Limited
(holding 90,013,558 Shares) and Crystal Tide Profits Limited
(holding 29,495,144 Shares) and the Board has the discretion to
allocate these Shares to 2020 Share Option Plan and/or 2020
Share Incentive Plan. The Equity Incentive Plans are share schemes
involving the Company'’s existing Shares as the Shares underlying
the Equity Incentive Plans have been issued and allocated prior to
the Listing Date, and the Company will not issue any new Shares
upon the exercise of Options and/or awards granted under the
Equity Incentive Plans.

2020 Share Option Plan

The 2020 Share Option Plan was adopted to recognize and reward
the employees of the Group for their contribution to our Group,
to attract suitable personnel and to provide incentives to them
to remain with and further contribute to our Group. Our Board,
or a duly authorized committee of the Board, may grant awards
of Options to subscribe for Shares to those core personnel (other
than those in the IT division of our Group) that it determines to be
eligible participants at its sole discretion (the “Option Grantees”).
Unless otherwise set forth in the option award agreement between
the Company and Option Grantees (the “Option Agreement”),
Option Grantees are normally not required to pay any monetary
amount for the acceptance of the Options.

R B2
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As at December 31, 2022, other than 5,035,756 Shares issued to
Evermore Glory Limited upon the exercise of the Options by Mr. He
Gang, the Shares underlying the 2020 Share Option Plan were held
by Forth Wisdom Limited, which is indirectly wholly held by Zedra
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, an independent third party who
serves as trustee. If all the outstanding Options granted under the
2020 Share Option Plan are exercised, there will not be any dilution
effect on the shareholdings of our Shareholders nor any impact on
the earnings per Share arising from the exercise of the outstanding
Options since all the Shares underlying the 2020 Share Option
Plan are indirectly held by Zedra Trust Company (Cayman) Limited,
an independent third party who serves as trustee. Pursuant to the
2020 Share Option Plan, no Option shall be further granted to any
person such that the total number of Shares subject to the Options
and any other schemes over the Shares granted and to be granted
to such person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest
grant exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

As of December 31, 2022, Options granted to subscribe for
22,936,247 Shares were outstanding, representing approximately
1.34% of the total issued Shares of our Company. The 2020 Share
Option Plan will be valid and effective for a period of ten years,
commencing from May 15, 2020 (the “Option Scheme Period”),
unless terminated early by the Board. As of December 31, 2022,
the remaining Option Scheme Period was approximately seven
years and five months. Unless otherwise agreed in the Option
Agreement, Options granted pursuant to the 2020 Share Option
Plan shall be exercised by the Option Grantees within 10 years after
the grant of the corresponding Share Options.
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Pursuant to the terms of the 2020 Share Option Plan, such plan is
subject to the administration of a duly authorized committee of the
Board. As of December 31, 2022, such committee was consisted of
Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin. As of December 31, 2022, the voting
rights of the Shares held by Forth Wisdom Limited are controlled
jointly by Ms. Nong Xiuxia and Ms. Zou Weiwei.

As the Shares to be received by the Option Grantees under the
2020 Share Option Plan upon the exercise thereof are from the
transfer of existing Shares held by Forth Wisdom Limited, which is
a company incorporated in BVl and acts as the Company’s offshore
employee incentive shareholding platform, no new Shares of the
Company would be issued under the 2020 Share Option Plan.
Accordingly, the total number of issued Shares of the Company will
not be affected by the operation of the 2020 Share Option Plan.

During the Reporting Period, (i) no further Option under the 2020
Share Option Plan has been granted; (ii) Options representing
2,381,360 Shares were exercised; and (iii) Options representing
2,001,075 Shares were forfeited. As at December 31, 2022, Options
representing 8,521,662 Shares have been vested and exercisable
upon the satisfaction of the vesting conditions.

Details of the Options granted under the 2020 Share Option
Plan and the underlying Shares, as well as the movement of such
Options and Shares during the year ended December 31, 2022
were as follows:
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Changes during the year ended
December 31, 2022
BENNENANALEENRD
Approximate
percentage
Outstanding Outstanding of issued
Shares Shares Shares
underlying underlying underlying
the Options as the Options as the Options
at January 1, Options Options Options ~ at December 31, as at December
Name of Option Grantee  Date of Grant Exercise price 2022 granted exercised? forfeited 2022 Vesting period 31,2022
20228 0228 #2028
1918682 12831888 12831 RERE
RuBRER RERRERR EBGENR
BREARALZ i eE" BROEARE CREBBE EREBRE®  CRUBRR  RGEARG  BER it HER D
Directors
E
Mr. Zhao Lin QOctober 1, 2020 HKDO.81 20781 - - - 20781 OnJuly 31,2021 0.01%
il ANE0/18 0817 RUnFTA31R
Mr. Peng Xin October 1, 2000 HKDO 81 20781 - - - 20781 OnJuly 31, 2021 001%
gt A0F10A1R 081 RONETAYIA
Mr. Deng Bin July 31,200 HKDO 81 1,526,300 - - - 1526300 From July 31, 2021 to 009%
July 31,2026
Birs NNETRNA 0817 BNETANRE
AE1A3A
Connected persons of
the Company
KAANBEAL
Mr. Zhao Yinglong QOctober 1, 2020 HKDO.81 8,500 - - - 8500 FromJuly1, 202210 0.00050%
July 1, 205
BARit AWE0AIR 0817 BNDEIAIRE
A55TA1H
Mr. Peng Zhenyu October 1, 2020 HKDO81 6,000 - - - 6000 From July 1, 022t0 0.00035%
July 1, 205
PRTRE ANEI0A1E 0817 BAETRIRE
A5ETA1A
Other Option Grantees®  From July 31, 202010 HKDO81 25,336,320 - 2,381,360 2,001,075 2093885 From July 31, 2021 to 122%
October 1, 200 July 31,2026
ARERARAY BNNETANRE 0817 NNETANRE
010A1R ABETR3IA
Total 27,318,682 - 238130 2,001,075 293,47 1.34%

a
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Notes:

(1) The Exercise price was determined by the Board with reference to, among
other things, the roles and responsibilities of the relevant Option Grantees, the
contributions brought and to be brought by the relevant Option Grantees, and
the business performance and financial condition of the Group at the relevant
time.

(2) The Options were exercised by the Option Grantees during the period from
January 3, 2022 to December 30, 2022 at their respective exercise price. The
weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates on
which the Options were exercised was HKD6.26 per Share.

(3) All of the Option Grantees were employees of the Group, and none of them
were five highest-paid individuals for the year ended December 31, 2022.

(4) No Option has been cancelled and/or lapsed during the year ended December
31, 2022.

2020 Share Incentive Plan

The 2020 Share Incentive Plan was adopted to enable our Group
to reward the grantees (the “Share Award Grantees”) for their
services and contribution to the success of our Group, and to
provide incentives to them to further contribute to the Group. The
2020 Share Incentive Plan provides for awards of RSUs, restricted
shares, or other awards involving Shares or are valued in whole
or in part by reference to, or are otherwise based upon or settled
in, Shares, including unrestricted Shares, performance units,
share appreciation rights, dividend equivalents and convertible
debentures.

The Board may, at its discretion, invite any person belonging to any
of the following classes of eligible participants to take up an award:

(@) any full-time executives, officers, managers or employees
of our Group, or any entities designated by them, who had
attained the requisite seniority and performance grade and/or
targets as may be determined by the Board from time to time;

(b) any directors and supervisors (including non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of our
Group, or any entities designated by them; and

() any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
customers, suppliers, agents, business partners, joint venture
business partners, strategic partners, service providers
or other third parties who the Board considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed or will contribute to our Group.
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The 2020 Share Incentive Plan will be valid and effective for a
period of ten years, commencing from May 15, 2020 (the “Share
Award Period”), unless terminated early by the Board. As of
December 31, 2022, the remaining Share Award Period was
approximately seven years and five months. Unless otherwise set
forth in the share award agreement between the Company and
Share Award Grantees (the “Share Award Agreement”), Share
Award Grantees are normally not required to pay any monetary
amount for the acceptance of the awards under the 2020 Share
Inventive Plan. Awards granted pursuant to the 2020 Share
Incentive Plan shall be exercised by the Share Award Grantee
pursuant to the Share Award Agreement. Pursuant to the 2020
Share Incentive Plan, the number of Shares available for each
Share Award Grantees under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan shall
be determined by the Board subject to its discretion and shall
not exceed the total number of Shares available under the Equity
Incentive Plans.

During the Reporting Period, all awards granted under the 2020
Share Incentive Plan are RSUs. During the Reporting Period, (i)
RSUs representing 79,000 Shares has been granted under the 2020
Share Incentive Plan; (ii) RSUs representing 1,959,950 Shares have
been exercised; and (iii) RSUs representing 377,250 Shares have
been forfeited.

As of the date of this annual report, no further RSU under the 2020
Share Incentive Plan has been granted by the Company.
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Details of the RSUs granted under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan
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and the underlying Shares, as well as the movement of such RSUs
and Shares during the year ended December 31, 2022 were as

X R E E 2022612 A31 B IEFEERNE B

follows: BT
Changes during the year ended December 31, 2022
BENNENANALEENSS
Approximate
Outstanding Outstanding percentage of
Shares Shares issued Shares
underlying underlying underlying
the RSUs as the RSUs as at the RSUs as at
Name of Date of Exercise at January 1, RSUs RSUs RSUs  December31,  Vesting December 31,
Share Award Grantee Grant price @ 2022 granted @ exercised ¥ forfeited 2022 period 2022
#0228
#0228 20228 12R31R
1R184 12A3188 SRHRAEL
SRHRRERL SRARGEL LS
BERT  CRURRE  BOERRH  ERUSRH GEESH EARGMH
REZBARARS RliRg friE@w ERRE Rfgwo OETY ! Tkt BEE L HEV
Three Share Award Grantees From November 16, HKD13.26 1,886,000 - 108,000 - 1778000 From November 30, 0.10%
who are Five highest paid ~ 2020to N1to
individuals during the year ~ September 16, 2021 September 16,
ended December 31, 2022 2026
ZHEABEANENANE RUNFUAIGEE 13263 B202F11ANAE
LEENBLRREALEN  1E9A16A 206597168
FOELESIN
32 Share Award FromJune 1,200t0  From HKD2.24 to 4,525,300 79,000 1,851,950 377,250 2315100 From June 30, 2021 to 0.14%
Grantees August 12022 HKD19.80 August 1, 2027
RERHRRARAY BANFORIAE  24ERE BANF6ANAZ
A0EBR1R 198087 AEBR1R
Total 8,411,300 79,000 1959950 317250 4,153,100 0.24%
g
Notes: MizE

All of the Share Award Grantees were employees of the Group, and none
of them were Directors or five highest-paid individuals for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

The Exercise price was determined by the Board with reference to, among other
things, the roles and responsibilities of the relevant Share Award Grantees, the
contributions brought and to be brought by the relevant Share Award Grantees,
and the business performance and financial condition of the Group at the
relevant time.

RSUs representing 79,000 Shares granted during the Reporting Period were
granted to the Share Award Grantees on August 1, 2022. The weighted average
closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the RSUs
were granted was HKD5.53 per Share. The fair value of the Shares underlying
the RSUs granted within the Reporting Period was approximately RMB4.37 per
Share. Please refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report for details of the related accounting standard adopted by the
Group.
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(4) The RSUs were exercised by the Share Award Grantees during the period from
January 12, 2022 to December 14, 2022 at their respective exercise price. The
weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates on
which the RSUs were exercised was HKD6.34 per Share.

(5) No RSU has been cancelled and/or lapsed during the Reporting Period.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange granted to the Company, at the time of its
Listing, a waiver from strict compliance with Rule 8.08(1) of the
Listing Rules (the “Public Float Waiver”). Pursuant to the Public
Float Waiver, the Company’s minimum public float shall be the
higher of (i) 24.86% of the Company’s Shares upon completion of
the Global Offering (prior to any exercise of the Over-allotment
Option); and (ii) such percentage of Shares to be held by the
public immediately after the completion of the Global Offering
(as increased by the Shares to be issued upon any exercise of the
Over-allotment Option), provided that the higher of (i) and (ii)
above is below the minimum public float requirement of 25% under
Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the
section headed “Waivers from Strict Compliance with the Listing
Rules” in the Prospectus and the announcement dated April 6, 2022
of the Company. Based on the information that is publicly available
to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed amount of public float as
required by the Public Float Waiver as of the date of this annual
report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the Reporting Period, the Group's largest supplier accounted
for 4.41% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for 15.64% of the Group's total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five
largest suppliers or customers for the Reporting Period.
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As a retail-based teahouse network, our customer base is highly
diversified. Therefore, we were not subject to any material
concentration during the Reporting Period. For the Reporting
Period, revenue from our five largest customers accounted for less
than 1.0% of the Group's total revenue.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's
securities.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the Director’s and officer’s
liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the
Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Company recognizes the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as
well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as its own code to govern its corporate
governance practices.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with
the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other than
code provision C.2.1, which stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practice adopted by
the Company is set out under the section headed “"Corporate
Governance Report” in this annual report.
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AUDITOR ZEED

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the EER S ERM(MES) EEZAR
year ended December 31, 2022 have been audited by KPMG, EEEZE2022F 12831 HIEFEMNEE TS
certified public accountants. KPMG will retire and, being eligible, Hk - EFEESAMEBAMRE LA’
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their re- BRESEEE AHEEEEAKRARZ
appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the RN 2 RB N ERAFRE LIRE -
AGM.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS EsrE@ERER

During the Reporting Period, the Company is in compliance with RMEMRE » ARFEBTFHARABFERKN
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the SEMBREENER -
Company.

On behalf of the Board RREEZS
Zhao Lin iRy
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer EERRBEEHTE

Shenzhen, PRC, March 30, 2023 FREEYI - 202343 A30H
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance by focusing on principles
of integrity, accountability, transparency, independence,
responsibility and fairness. The Company has developed and
implemented sound corporate governance policies and measures,
and the Board is responsible for performing such corporate
governance duties. The Board will continue to review and monitor
the corporate governance of the Company, as well as various
internal policies and procedures, including but not limited to
those applicable to employees and Directors, with reference to the
Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements so
as to maintain a high standard of corporate governance of the
Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with
the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other than
code provision C.2.1, which stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. See “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” below for details.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

For the Reporting Period, the corporate governance structure of
the Company is set out as follows:
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CORPORATE CULTURE AND VISION

As a leading manager and operator of premium modern teahouse
brand in China, we establish a dual category model featured with
“tea drinks + European soft bread” in line with meeting two kinds
of pleasures by enjoying a nice cup of tea and a bite of European
soft bread, and are committed to becoming a global teahouse
brand loved by everyone, with creating and promoting the tea
culture to the world as our brand vision. We make high-quality,
healthy freshly-made tea drinks and build a lifestyle suitable for

modern people through tea drinks.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control
of the Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through
its committees, leads and provides direction to the management
by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems
are in place. The Board has general powers for the management
and is conducting the Company’s business. The day-to-day
operations and management are delegated by the Board to the
management of the Company, who will implement the strategy and
direction as determined by the Board.

All Directors shall at all times ensure that they carry out duties in
good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and
in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

The Board confirms that corporate governance shall be the joint
responsibility among Directors and the corporate governance
functions include:

()  to formulate and review the Company'’s policies and practice
in the aspect of compliance with laws and regulatory
requirements;

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;
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(iii) to formulate, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

(iv) to formulate and review the Company’s policies and practice
in corporate governance, and make recommendations and
report relevant matters to the Board,;

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and the disclosure in the corporate
governance report; and

(vi) to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
whistleblowing policy of the Company.

The Board has performed the functions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code during the Reporting Period.

Board Composition

The Board currently consists of eight Directors, namely Mr. Zhao
Lin (chairman of the Board), Ms. Peng Xin and Mr. Deng Bin as
executive Directors, Mr. Pan Pan and Mr. Wong Tak-wai as non-
executive Directors, and Mr. Chen Qunsheng, Mr. Liu Yiwei and Ms.
Zhang Rui as independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Zhao Lin is
the spouse of Ms. Peng Xin. Other than that, none of the Directors
or senior management has a relationship (including financial, family
or other substantial or related relationship) with each other. The
Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company.

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

Members of the Board come from different industry backgrounds
and have extensive experience in the food and beverage industry,
investment and finance, corporate management and financial
accounting.
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The Board has three executive Directors responsible for specific
management duties, representing 37.5% of the total number of
the Board members. This helps the Board to closely review and
monitor the management procedures of the Company. Mr. Zhao
Lin, the Chairman and Chief Executive Director, Ms. Peng Xin, the
General Manager and Mr. Deng Bin, have extensive experience in
the food and beverage industry and are responsible for business
management, formulating and implementing important strategies,
making day-to-day business decisions and coordinating overall
business operations.

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors,
representing 37.5% of the total number of the Board members.
The Company is of the view that the three independent non-
executive Directors have extensive experience in the industry or
financial matters and qualifications to perform their responsibilities.
The three independent non-executive Directors held office in
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Zhao Lin is
currently the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Zhao has served as a director of Shenzhen Pindao Management
from February 2017 to October 2020 and a Director of our
Company since June 2020. He is the founder of our Group and has
extensive experience in the business operations and management
of our Group. Our Directors believe that it is beneficial to the
business operations and management of the Group that Mr. Zhao
serves as both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
This structure will enable our Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and effectively. Our Directors consider that
the balance of power and authority will not be impaired due to
this arrangement. In addition, all major decisions are made in
consultation with members of the Board, including the relevant
Board committees, and three independent non-executive
Directors.

The Board will review the corporate governance structure and
practices from time to time and shall make necessary arrangement
when the Board considers appropriate.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors, representing at least one-third of
the Board, of whom Ms. Zhang Rui is the Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be
independent.

Board Independence Mechanism

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board
has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input from any Director are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an
objective and effective decision making:

1. Three out of eight Directors are independent non-executive
Directors, which meets the requirements of the Listing Rules
that the Board must have at least three independent non-
executive Directors and must appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the
Board.

2. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence of
a candidate who is nominated to be a new independent non-
executive Director and the contribution to the diversity of
the Board according to the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company from time to time before appointment and
also the continued independence of existing independent
non-executive Directors and their time commitments
annually. On an annual basis, all independent non-executive
Directors are required to confirm in writing their compliance
of independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of offices
held by them in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments.

3. External independent professional advice is available as and
when required by individual Directors.
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4. All Directors are encouraged to express freely their
independent views and constructive challenges during the
Board and/or board committee meetings.

5. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors.

6. A Director (including independent non-executive Director)
who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or other
proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any
Board resolution approving the same.

7.  The Chairman meets with independent non-executive
Directors annually without the presence of the executive
Directors and non-executive Directors.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

All Directors attended various trainings in the Reporting Period,
including trainings regarding the updating of the Listing Rules,
the responsibilities and continuous obligations of Directors and
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide. The
Company had arranged suitable trainings for all Directors in order
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of their
continuous professional development.
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Participation of
training types Training types

Name of Director EEHS SEMIZHER ZIER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhao Lin A A, B, C A. Training provided by
Ms. Peng Xin TR A B, C regulators
Mr. Deng Bin Bt e A, B, C A EEHREHEMNEI
Non-executive Directors FHITES B. Attending seminars/forums
Mr. Pan Pan ERSE A, B, C B. 2mifisde, wmiE
Mr. Wong Tak-wai mREBRE A B, C
C. Reading economic, financial

Independent non-executive BIYEHITES and business articles, as well

Directors as articles and information
Mr. Chen Qunsheng BREFAELA A, B, C related to the duties of
Mr. Liu Yiwei BEELRE A B, C a director and the Company
Ms. Zhang Rui sREs 2L A B C C HELE - UBEEEXE
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with our Company with an initial term of three years
with effect from the date of the appointment, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other (subject always to re-
election as and when required under the Articles of Association).

Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a service contract/letter
of appointment with our Company. Each of our non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is appointed
with an initial term of three years commencing from February
5, 2021, or the date of Prospectus, respectively, and subject to
termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant
service contracts/letters of appointment. Under these service
contracts/letters of appointment, each of the independent non-
executive Directors will receive a Director’s annual remuneration of

HK$120,000.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit
himself for re-election by the Shareholders at the first general
meeting of the Company after appointment and new Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit himself for re-
election by the Shareholders at the next following general meeting
of the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning
for Directors.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings
regularly which is at least four meetings per year and roughly
on a quarterly basis. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall
be delivered to all the Directors at least 14 days in advance with
the matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting.
For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally served. Agendas or relevant documents of the Board
or committee meetings shall be despatched to the Directors or
members of the committees at least 3 days prior to the convening
of the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the relevant documents and be adequately prepared for the
meetings. When Directors or committee members are unable
to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the chairperson prior to the meeting. The minutes are kept by
the joint company secretaries of the Company and the copies are
circulated to all Directors for reference and record purpose.

The Directors are free to express their views at the meetings.
Important decisions will only be made after due and careful
discussion at the Board meetings. The Directors confirm that they
have responsibility to act in the interests of the public and the
Company, particularly in the interests of minority Shareholders. In
the event of a conflict of interests between Shareholders’ interests
and any other interests, Shareholders’ interests shall prevail.

The minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings
thoroughly were recorded in detail and include all matters under
consideration and decisions made including any problems raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and
committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within
a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Directors are free to communicate with the secretary to the Board/
company secretary who is responsible for ensuring and advising
on compliance of all procedures in connection with the Board and
all applicable rules and regulations, and have a right to review the
minutes of the Board meetings and the committee meetings.
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During the Reporting Period, at the Board meetings and general

RBESHE SEEREFEEMKRRX

meeting, the attendance record of each Director are set out in the SHHBREFNTE :
table below:
Number of Number
Board Of which: of general
meetings attendance meeting(s)
Name of Director convened Attendance by proxy convened Attendance
B BEW
EHNESS BRZE BRAE
EEnE =1 H R REREE L= R E
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Zhao Lin 4 4 (0) 1 1
HERSEE
Ms. Peng Xin 4 4 (0) 1 1
LT
Mr. Deng Bin 4 4 (0) 1 1
il e
Non-executive Directors
FHITES
Mr. Pan Pan 4 4 (0) 1 0
B A
Mr. Wong Tak-wai 4 4 (0) 1 1
ERERE
Independent non-executive
Directors
BYFEHTES
Mr. Chen Qunsheng 4 4 (0) 1 1
PREFAE oA
Mr. Liu Yiwei 4 4 (0) 1 1
BNEREEE
Ms. Zhang Rui 4 4 (0) 1 1

SRS L
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At the Board meetings held in the Reporting Period, the Board
discussed a wide range of matters, including the Company’s
financial and operational performances, approved annual results
and interim results of the Company, business prospects and other
significant matters.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Each of the Board committees operates
under its terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists
of three members, namely Ms. Zhang Rui, Mr. Liu Yiwei and Mr.
Chen Qunsheng, all of them are independent non-executive
Directors. Ms. Zhang Rui, with appropriate accounting and financial
management expertise, has been appointed as the chairperson of
the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to manage relationship with the Company’s auditors, review
financial information of the Company and oversee the Company's
financial reporting system and internal control procedures. Details
of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee convened
two meetings. The attendance record of each member of the
committee is set out below:

HiF BRZEQRARMAREH -

®
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Of which:

Number of attendance

meetings Attendance by proxy

B

BRZERR

BERE H R E HE

Ms. Zhang Rui 2 2 (0)

Kbzt

Mr. Liu Yiwei 2 2 (0)
REEREEE

Mr. Chen Qunsheng 2 2 (0)
PREFAESLA

Major works performed by the Audit Committee during the
Reporting Period includes:

1. reviewed the Group's annual report and final results
announcement for the year ended December 31, 2021;

2. reviewed the Group’s interim report and interim results
announcement for the six months ended June 30, 2022;

3. assisted the Board in making independent assessment of the
effectiveness of the Group's financial reporting procedures and
internal control system;

4. supervised internal audit work of the Company;

5. provided opinions on the significant matters of the Company or
drew management’s attention to relevant risks; and

6. evaluated the performance of the Group's auditor.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination
Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Zhao Lin, an
executive Director, Mr. Chen Qunsheng and Mr. Liu Yiwei who
are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Zhao Lin has been
appointed as the chairperson of the Nomination Committee. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee include (i) reviewing
the structure, size and composition of our Board; and (ii) reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on appointment of
Directors and the management of the Board succession. Details of
the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee convened
one meeting. The attendance record of each member of the
committee is set out below:
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Of which:

Number of attendance

meetings Attendance by proxy

B

EBRZENRR

BRRE HERE HE

Mr. Zhao Lin 1 1 (0)

HEARSEAE

Mr. Chen Qunsheng 1 1 (0)
BREFAE S

Mr. Liu Yiwei 1 1 (0)
2NEREEE

Major works performed by the Nomination Committee during the
Reporting Period includes:

1. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and the board diversity policy of the Company;

2. made recommendations to the Board on the retirement and re-
election of Directors at the annual general meeting for the year
of 2022; and

3. assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
consists of three members, namely, Mr. Liu Yiwei, Mr. Chen
Qunsheng who are independent non-executive Directors and Mr.
Zhao Lin, an executive Director. Mr. Liu Yiwei is the chairperson of
the committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
include (i) making recommendations to the Board regarding the
Group's policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management and on
employee benefit arrangements; and (iii) to review and/or approve
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. Details of the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee R EEHE FWEETEER AT -
convened one meeting. The attendance record of each member of  ZE&@ &K EHEREEHIIMOT ¢
the committee is set out below:
Of which:
Number of attendance
meetings Attendance by proxy
g
ERSENRE
BRXRE R B i FE
Mr. Liu Yiwei 1 1 (0)
RREFEEAE
Mr. Chen Qunsheng 1 1 (0)
PR B A ST A
Mr. Zhao Lin 1 1 (0)
FEMR ST A

Major works performed by the Nomination Committee during the
Reporting Period includes:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy of the Group
and the remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management of the Company; and

2. made recommendations on the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in order to enhance the effectiveness of our
Board and to maintain high standard of corporate governance. The
Board Diversity Policy sets out the criteria in selecting candidates
to our Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to our Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing the diversity of the Board and monitoring and evaluating
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy from time to time
to ensure its continued effectiveness.

As at the date of this report, the following table and paragraph
illustrates the composition and diversity of the Board in terms of
three objective criteria, namely (i) gender, (ii) age group, and (iii)
industry and professional experience.

Gender
4 5
Male
B
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Female

pog:3

75%

Age Group
FHRAER

25%

31-40
312 405%
12.5%

41 -50
412508%
62.5%

51 - 60
512 605%
25%

Industry and professional experience

ITEREELR
Investment and
Food and beverage

'K RERDXER

corporate management

Accounting and
financial management

B RUBEE

37.5% 50%

12.5%



92 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 25 IR A R A 8

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
eREIHRE

The Board considers that the existing composition of the Board
is diversified, taking into account: (i) the business model of the
Group; (ii) the specific needs of the Group; (iii) the different
background of the Directors; and (iv) the Board already has two
female members. As of the end of 2022, the Group had a total of
7,757 full-time employees (including senior management of the
Company), of which female employees accounted for 53.4%.

With regards to gender diversity on the Board, the Company
recognises the particular importance of gender diversity and will
continue to promote gender diversity of the Board. To ensure
gender diversity of the Board in the long run, the Company will
identify and select several female individuals with a diverse range
of skills, experience and knowledge in different fields from time to
time, and maintain a list of such female individuals, which will be
reviewed by the Nomination Committee periodically. The Company
also intends to promote gender diversity when recruiting staff at
the mid to senior level so that the Company will have a pipeline of
female senior management and potential successors to the Board.
The Group plans to offer all-rounded trainings to female employees
whom we consider to have the suitable experience, skills and
knowledge of our operation and business, including but not limited
to, business operation, management, accounting and finance,
legal and compliance and research and development. The Group
is of the view that such strategy will offer chances for the Board to
identify capable female employees to be nominated as a member
of the Board in future.

NOMINATION POLICY

Nomination of executive Directors is mainly through the internal
selection and identification of the Group's staff who are familiar
with the industry in which the Group operates with extensive
management experiences; while nomination of non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) is based
on their independence, their experience in the industry in which the
Group operates and business management and their professional
expertise, and reference is also made to the requirements of the
laws and regulations in the jurisdiction where the Company is
listed, and the reasonableness of the structure and composition of
the Board when selecting eligible persons for Directors.
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Directors to be appointed and re-elected at the general meeting
shall be first considered by the Nomination Committee. A
recommendation from the committee would then be put forward
for the Board'’s decision. Once approved, the proposal will be put
forward to the general meeting. Subsequently, all those Directors
are subject to the shareholders’ approval for appointment or re-
election at the general meeting pursuant to the requirements of
the Articles of Association. In considering the new appointment
or re-election of Directors, the Nomination Committee shall make
its decision based on their attributes such as integrity, loyalty,
industry experience and professional expertise together with the
commitment to the Company, efficiency and effort to carry out their
duties.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, all of them have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Reporting Period, the fees paid/payable to KPMG for audit
services and non-audit services (tax services) are approximately
RMB2.9 million and RMBO0.04 million, respectively.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Lau Jeanie resigned as a joint company secretary of the
Company with effect from June 22, 2022. Ms. Ho Yin Kwan was
appointed in place of Ms. Lau Jeanie as one of the joint company
secretaries on June 22, 2022. Ms. Shi Chao remains as the other
joint company secretary of the Company.

Ms. Ho Yin Kwan serves as a Vice President of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. Ms. Shi Chao is the primary
contact of Ms. Ho Yin Kwan in the Company. The biographical
details of Ms. Shi Chao and Ms. Ho Yin Kwan are set out under
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. Each of Ms. Shi Chao and
Ms. Ho Yin Kwan participated in not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional trainings in 2022 in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the
Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with
the requirements under Rule 3.28 and Rule 8.17 of the Listing
Rules in relation to the qualifications of one of our joint company
secretaries, Ms. Shi Chao. Ms. Shi Chao will be assisted by Ms.
Ho Yin Kwan for a period commencing from the date of the
appointment of Ms. Ho Yin Kwan as a joint company secretary (i.e.
June 22, 2022) to June 29, 2024 (i.e. three years after the Listing
Date).

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flow during the Reporting Period. A statement from the auditor
about its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report”
in this annual report. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2022, the Directors of the Company
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimated that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to safeguard
the Group's assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management
systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control and
risk management systems in place are adequate. The Board has
also reviewed and recognized the effectiveness of such systems
for the Reporting Period. Such systems are designed to manage
and mitigate risks inherent in the Group's business faced by the
Group to an acceptable level, but not eliminating the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.
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The Company has established the Audit Committee to monitor the
implementation of risk management policies across the Company
on an ongoing basis to ensure that the internal control system is
effective in identifying, managing and mitigating risks involved in
our business operations. The Company also maintains an internal
control team, which is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness
of internal controls and reporting to the Audit Committee on any
issues identified. The internal control team members hold meetings
from time to time to discuss any internal control issues we face
and the corresponding measures required to be implemented
to resolve such issues. The internal control team reports to the
Audit Committee to ensure that any major issues identified thus
are channeled to the committee on a timely basis. The Audit
Committee then discusses the issues and reports to the board of
directors, as necessary.
The Audit Committee, internal control team and senior
management together monitor the implementation of our risk
management policies on an ongoing basis to ensure that our
policies and implementation are effective and sufficient.

The Board reviews the Group's risk management and internal
control systems at least on a yearly basis. Based on its latest review,
the Board considers that the Group's risk management and internal
control systems are adequate and effective for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Internal policies are also put in place to ensure that inside
information is adequately controlled. To ensure the confidentiality
and the timely disclosure of inside information, all employees
are provided with learning materials and guidelines regarding
the handling and dissemination of inside information on a yearly
basis. IT system controls are implemented to ensure the access to
sensitive data is restricted to authorized personnel only.

Business Risk Management

The Group faces business risks including but not limited to
reputation risks, market risks, food safety risks, corporate
responsibility and sustainability risks. The Board meets regularly
and reviews the expansion strategies, business plan, financial
results, and key performance indicators of the Group to ensure that
the business risks are controlled and managed, and potential risks
can be identified.
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Financial Risk Management

The Group has adopted financial risk management policies to
control the Group's financial risk exposure, such as taxation risks,
currency risks and financial reporting risks. Also, the Board from
time to time, monitors the financial results and key operating
statistics with the assistance of the Group’s internal financial
reporting department.

Human Resource Risk Management

We provide regular and specialized training tailored to the needs
of our employees in different departments. We have in place
multiple employee policies, including an employee handbook
and the code of business conduct, approved by our management
and distributed to all our employees, which contains internal rules
and guidelines regarding best commercial practice, work ethics,
fraud prevention mechanisms, negligence and corruption. We also
have in place an anti-corruption policy to safeguard against any
corruption within our Company.

Information Risk Management and Data Protection

Sufficient maintenance, storage and protection of user data and
other related information is critical to our business operation. We
have implemented relevant internal procedures and controls to
ensure that user data is protected, and that leakage and loss of
such data is avoided.

Legal and Compliance

We have designed and adopted strict internal procedures to
ensure the compliance of our business operations with the relevant
rules and regulations and provide related special training to our
employees. We continually review the implementation of our risk
management policies and measures to ensure that our policies and
implementation are effective and sufficient.

Inside Information

Internal policies are put in place to ensure that inside information
is adequately controlled. To ensure the confidentiality and the
timely disclosure of inside information, all employees are provided
with learning materials and guidelines regarding the handling and
dissemination of inside information on a yearly basis. IT system
controls are implemented to ensure the access to sensitive data is
restricted to authorized personnel only.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to Articles of Association and all applicable laws and
regulations, the Company in general meeting may declare
dividends in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the
amount recommended by the Board. Any dividends the Company
pays will be determined by the Board, taking into account factors
including the Company'’s actual and expected results of operations,
cash flow and financial position, general business conditions and
business strategies, expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans, legal, regulatory and other contractual
restrictions, and other factors that the Board deems to be
appropriate.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Memorandum and Articles of Association was conditionally
adopted by the Board on June 9, 2021 and became effective
on the Listing Date. A copy of the Memorandum and Articles
of Association is available on the website of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. During the Reporting Period, there was no
significant change in constitutional documents of the Company.

The Board proposed to amend the Memorandum and Articles
of Association to conform with the core shareholder protection
standards set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules on March
30, 2023. A circular containing, among other things, details of
the proposed amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association, will be despatched to the Shareholders in due course.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.
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Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, as of the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The Company regard the annual general meeting as an
important event as it provides an important opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the Company’s
Shareholders. All the Directors and senior management of the
Company shall try their best to attend the meetings. External
auditors present at the meeting are also obliged to answer
Shareholders’ queries. All Shareholders will be given at least
21 days' notice of the annual general meeting and are invited
to attend the annual general meeting and other Shareholders’
meetings.

Putting forward proposals at general meeting

There are no provisions under the Articles of Association regarding
procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as Director.
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene
an extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such
written requisition.

Investor Relations

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining
effective communication with the Shareholders and ensures the
Shareholders and the investors are provided with ready, equal
and timely access to current and relevant information about the
Company. The Company ensures that all material information is
disclosed on a comprehensive, accurate and timely basis on the
websites of Stock Exchange and the Company, so as to enable
the Shareholders to make informed decisions in respect of their
investment in the Company.
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The Group Shareholders communication channels primarily
including (i) publication of financial reports, announcements,
circulars and press releases; (ii) shareholders’ meetings; (iii)
websites of the Company and HKEXnews; and (iv) analyst briefings,
conferences and roadshows.

The investor relations team of the Company is responsible for
information disclosure of the Company. The Company had
formulated information disclosure management system and
the system for the investor relations management to ensure
information disclosure on an open, fair and impartial basis.
Investors and the public are welcome to visit the “Investors”
section on the Company’s website (www.naixuecha.com) for the
latest news and announcements. Information about the latest
business development and news of the Company are also available
to Shareholders on the website.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address: Zone F, 2F, Building 3, Huangguan Science Park,
Chegongmiao Industrial Zone, Futian District,
Shenzhen, PRC

Attention: Investor Relations Team

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. The Company will arrange designated persons to
respond to the relevant written enquiries in a timely manner.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered the
various existing channels of communication and the feedbacks
from the Shareholders and investors, the Board considers that
the Shareholders’ communication policy has been properly
implemented and effective during the Reporting Period.
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KPMG

Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of Nayuki Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Nayuki Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
("the Group”) set out on pages 108 to 232, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at December 31, 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on this matter.
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Assessment of impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets

MERRBUREREEERENG

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k)(ii) from page

136 to 137.

ERARAR A B IR R AT 11 R E 136 137 B BIAT i 2(k)(i) P By & 55 ©

The Key Audit Matter
HAEETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESNAEEZEE

Local economic conditions and higher levels of
competition from other industry competitors have
impacted the performance of some of the Group's
teahouses. As a result, there is a risk that the carrying
amount of property and equipment and right-of-
use assets in certain teahouses may not be fully
recoverable. As at December 31, 2022, property
and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group
were RMB1,024,087,000 and RMB1,273,285,000,
respectively.

R EBERA R EMITERFHFERaNRFREETE
EEBETRKENKRE - At FESE TRKEN
MERZBALERAEEENREETRBEETHK
Bl #) E R o 72022F 128318 - EEEYE RRE A
REREEED R R ARY1,024,087,000T K AR
1,273,285,0007T °

The Group’s management reviews the performance
of individual teahouses at the end of each reporting
period to identify if any teahouse experienced
operational difficulties and suffered from prolonged
negative financial performance indicators which could
indicate potential impairment.

EEEERENSREHAREHNSEAXRKENHRE - U
Bl A ] 4% 8K TH B 45 & TR B 2 17 7E 7 Be U B
ERENRAEMBEREER -

Our audit procedures to assess the potential
impairment of property and equipment and right-of-
use assets included the following:

BT EDERREAREREEEEERENS
BFeEATRET

e understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
impairment assessment;

TR R EHERE R P B R A FIE IR ET RTTE
oL

e evaluating management'’s identification of CGUs
and allocation of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets to each CGU with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
2RBPTEHERNRE  FLEREHREELE
BRI MR R S ELEBUNY R MR EARER
BEEMNDR

e evaluating management'’s identification of
impairment indicators with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
2RBT G EANR TN EEEBREERNR
ol
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MRRREUARERAEEER B

Assessment of impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets

136 to 137.
BRI S BEHRME 11 RE136E

137 B B9ftaE2(k) i) P By &

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k)(ii) from page

AR

The Key Audit Matter
HARETTER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETOMEEZSE

Each of the teahouses of the Group is identified
as a cash generating unit ("CGU"). The Group's
management determine the recoverable amount of
each teahouse with impairment indicators based on
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-
in-use. Based on the assessment of the recoverable
amounts, the Group recognized an accumulated
impairment loss of RMB15,967,000 as at December 31,
2022 and an impairment loss of RMB16,891,000 for the
year then ended.
EXENEARKEEZNNA—EAReELEG([Re
EEEN])  BEEEEEERBAABEREZREEKA
LEREEMETRSSE  WETESREREDNREK
EOANE e o RIBHATKRESENTH  EEER
2022F 12 A 31 B #ER R 5 R EE B A K% 15,967,000
UL BN EZ A I FE R EEE AR 16,891,0007T °

assessing the methodology adopted by
management in its preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

S2RBITGTLERNRTE - AEERBRREFTHEE
EmETRAFATERANITE

comparing the key assumptions included in the
discounted cash flows forecasts prepared by
management in the prior year with the current
year's performance to assess the accuracy of
the prior year's forecast, making enquiries of
management as to the reasons for any significant
variations identified and whether these had been
considered in the current year’s discounted cash
flow forecasts and considering if there was any
indication of management bias;

REREER LFEREFTBARSABATAESHE
RRRERFHRAAETHR - AHE L FEFRRIE
HEREN ]IﬁE.EEJEu’ﬁjFEJﬁﬁE%w”:UE’]EHEK'mﬂ:E’JJ?
HUAMEREERAFERRBERBATRERE
BEANNERREFEEMAE i@l‘ﬁﬁﬂ’]ﬁﬂ%




Annual Report £%§ 2022 103

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B X BEH R

Assessment of impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets

MRRREUARERAEEER B

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k)(ii) from page

136 to 137.

B 2R E TS A N G 11 R E 136 F 137 B BIM i 2(k)(il) P B 2 51 IBUE

The Key Audit Matter
HARETTER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANETOMEEZSE

The value-in-use model used to assess the recoverable
amount of each CGU with impairment indicators
involves significant management estimation and
judgement, in particular in determining the key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts,
including future revenue, cost of materials, staff costs
and the discount rate applied.
ARFEEFARETRONREEEEML ARG SRR
EREBERAESREANBEEE M RAE  LHEE
BERERERATAERBNBARRERR  BEREKK
7@ MR - BIRANPEREHFTEE -

We identified the impairment of property and
equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit
matter in view of the significance of their balances in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2022 and the significant management
estimation and judgement involved in determining the
recoverable amount of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets.
ERMRRBZEAREREEEREE2022F12A318
NEAMBRARTHRENERMEAREETE R A O
TERIREANEEE MG MAE - BASYERR
AR EREEERERN S —BEREFEE -

evaluating the key assumptions adopted by
management in the discounted cash flow forecasts
by comparing the significant inputs, which
included future revenue, cost of materials and
staff costs with the historical performance of the
relevant teahouses, management'’s budgets and
plans for the operations in 2023 and beyond, and
available industry statistics;

FBRIERERBARE (EPBEARKEE - MRK
AREBIRA) BEEBRRENBEEE - 2023F
REBNEEELEREMNT B A KA ARTTER
g SMEEREAETRE SRR AN ARRE

i
ﬂx’

assessing the discount rates used in the cash
flow forecasts by benchmarking against other
companies in the same industry;
FHREMRTTEAE MR RBETHRIAT HER2RE
Al P E AT X

performing a sensitivity analysis of key
assumptions in the discounted cash flow forecasts
and considering the resulting impact on the
impairment charge for the year and whether there
were any indicators of management bias; and
HTRBESRERATOARBRETHRES T
YEBEHFEREEAMELNTZEREEFAL
MERERENTR : &

assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

2RB[ITEHERNRE - HEFE M B HRR D HE
MEEM -




104  Nayuki Holdings Limited - Zx5 &5 ERE R A

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B X BEH R

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

Kr e B RS R AR B R LA SN
Er

EERHHMENER - A EHN BT
REBANZEHER - ETBREEE B R
KRR BEN RS o

BPYGAMBERERNELEL TRERME
B BRIA T HZEEMERBERTMEA
MEEE AW

BABMEEEMBHRERNET - BANE
TRHEEEMEFR @ FUERET  ZEHEM
EREDRGEMBRRAIEMESTBE
PHTRNBERATEERAEBEREUTFE
EXBRRAABER

ERBMACHITHITIE » MRKEFIRSEM
ERFAESEAMERRL  RAFTEREZSE
BomaEhm RVEBERRE -

EENEAMBRRAAENEL

EEAERREEE G IDERIE ER R
(BRSBTS £ R R B8 (A 71
BESRBERMRSNEAMEEE
HH 2R AR A B R R T 1 i
HOHET 5 4858 028 B B K B2 SR BRI BT B
PORBEE I B o

ERBGEaMBRERE EFAETHES
BREQLENRES  YEERBN TRER
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

1L 1% BEH 3R

LG E TR B M REAENR
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fong Kwin.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 30, 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FEeiRaR

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5T AR¥T R ARETT
Revenue Weas 4 4,291,586 4,296,618
Other income HAb A 5 124,950 27,339
Cost of materials IR =gD N (1,416,094) (1,400,674)
Staff costs 8 TRk 6(b) (1,362,115) (1,424,358)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 6(d) (434,930) (420,272)
Other rentals and related expenses HifH4e REERX 6(d) (228,962) (212,996)
Depreciation and amortization E B ERITE R
of other assets 6(d) (263,183) (204,026)
Advertising and promotion expenses  JB&E MHEER X (142,933) (111,592)
Delivery service fees Aok AR 7% & (380,520) (258,976)
Utilities expenses IKEFRL (113,556) (90,750)
Logistic and storage fees MRk ERE (123,112) (90,502)
Other expenses Hihp X 6(c) (249,578) (176,325)
Other net losses H &858 6(e) (130,865) (38,746)
Finance costs R & A 6(a) (80,326) (91,547)
Share of losses of associates E{gﬁﬁﬁg—:ﬁ FEE 14 (1,288) -
Fair value changes of financial assets ~ MAARBEFTE B HZEB)TA
at fair value through profit or loss EHBEE(UAREEFE
(“FVTPL") BHEHFAZHER DK
CREENARBEZS) (2,603) 7,560
Fair value changes of financial LARBEFEAEEFHTA
liabilities at FVTPL EHBESHNESREENAR
BEs (2,989) (11,330)
Fair value changes of convertible AJ 884 ] B [ {8 SR AR Y
redeemable preferred shares ANhBEES = (4,329,052)
Loss before taxation MR ATEE 1) (516,518) (4,529,629)
Income tax 5% 7(a) 40,712 4,105
Loss for the year FAEBR (475,806) (4,525,524)
Attributable to: AR & E fEfh -
Equity shareholders of the Company AT REZS IR (469,327) (4,524,5006)
Non-controlling interests Bl npigs s (6,479) (1,018)
Loss for the year FREE (475,806) (4,525,524)
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted (RMB) EXREE(ARE) 10 (0.27) (3.28)

The notes on pages 116 to 232 form part of these financial
statements. There are no dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the Company attributable to the profit for the year as disclosed

in note 28(d).

FN6AE22AMNM TR AR B REKRN —

R o F AN FE28(d

VTR - BIEEMAR

Al IR B s M B A B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RARaRAMZAKEE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AAR#EFIR)

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTFR ARBT T

Loss for the year FREE (475,806) (4,525,524)

Other comprehensive income for FREMEZEEKE
the year (after tax and (B REEH D ERER)

reclassification adjustments)

Item that will not be reclassified to TEEHIEE
profit or loss: Bama)HEE -
Currency translation differences BEHE R EHE 281,025 -
Item that may be reclassified A& [t EF D IHE
subsequently to profit or loss: EAIIER -
Currency translation differences EHEN =5 1,110 (40,44¢)

Total comprehensive income for FREEWNEHETE

the year (193,671) (4,565,970)
Attributable to: U B IE e,
Equity shareholders of the Company RN T REZSIRER (187,192) (4,564,952)
Non-controlling interests FEfE R (6,479) (1,018)

Total comprehensive income for FARAEHEWELLE
the year (193,671) (4,565,970)

The notes on pages 116 to 232 form part of these financial F16EFE22B MM BRI IS MK —
statements. o o



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MEikAR

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)
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December 31,

December 31,

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
12A31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment LIEYSE 11 1,024,087 801,363
Right-of-use assets FREEE M 1,273,285 1,313,334
Intangible assets EEEE 12 290 457
Interests in associates REE QRN E 14 24,292 =
Deferred tax assets EIETR B E 26(b) 81,464 44,238
Rental deposits HEZES 163,930 159,755
Other non-current assets HiIERe&EE 15 402,673 338,383
2,970,021 2,657,530
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL UArEBEFT=EEZHTA
ERBENEREE 16 159,597 46,200
Inventories =& 17 126,284 174,089
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b W sk IE 18 284,901 176,963
Prepayments FE A FhIE 18 91,561 169,109
Restricted bank deposits TR &SR 1T 19 995 51,749
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEED 19 1,387,495 4,052,806
Term deposits TEHITE X 20 1,818,846 =
Other current assets HimEEE 15 100,000 =
3,969,679 4,670,916
Current liabilities nEBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E b e 518 21 478,514 654,208
Contract liabilities EHEE 22 217,667 218,054
Bank loans BITER - 428
Financial liabilities at FVTPL I ARBETEEEZESTA
EHERNeRARE 23 3,121 8,376
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 472,805 421,153
Provisions B 25 1,282 —
Current taxation BNEAR 1A 26 29,180 27,951
1,202,569 1,330,170
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MEikAR

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AAR#EFIR)

December 31,

December 31,

2022 2021

20224 20214

12A31H 12H31H

Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000

B ARET T ARET T

Net current assets REEE R 2,767,110 3,340,746

Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBAR 5,737,131 5,998,276
Non-current liabilities ERBEE

Lease liabilities HEBE 24 949,493 1,031,885

Provisions B 25 20,634 17,934

Deferred tax liabilities EETRIBEE 26(b) 1,420 5,027

971,547 1,054,846

NET ASSETS EEFH 4,765,584 4,943,430
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXLN#E

Share capital N 28 558 558

Reserves HiE 4,771,173 4,943,890

Total equity attributable to equity ZANATEZRREGESLE

shareholders of the Company 4,771,731 4,944,448

Non-controlling interests TR ES (6,147) (1,018)

TOTAL EQUITY TR AAEE 4,765,584 4,943,430

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on

March 30, 2023.

Zhao Lin
i

Chairman of the board

BER

The notes on pages 116 to 232 form part of these financial

statements.

Peng Xin
200
Executive Director

HITEF

EFEMN2023F3 A30R #E R TIE -

6B E232 B MM FERE AN B H5 R A —
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeEEnE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders

RERRER
Share-based Non-
Share Share Other  payments  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
HRAE
-4

B&  REE  EtEE  XHBR  EXGE  2iEE gt FERER SRR
Notes RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Wi ARRTR  ARMTR  ARWTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARBTn  ARETR

note 28(a) note 28(c)(i) note 28(c)(ii) note 28(c)(ii) note 28(c)(iv) note 28(c)(i)
Kitos(a) W28 MEE28(c)i)  KE28(c))  MEE28(c)(v) HHi28(c)(i
Balance at January 1, 2022 R202251 A1 B ek 558 9,826,225 (5,087) 31,101 (36,065)  (4,872,284) 4,944,448 (1,018) 4,943,430
Changes in equity for 2022: 02FHWEERD :
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (469,327)  (469,327) (6,479)  (475,806)
Other comprehensive income Hih2ENES - - - - 282,135 - 282,135 - 282,135
Total comprehensive income Bt - - - - 282135 (469,327)  (187,192) (6,479)  (193,671)

Capital injection from non-controlling

interests of a subsidlary - - - - - - - 1,350 1,350
Equity-settled share-based transactions 2 - - - 14,475 o o 14,475 o 14,475
RSUs vested - 8,054 - (8,054) - o o - -
Share options exercised - 7,989 - (7,989) - o > - -

Balance at December 31, 2022 R2022F12531AIGE 558 9,842,268 (5,087) 29,533 246,070 (5,341,611) 4,771,731 (6,147) 4,765,584
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
=g k=3 ] ) ES

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAREFIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders

BRRREE
Share-based Non- Total
Share Share Other  payments  Exchange Accumulated controlling (deficit)/
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
WA
2R &3t

BE BhEE  AbEE  HEE  EXER  ZirER g EBER (BR)/EE
Notes ~ RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RVWBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOD
Wi ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR

note 28(a)  note 28(c)(i)  note 28(c)(ii) note 28(c)(ii)  note 28(c)(iv) note 28(c)(i)
W) BRSO MG MRS KR8 HrEE28(c)()
Balance at January 1, 2021 RONE1A1B 258 v (86,710) (5,087) 10,355 4,381 (347,778) (d24.417) - (424.417)
Changes in equity for 2021: 021 FHRERD
Loss for the year EREE = - - - - (A524,508)  (4,524,506) (1018) (4,525,524
Other comprehensive income ke - - - - (40,446) - (40,44¢) - (40,446)
Total comprehensive income FENEEE = = = - (40,446)  (4,524506)  (4,564,952) (1,018)  (4,565970)
Effect arising from reorganization EfMEEIYE 2(e) (100) - - - - - (100) - (100)
Equity-settled share-based transactions ~ IEREEHRHTS bl - - - 25,239 - - 25,239 = 25,239
Re-designation of ordinary shares to FERRENEEACKIIBLER
series C preferred shares 27ii) (1) (24.822) - - - = (24.823) = (24.823)
Automatic conversion of preferred shares  2REERBLREHES
upon global offering 28(c)f) 114 5,836,367 - - - - 5,836,481 - 5,836,481
Issuance of ordinary shares upon global ~ EZIRBERRTLER -
offering, net of issuance costs NREARE 28(a) 83 4096878 = = = - 409961 - 409961
Shares issued to employee incentive AESHBTAEIRA
platform 4 19 - - - - 59 - 59
RSUs vested EERRRABOEL - 4493 - (4493 - - - - -
Balance at December 31, 2021 R021E12A3 ANES 558 9,826,225 (5,087) 31,101 (36,005 (4,872,288 4,944,448 (1018) 4943430

The notes on pages 116 to 232 form part of these financial F116BE 22328 WM TEE K AR SR 25 1y —
statements. 2B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReaBnaRER

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LAAEREEZIIR)

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000

B AR®T ARBT T

Operating activities ReEEE
Cash generated from operations e TIEE Iﬁfﬁ 19(b) 306,397 511,407
Income tax paid BT ATEH 26(a) (1,314) (5,357)
Income tax refunded RIEFTEMN 26(a) 1,545 34
Net cash generated from RETBHAESHRLSTH

operating activities 306,628 506,084
Investing activities REEE

Payment for purchases of property BEMENMERENR

and equipment (448,316) (749,106)
Proceeds from disposal of property HE Y R FH BRI TS HKRIE

and equipment 4,955 1,342
Payment for provisions B FIE 25 (75) (572)
Release of/(payment for) guarantee RHINEA B A DRE

deposits of forward foreign R (50)

exchange contracts 9,201 (9,201)
Purchase of financial assets BESRMEE (720,000) (425,140)
Proceeds from disposal HESMEENMSHIE

of financial assets 341,600 426,342
Payment for purchase BERREFNER

of equity securities 16 (6,000) (38,640)
Payment for interest in associates S B R B R AR A OB (25,580) =
Loan to an ongoing investment MIRERENEK (50,000) =
Purchase of term deposits BE THFHR (3,101,796) =
Proceeds from disposal H & F BTERA TS F0E

of term deposits 1,366,872 -

Net cash used in investing activities REFE AR L EE (2,629,139) (794,975)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeB&RER

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AAR#EFIR)

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Liks3 ARBTT AREFT
Financing activities AEEE
Issuance of ordinary shares upon global % BK3 &R 27T R L @A A
offering, net of issuing costs paid 5 BB TR EITRCR - 4,096,961
Proceeds from issuance of convertible  3%77 0] & # A] iF B8 S A%
redeemable preferred shares FriS 518 19(c) - 523,277
Repayment of bank loans (= }@fﬁﬁﬁm 19(c) - (283,120)
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable Z£17A[ERIE /T EH)
capital contributions FriSR0I8 19(c) - 591,987
Repayments of issuance of warrants, 217 2R - BAERR
onshore loans and convertible note AR R A EE IR 19(c) - (200,000)
Repayment of redeemable capital BESHEMEENFED
contributions arising from BREE
reorganization 19(c) - (381,000)
Proceeds from exercise of share 1T R AR R P15 I8
options = 10,735
Payment of capital element and SEH%E%E%EI’JE$%B%&
interest element of lease liabilities ¥ 2 =B 19(c) (479,129) (462,485)
Interest of bank loans paid Eﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ% 19(c) = (2,351)
Proceeds from policy-based discount LA A E M BEIR | B 6
interest PR 518 = 1,500
Capital injection from non-controlling KB 7#? R EE
interest of a subsidiary 1,350 -
Release of restricted bank deposits ﬁﬂ?—}{ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ TR = 100
Capital injection from equity ERRETE
shareholders - 328
Listing expenses paid B ETmREX (219) (3,527)
Shares issued to employee incentive  [AI{E & 8B F & 21T D
platform = 59
Advances from related parties R 75 345K 19(c) = 309
Repayments of advances from related {E#Z 577 #3X
parties 19(c) = (468)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEEE(FFA),
financing activities FEHEEE (477,998) 3,892,305
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
cash equivalents W), R (2,800,509) 3,603,414
Cash and cash equivalents R2022F1HA1EHNRER
at January 1, 2022 Re%EY 19(a) 4,052,806 501,753
Effect of foreign exchange EXEEHNTE
rate changes 135,198 (52,361)
Cash and cash equivalents R2022F12A31HNRER
at December 31, 2022 REZEY 19(a) 1,387,495 4,052,806

The notes on pages 116 to 232 form part of these financial

statements.

%1165 232E MM EE A AN B T R B —
#B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

Nayuki Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on September 5, 2019 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and has not
carried on any business since the date of its incorporation. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together as “the Group”) are
principally engaged in the sales of freshly-made tea drinks,
baked goods and other products and services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Company was listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on June 30, 2021.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
("IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB"”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange. Significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial statements.

1 GENERAL INFORMATION 1 —RER

EENRERERQB([AR2E]) R
2019F9ASARERERE RN REE22
Z(1961F EIFUED - LA RIERT)E
HEHSHMKYIA—REREERA
7 e

ARBE—RIRELZBR AR - B EFE M
S BEAA R B B M ER - XA
AREMBAR(HE[AEE])EER
FEAREME([HEDHKEHERR
Rk HEERAREMESR KRS -
NABR2021F6 0B EFAHAEL S
FrBARAR([BRAT]) £ -

E-N- e

(a) &8
ZEMHHREDBRBEEERBER
MEmEER ([EERITBHRE E
AN (s BeEER e £R
Ee([BABRetEZES])BEMH
B BT 8 3 AR E B C B BR B 7 R s 8
A)) - KBRS 2ER(TEE S5 %
A1) KR kE) LA R BB (R THEG) 8
FERAERE - ZZWBEHRERTE
T RATES LR MEAR
BRET AEERMZERSTHR
RIFSET o

Bret £z BiiE TH
R BRELABETAR  RAKE
AEFTHE B RS ER A HiR
ER®M - ARVIFRAZEEBA
SEEMETHENERMASIBZ
THEFBRRESHC RBRRNZFHM
BlRRT - HRERERHFE2QA °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

b) Bk AR B A A

(b) Basis of presentation of the financial statements (

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31,
subsidiaries and the Group's interest in associates.

2022 comprise the Company and its

ltem included in the financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events
and circumstances relevant to the entity (the “Functional
Currency”). The financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB"), rounded to the nearest thousand
except for loss per share information.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out below:

—  Financial assets at FVTPL (see note 2(f)(i)); and

— Financial liabilities at FVTPL (see note 2(g));

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

HE2022F12A31BILFEWNEZEE
PHEREREEARARLENB QG
AR AR BB R R o

AEEEERBNYBHREABIEDN
THA T %M A Ee R B % B RS AR R
MEEZEHRBEANKEBEEENE
B(HEEEEDE - MBEWEMN
ARBTARBDEZ®R BHEEE
BB AAEREIZ TR
BREBRERRIN

MEMERRPIRANGTERER
FELRARE  ETIAERAE
EBEIEZEERBERINGIT XA
FOSFTHEBE)

UNAnEBEFELEZEHTA
HIEame R EER M2
- NARBEFEAEEHAE

HiRamne e B ME29)

fm BT & BIFR B 75 ¥ 5 2R Al 0 B 75

BRF\BEZEEEFLHE - Fat R
R > MxFHE Gt hBRE

FERKNEARMBAHRNEE -
BE WARRAZXHWEE -z
SR EEBRIIBEELERBEE
BEMBEERZEBATIHESERN
EEEMAZEMmMEL - FIBERE
BB 1R JE 7 A (K 18 A fth 2R T 5
FAMEEEBENREEREL A
ETMER BERE&RIZEIIRZ
ZEfh5t o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b) Basis of presentation of the financial statements

(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs
issued by the IASB to these financial statements for the
current accounting period:

e Amendments to IAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

e Amendments to IAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous contracts —
cost of fulfilling a contract

AANREEDITR)

2 EXREFEEE)

(b)

M2 MR EE(E)
EREETHBEMXS A REH
B - M EANETELEX
M AV EERERBANTE

R SN RAE ET HE A KK AR AR
ﬁﬁ%;'WEﬁmuﬂ%%%ﬂ
R EAR R -

B 12 [E e R B RR B 75 3R AR RIS AT
FHMBEBRREERTENHE &
ET T HEE R X 2R M L3
it o

B BELD
AEBEERA Gt RN % FM B
WEERABERETENZBSHM
H) BB B 755 o 5 SE RI YA NMERT

o B ERE165E (IBETA) :
YE - BERKE - HEHFEH
8718

O BRI EI7IHRUEFTA) ¢
fié‘/% AARBEBRIAREE - B
BIEHK —BITEHIZ A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(c) BFFERERES(E)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the
amended IFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to IAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

The amendments prohibit an entity from deducting the
proceeds from selling items produced before that asset
is available for use from the cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment. Instead, the sales proceeds and
the related costs should be included in profit and loss.
The amendments do not have a material impact on these
financial statements as the Group does not sell items
produced before an item of property, plant and equipment
is available for use.

Amendments to IAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous contracts —
cost of fulfilling a contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling the
contract includes both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling contracts.

Previously, the Group included only incremental costs
when determining whether a contract was onerous. In
accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to contracts for which it
has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January 2022, and
has concluded that none of them is onerous.

N LRy R e TN B AN
HIE AW LR SRR - HAK
ERTMBERMBEREEINZES
AT

B @zt BRI E 1695 (1£3T ) - 9
X BERRE - BT
ez

ZEERELERBUEDE  BEM
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ERAPTEETREB ZASHEAE - 1
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BHEVE BERREERBARE
FRIPTAEE AR o
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BRI—BTTERZEAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() BB 2 B R SRR AR S

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealized profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealized
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

XEREFAEOE  RAENE
ERTTEEEIMZEARLOS
AIREEZEHZERE - EFFEAS
BELERNE  REFAEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(d) B AR SR IFiE R s (48)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognized in
profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

SEERRAE AR R A B S R 2R 2 18
RN2T] - BBIRAERD RSB
FENE 2 A3 - REEEE Y
i A B E RS AR
R H 2 B MR35 R 5 (AN A ] 3692
BT 2 T2 4 25 AR B2 R 4 0
R EREAREEIRELH
AR -

HARERHBE AR < S EB T
SEHRAIEGE  AERBRER
SGARR - Bt REEEBaEAZE
BREFZEREESREIEHHAE
NRBRABEEZES BT 4R
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WAL EE KB AT 2 5
i ERNEREHEAT Y A
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R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EREFHEGE)
(continued)
(e) Associates (e) Bt AT
An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company Bt %N Al R FE AN B 8 AN A &) A LA
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, HEEREEEATZE N (MIEEH
over its management, including participation in the s HEREES]) c BELQBEEFE LK

financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method. Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group's share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group's share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see note 2(k)(ii)). At each reporting date,
the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group's share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group's share of
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate, after applying the ECL model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see note 2(k)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Associates (continued)

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealized losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence is lost is recognized at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(f)).

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group's policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognized/
derecognized on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated
at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL) for which transaction
costs are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see note 29(e). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXREFEEE)
(continued)
() Other investments in debt and equity securities (f) HMEKMRAZBHEE ()

(continued)

(i) Investments other than equity investments () BRELRELIIRE
Non-equity investments held by the Group are REBERA R IERAIRE AN
classified into one of the following measurement TEHA—EF2H5
categories:

— amortized cost, if the investment is held for

the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is calculated
using the effective interest method (see note 2(v)

(i)).

— fair value through other comprehensive income

(FVOCI) — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognized, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

— fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) if the

investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortized cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment
(including interest) are recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)

(i) Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made
on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only
be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss.

(9) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognized at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair
value is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note
2(k)(ii)). Construction in progress represents property and
equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognized in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

~

2 EXREFEEE)

() HERLRRAEFRE(E)

(i) BREKE
BARFBLHEEHSHEIBRBB
BaRiZ AR BEAR - RIEZR
TIRETRIFERE - WEVIH
TSR & R 2N & B 1 AT S SH i
BETZELEEREMEAENK
HFEARBEANR(CTIEE)
BB EAREBEEESHTEAMS
AW ER - SREBEINZ
ERENER FET BRAE
WEFEEHTABE THRAEAT
R AETT - HELMIERE -
EZIEEHHER - E2mEK
TP 2N BNREERRE
BREEBE(TAIER)FR - £HE
B RARrBERE(TIER)
PR EESE ARB R
BETg#AEE -

TESRTA
HESBT AR £ BEER - 2
RBERSARSHRERTE -
DA (BEE 38 0 Y aE 3 IR B
B 25 PORERR -

(h) I K&

W) 5 MR A IR R ORL R T B KR
BB 1R (R M EE2(k) (i) AfR - 32T
REAEZNYERERE  LIEKRAE
BALAREEIRSIER - B AGHET
o

BERGEVEMRERBMEL
MIBE AR EMBREFEEIRR
FEHSHEIENER  IRHENL
BRERAEBRETHER



126 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 2B HZIEIRA R A 8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h) Property and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Over the shorter of
the lease term or
the estimated useful

Leasehold improvements life of the asset

Kitchen equipment 3 - 5years
Furniture equipment 3 - 5years
Electronic equipment and others 3 -5 years

Right-of-use assets Over the lease term
Office building situated on

leasehold land 45 years
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,

are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortization (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

Amortization of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortized from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives
are as follows:
- Software 5-10 years
Both the period and method of amortization are reviewed
annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() Leased assets

() HEEE

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognizes
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
apartments and storage. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalize the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalized are recognized as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is initially
recognized at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortized cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting year in which they are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() Leased assets (continued)

() HEEE(E)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease is
capitalized is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, and
any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see notes 2(k)(ii)). Depreciation is calculated to write off
the cost of items of right-of-use assets, using the straight-
line method over the unexpired lease term.

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is
accounted for separately from the right-of- use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to
investments in debt securities carried at amortized cost
(see notes 2(f)(i), 2(v)(ii) and 2(k)(i)). Any difference between
the initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group's estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

() Leased assets (continued)

() HEEE(E)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are any rent
concessions which arose as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases,
the Group has taken advantage of the practical expedient
not to assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognized the change in consideration
as negative variable lease payments in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the rent
concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as an intermediate lessor, the sub-
leases are classified as a finance lease or as an operating
lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease
to which the Group applies the exemption described in
note 2(j), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an
operating lease. The rental income from operating leases
is recognized in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term. Variable leases
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognized as income in the accounting period in which
they are earned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

k) EEEENREERE

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments () =T AMEEEEE

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets measured at
amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables and other receivables).

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including
equity and debt securities measured at FVTPL, are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate financial
assets and trade and other receivables are discounted
using the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof where the
effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

k) EEBELREEREGE)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments () =HTAMEEEREE)

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model

applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognizes a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
(i) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) EEBEBLEEREBE(E)

(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

() =@ TAMSEEEEE)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued) ZERMEZEIEIN(E)
RECHIANME  EFEA
REE IR EIEIR A 3 Wﬂ

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is

performed on either an individual basis or a collective AEEEIT c ERHEEAEE
basis. When the assessment is performed on a ?Eﬁﬁ—i; SRR EeM T AR
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped = B AR 55 2 (5 403 BA AR BE &%

based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past =EE ﬁﬁﬁ%&)é%%ﬁ °
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

k) EEBELREEREGE)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments () =HTAMEEEREE)

(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognized in accordance with note
2(v)(ii) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortized cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor;

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or an impairment loss previously recognized
no longer exists or may have decreased:

— property and equipment, including right-of-use
assets;

— intangible assets; and

— investments in subsidiaries and associates in the
Company's statement of financial position;

2 EXREFEEE)

k) EEBELREEREGE)

() TETAMEEERE)

MSHBCR

MEEREERE  AEERS
WE(BoH 2 eMEEZR
EAME - ZBER—REBRERAE
EiEEEBALEEESBAR
RAEERABSRENEERE
MK R -

BE 1R U 1B ST AT 35 2 B A T WK [l
FEABRDSAER RRERE -

(i) BbIFRBEERE

RE|EPRBH AR RINEE
BAER - EEATEERS

BREDSR - S5Ta R AR E
FEEESTBFEXRDERD

- YELRE BECAEER
=
- BVEE: R

- RARBMBMRIER R K
B AR LB E R RIRIRE



136 Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZEMZIZRAER A7)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

k) EEBELREEREGE)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(i) Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

(i) BfbIFnBEERE (&)

MERBERPR - MetitEE
BRI E S R -

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(for example, head office building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation
can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis,
or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognized in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EREFTHE(E)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) EEBEBLEEREBE(E)
(continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

(i) BfbIFnBEERE (&)

(continued)

— Reversals of impairment losses
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favorable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognized.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34,
Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year (see notes 2k(i) and 2k(ii)).

Impairment losses recognized in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognized had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to which
the interim period relates.

- REERRE
1473 e 5 A ML B A 15
HIERARZD - AIBER
58 -

BMEBERERNZEER
BEFE IR EEE
MBERTERETZERE
18 - BB B IR 5 O FE RE PR 13
B2 FEFF A -

(i) FEIHHE R E

RIEB R TR A ETRA - A%
EEETRE S ERLFE345
[FRHI SRS | MRS R
BREERNEEA 2 %R
5o AREIR - AEBEHHEAR
MERFEEFROBRBERR
7R I B A2 2 (BB 7 2k (i) &
2k(ii)) °

SEBME - R BEERERN
HEBETSEERERYESE -
BIf {2 72 5% 7 HA HFE B A O B 7%
FRZGEMIERER GRS ER R
RAERSATRER B ERREA
"L w AR PERERE -



138 Nayuki Holdings Limited - 255 #2512l AR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXSHEBEE)
(continued)
(I) Inventories h 78
Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary GEEHREBARETREUEE
course of business, in the process of production for such E REAZSEHENEERE

sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed
in the production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Cost of inventories are calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognized as an expense in the year in which
the related revenue is recognized.
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The amount of any write-down of inventories to net EEEFEEMRZANZRFENS
realizable value and all losses of inventories are recognized R AFEEESN IR MRS
as an expense in the year the write-down or loss occurs. BEEFEABERAIH - FAT7F

The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognized as a reduction in the amount
of inventories recognized as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

(m) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue (see note 2(v)). A
contract liability would also be recognized if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognizes the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would
also be recognized (see note 2(n)).
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For a single contract with the customer, either a net MEBER VE—&G4MmMs » 2394
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For NEEFEXANBEBEZE mE
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of MmEHXME » THEAEDZEHNE
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis. EREGHNBETSIRFRAEERT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

B 5 K A MR

(n) Trade and other receivables

>

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

Receivables are stated at amortized cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note

2(k)(0)).

(o) Software-as-a-service (SaaS) arrangement costs

A Saa$S arrangement is a service arrangement where the
Group has a right to access to the supplier’s application
software running on the supplier’s cloud infrastructure
during the term of the arrangement, but not control over
the underlying software asset.

Costs to implement a SaaS arrangement, including those
incurred in configuring or customizing the access to the
supplier’s application software, are evaluated to determine
if they give rise to a separate asset that the Group controls.
Implementation costs that do not give rise to an asset are
recognized in profit or loss as incurred, which may be over
the period the configuration or customization services are
received to the extent that such services are distinct from
the SaaS, or over the term of the SaaS arrangement to the
extent the configuration or customization services are not
distinct from the SaaS.

Payment made in advance of receiving the related services
is recognized as prepayment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy
set out in note 2(k)(i).

(9) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issuance of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

Trade and other payables (other than refund
liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Refund liabilities arising from volume rebates are
recognized in accordance with the policy set out in note
2(v).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(s) Employee benefits (s) EE+EA

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions

to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC, the Group participates in a defined contribution
basic pension insurance in the social insurance
system established and managed by government
organizations. The Group makes contributions to
basic pension insurance plans based on the applicable
benchmarks and rates stipulated by the government.
The local government authorities are responsible
for the pension obligations payable to the retired
employees covered under the defined contribution
basic pension insurance. There are no forfeited
contributions for the defined contribution basic
pension insurance in the PRC social insurance system
as the contributions are fully vested to the employees
upon payment to the scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.
There are no forfeited contributions for the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes as the contributions are fully
vested to the employees upon payment to the scheme.

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
are recognized as part of the cost of assets or charged
to profit or loss as the related services are rendered by
the employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(s) BEBH (&)
(ii) BEBEIEF)

(s) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognizes restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(iii) Share-based payments

The Group operates share incentive plan, under which
it receives services from directors and employees
as consideration for equity instruments (including
share options and Restricted Share Units (“RSUs")) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received in
exchange for the grant of the equity instruments (share
options and RSUs) is recognized as an expense in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss.

Share options

For grant of share options, the total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value
of the options granted by using option-pricing models:

— including any market performance conditions;

— excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions; and

— including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions.

The total expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions.
It recognizes the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(s) BERM(E)

(s) Employee benefits (continued)

(iii) Share-based payments (continued)

RSUs

For grant of RSUs, the total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the
Group's shares at the grant date.

The total expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of RSUs that are expected to vest based
on service condition. It recognizes the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Share-based payment transaction among group
entities

The grant by the Company of share incentive plan over
its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiaries
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognized over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in subsidiaries undertakings,
with a corresponding credit to equity in separate
financial statements of the Company.

(t) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognized in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(t) Income tax (continued)

(t) PrEH(E)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized, are recognized.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same year as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in years into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
year, or years, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilized.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(t) PrEH(E)

(t) Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured based
on the expected manner of realization or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilized. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognized when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognized.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(t) PrEH(E)

(t) Income tax (continued)

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they - HMELERBEERBEMS @ M
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation BREREENREEENGEHER
authority on either: —RREHEE R A T Eh —IHER

HIFTIST AR
—  the same taxable entity; or - (ARERHER X
- different taxable entities, which, in each future - TRERTERE  MaETEDH

455 4 0 o M B A BT B
BERAEZRAREBE

year in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or

recovered, intend to realize the current tax assets B - B R sE ECES IR BN HY

and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis MEBEBEENSENSHFESR

or realize and settle simultaneously. & SHREIRFETERNE
& -

(u) BEREARAE

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises

from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use

by others of the Group's assets under lease in the ordinary

course of the Group's business.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or
services is transferred to the customer at the promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes. The Group's revenue is derived from the
following sources:

Sales of freshly-made tea drinks

Revenue from sales of freshly-made tea drinks are
related to the sales of various freshly-made tea
drinks such as fruit tea drinks. Revenues from the
sales of freshly-made tea drinks are recognized
at the point in time when the customers accept
the ordered products and the control over the
products is transferred to the customer. For orders
from online food delivery applications, revenues
are recognized at the point in time when the
goods are delivered to the customers, which is the
point of time and the control over the products is
transferred to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(v) Weas R H b A (48)
() EF& KM ()

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

- Sales of baked goods and other products and
services
Revenues from sales of baked goods are related
to the sales of breads and other baked goods
such as cakes and desserts which complement
the freshly-made tea drinks. Other products and
services are primarily derived from the sales of
flavored bottled sparkling water, seasonal gift
boxes and accessories related to the Group's
products. Revenues from sales of baked goods and
other products are recognized at the point in time
when the customers accept the ordered products
and the control over the products is transferred
to the customer while revenue from services are
recognized overtime as the services provided.
For orders from online food delivery applications,
revenues are recognized at the point in time when
the goods are delivered to the customers, which is
the point of time and the control over the products
is transferred to the customer.

Discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks and baked products

From time to time, the Group offers its customers
discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products. The discount vouchers and free vouchers
for complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products can be obtained through three channels: (i)
from qualified purchases when the customers reach
certain amount of spending; (ii) from redemption of
membership points accumulated from the membership
programs of the Group; (iii) distributed for free of
charge by the Group through various promotional and
advertising activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued) (v) W R EMUWA(E)
() BEF&#WKa(E)

2 EXREFEEE)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

Discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks and baked products (continued)
As the discount vouchers and free vouchers for
complimentary drinks, baked goods and other
products obtained through channels (i) and (ii) are
issued concurrent with a revenue transaction, the
Group estimates the value of the future redemption
obligation based on the estimated value of the
products for which the discount vouchers and free
vouchers for complimentary drinks, baked goods and
other products are expected to be redeemed, and
recognizes the estimated fair value in the balance
sheet as contract liability. Subsequently, contract
liability is recognized as revenue at the point in time
when the customer redeems the discount vouchers and
free vouchers for complimentary drinks, baked goods
and other products in future purchases, or when the
Group is legally released from its obligation based on
the expiration date of the discount vouchers and free
vouchers.

For discount vouchers obtained through channel (iii)
for which the granting of such discount vouchers does
not occur concurrently with a revenue transaction, the
discount vouchers are not accounted for when such
vouchers are granted and can only be applied to future
purchases of certain specified products of the Group.
The Group recognizes as a reduction in revenue when
the customers apply the discount vouchers in future
purchases.

Prepaid cards
The Group also offers prepaid cards to its customers
and the cash consideration received from the sales of
prepaid cards are recognized as contract liabilities.
Revenues are recognized upon the usage of the
prepaid cards.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B} BH3ERHIN

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

AANREEDITR)

(continued)

Membership program

The Group offers customers a membership program
for which its customers can earn membership points
from qualified purchases. The membership points
can be used to redeem discount vouchers, cell phone
accessories and other accessories related to the
brandings of the Group.

Customers membership points earned through
qualified purchases are considered as a separate
performance obligation arising from transactions
with customers. The Group estimates the value of the
future redemption obligation based on the estimated
value of the products for which the membership points
are expected to be redeemed based on historical
redemption patterns, including an estimate of the
breakage for points that will not be redeemed.

Volume rebates

The Group typically offers customers of bottled fruit
tea and sparkling water retrospective volume rebates
when their purchases reach an agreed threshold.
Such rights of volume rebates give rise to variable
consideration. The Group uses an expected value
approach to estimate variable consideration based
on the Group's current and future performance
expectations and all information that is reasonably
available. This estimated amount is included in the
transaction price to the extent it is highly probable that
a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized
will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is resolved. At the time of sale
of products, the Group recognizes revenue after taking
into account adjustment to transaction price arising
from rebates as mentioned above. A refund liability is
recognized for the expected rebates, and is included in
other payables (see note 21).

2 EXREFEEE)

(v)

W kE
(i) BFE&E#WKZ(E)

YA (&)

m
B i

K%lﬁ%)ﬁhfﬁ;\.iﬂf/\
FrAIABBAEREREERSEER
B e E?""“TRW?&?D%
F B B B A SR AN 5% (8] GR KR AR
FARYBCIHF -

\

m]un)zr}

BERERBERGHNEFEE
BAORBAEREFPETRSRE
ERN-HEBEOER - AKE
ERAENE L BEX (B
;TT?RW’EI’JF“EI’PKTTG‘E%?‘J
HmE)  REFEFEEBRIHL
BNEREE (E EEPKR?L@%E
BEEE

SHE BRI
EEPEBMEKRERI MK
M B2 E 1 E AP ES - ARE
BEeRHEREBRHHEEEE
%moagﬁ%ﬁ@%mﬁéé
MEEE - AEEREASE
Ewﬁkaiﬁﬁ%u&ﬁﬁ
AEEESNEER  RAEME
ﬁ&ﬁﬁTmﬁEo%%%éﬁ
BEERSEESF @ A )
A 7] EfmﬁmTﬁm&FW
fRRE - DHERANRRRERT
ERSIE A B ANED - EIHEE
M AEEEEED LA E
HSI RN ZERAREBERR
= o Lm%fi’i]ﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁﬁ)ﬁ@mﬁ’ﬁ
HITHER - Wit AH b RE 3
(REIFE21) ©



Annual Report 2§ 2022 151

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

2 EXREFEEE)

(v) Yas R E MW A ()

(i) Interest income (i) FLEHA

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

Interest income is recognized as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial assets to the gross
carrying amount of the financial assets.

(iii) Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognized as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same years in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the
Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognized in profit or loss over the
useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

(iv) Service income

— Service income relates to the Group's offer of
certain spaces to portable mobile phone charger’s
provider for the instalment of the portable mobile
phone charger facilities within the Group's
teahouses for the conveniences of its customers.

— Service income is recognized overtime when
the Group satisfies the performance obligation
according to the service contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBS RME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTTHEGE)

(continued)
(v) Revenue and other income (continued) (v) W R EMUWA(E)

(v) Trademark licensing income

Trademark licensing income relates to the Group's
granting of permission to certain collaborated parties
to use its brands on certain agreed commercial
products. Trademark licensing income is recognized
overtime when the Group satisfies the performance
obligation according to the licensing agreement.

(vi) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases consists of
variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognized as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognizes such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into RMB at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognized
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(x) Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses comprise all
expenses that are directly attributable to research
and development activities or that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis to such activities. Research and
development expenses are recognized as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

(y) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(y) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(vii)The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

(z) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Notes 27 and 29(e) contains information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to fair value of financial assets,
fair value of financial liabilities, fair value of RSUs under share
incentive scheme and fair value of share options granted. Other
significant sources of estimation uncertainty in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies are as follows:

(i) Impairment of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to assess whether there
is any indication that property and equipment or right-of-
use assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the property and equipment
and right-of-use assets is estimated. Changes in facts and
circumstances may result in revisions to the conclusion of
whether an indication of impairment exists and revised
estimates of recoverable amounts, which would affect
profit or loss in future periods.

(i) Recognition of deferred tax asset

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of
deductible temporary differences. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognized to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can
be utilized, management'’s judgment is required to assess
the probability of future taxable profits. Management's
assessment is revised as necessary and additional deferred
tax assets are recognized if it becomes probable that
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(iii) Depreciation (i) #T &

3 EEFHE R (&)

Property and equipment and right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The Group reviews the estimated
useful lives of the assets regularly in order to determine the
amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any
reporting period. The useful lives are based on the Group's
historical experience with similar assets. The depreciation
expense for future years is adjusted if there are material
changes from previous estimates.

(iv) Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 2(j), the lease liability is initially
recognized at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term. In determining the lease
term at the commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the Group
evaluates the likelihood of exercising the renewal options
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive for the Group to
exercise the option, including favorable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of that
underlying asset to the Group’s operation. The lease term
is reassessed when there is a significant event or significant
change in circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
Any increase or decrease in the lease term would affect
the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
recognized in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

4 RHERDIBHE
(a) Mz
AEEMKTZETEREREBEE
ERPRHECLENRRERE LINE
JERREFHEERERR  BHEER
AR H b e R AR 7S -

The Group principally generates its revenue from the
sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and other
products and services through its operating teahouses and
online food delivery applications mainly in the PRC.
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i) a4
FE B R RIS R RIEIS
WEFP AR HPANT

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by major products and timing of revenue
recognition is as follows:

2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMF T ARBT T
Revenue from contracts BIBR BT TSR 5 RIS 1558
with customers within HEANEFEANRE
the scope of IFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products BEXrEEmIH
— Sales of freshly-made tea drinks —SHE IR ER 3,135,326 3,186,988
- Sales of baked goods and —HEMEERIAR
other products and services H b E M ARTS 1,156,260 1,109,630
4,291,586 4,296,618
Disaggregated by timing of U R TR R 25
revenue recognition
— Point in time A 4,283,058 4,289,017
— Over time — BERF 8,528 7,601
4,291,586 4,296,618

HE2022F 128318 IEFE -
REFIETMAZL 2R FBIB
7N 5= B Uk 25 4858 10% (2021 4F
£2) o

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group
did not have any customer with which transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group's total revenue (2021: nil).
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WRKDIPEmE(E)

(continued)
(a) Revenue (continued) (a) Wz (%)
(i) Performance obligation and revenue recognition (i) JEA)ZE 75 R Mo AR
policies
Revenue is measured based on the consideration W R R P AT LK) & #) AT 51 EF
specified in a contract with a customer. The Group WEERE - AEERREFE
recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a EE T EHAE SAR S RE RERR UK

good or service to a customer. The following table wme TRIBEBEREKRETFA
provides information about the nature and timing of HPBHARKNEE REENE
the satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts B BIERE XN RS R AR U
with customers, including significant payment terms, R -

and the related revenue recognition policies.

Nature and timing of
satisfaction of
performance obligations,
including significant
payment terms

Type of product/service
Em/ REERE

ERENRBN
HEE R
(BEEXNRER)

Revenue recognition
policies

Y 25 e FRBUR

Freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods and

other products

RERK  HMEERREMBER

Customers obtain control
of the products when the
goods are delivered to
and have been accepted
by the customers at the
point in time.

EERMRNTEFRXER
Tﬁ SRS AN

SEE G -

Revenue is recognized
when the goods are
delivered and have been
accepted by customers.

EEMZXNTEPAREP

%WH‘\J'E&WULIQ/\ °
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)

(a) Revenue (continued) (a) Wz (%)
(i) JEAIZ TSR W R ()

4 WmkoE®E (&)

(i) Performance obligation and revenue recognition
policies (continued)

Type of product/service

Em/REER

Nature and timing of
satisfaction of
performance obligations,
including significant
payment terms
ERENRBN

P E K B
(BREREANRER)

Revenue recognition
policies

Y 35 HE FRBUR

Service income from contracts with
portable mobile phone charger’s provider

HREEATFHAEREHBM] SO

T UN

Trademark licensing income

AIRRERA

The Company provides
service to the portable
mobile phone charger’s
provider over a period of
time.

ARAR—REBAREER
FHrERRERRER
7 o

The Company’s grant of
permission to the
collaborated party to use
its trademark on agreed
commercial products
overtime.

RARIBEREREESRT
W E B LA E AR
HRFA]

Revenue is recognized
overtime as the services
are provided, which is
expected over next 12
to 36 months.

TRER A AR 75 B B s e HE 28
W - BEIRETRIZE
36fEA °

Revenue is recognized
overtime as the services
are provided, which is
expected over next 12
to 24 months.

TR L AR 745 B i PR P A 28
W - BEIRETRI2E
248 A -
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(continued)

AANREEDITR)

(a) Revenue (continued)

(iii) Revenue expected to be recognized in the future
arising from contracts in existence as at the end
of the reporting period

Contracts within the scope of IFRS 15

As at December 31, 2022, the aggregated amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the Group’s existing
contracts is RMB9,617,000 (2021: RMB4,787,000). This
amount represents revenue expected to be recognized
in the future when the Group satisfies the remaining
performance obligations.

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses as a whole by the most
senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment. The Group has
one operating segment, which is the sales of freshly-
made tea drinks, baked goods and other products and
services. The Group’s chief operating decision maker is
the chief executive officer of the Group who reviews the
Group's consolidated results of operations in assessing
performance of and making decisions about allocations to
this segment.

Accordingly, no reportable segment information is
presented.

As substantially all of the Group's operations and assets are
in the PRC, no geographic information is presented.

4 WmkoE®E (&)

(a)

(b)

) deah (8)
(i) FRE & BRGNS HTEL
HER B 1& B A M 2

B B B 5 e 5 2RI S 1 SR E A
K& 4

BR2022%F 128318 » "&E B
REGHNTIREHRTRENE
THRGERBSEAARE

9,617,000 (20214 : AR
4,787,0007T) ° e BEREKBE
AEEETHR TENE(ERTER
R UL S -

PN

D Eb R

AEEBBATSTHEEAEBERE
HERBERUETERSEARR
e AEBEE —EAKLESE - A
HERBER MIEERUKEA
EmERE - AEEHNEELER
RERAEEMNEREHITE  HF
%$$lm¢é%%%FM¥%%
DEHRIE RIELRZ D IEITD
FEHY R o

Dkt

i
Hi

FHitt - BEEZFIRI 2D FERS

HRAREETREEEREEY
IR APE - BESDMER AR -
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5 OTHER INCOME 5 HabwA
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Interest income on: AT B IR A S A -
- bank deposits —#RITER 26,492 12,432
- term deposits —EHTFHK 26,905 =
— rental deposits —HE%s 6,820 6,691
— other financial assets —HEihoREE 4,996 1,202
Government grants (note (i) BT # B (PR EE()) 49,561 7,014
Additional deduction of input VAT HETHIZET A REIN
(note (ii)) HOR K EEGi)) 10,176 =
124,950 27,339
Notes: B EE
()  Government grants mainly represented unconditional cash awards granted () BUTHEBEPBENBTEER FTHEKERS
by the government authorities in the PRC. During the year, government 2R - FA - B THBA KRB BFHEBEE
grants received by certain subsidiaries were mainly related to foreign DHEIFIMNGEEB AR -
investment incentives.
(i)  The amount represented 10% additional deduction of input VAT granted (i) ZEBEETENBRAHERNREE TERES
by the government authorities in the PRC upon satisfaction of certain TS EHE TR ERIR H A 10%585MRE,

applicable regulatory criteria.
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6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(a) Finance costs

AANREEDITR)

6 BRBAIEE
B -

(a) BEE KA

BB RIERTIMG(GEA) LT EER

2022 2021
2022% 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETIT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 19(c)) HEaEF B (KIFE19() 79,182 88,757
Interest on provisions (note 25) BB B (MI5E25) 1,144 1,073
Interest on bank loans IRITEF B = 2,351
Less: policy-based discount interest W BURMERE R = (1,500)
Interest on redeemable capital AR E & A F B
contributions - 866
80,326 91,547
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) b) ETXA(BREESENE)
2022 2021
2022% 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETIT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 975,443 1,010,861
Contributions to defined contribution TE B FORIRET SR
retirement plan (note(i)) (PR EEG)) 83,117 66,263
Equity-settled share-based payment AR s 45 H LARR 19 R E BB 60 1~
expenses (note 27) A (KIFE27) 14,475 32,732
1,073,035 1,109,856
Qutsourced staff costs SNEL B TRk AN 289,080 314,502
1,362,115 1,424,358
Note: MisE -
(i)  Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred and not () MZESEEIAEER L - MESEAER

reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

FEHRZ S K -

B 2BUEFRATR 5 8 s B T &
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6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(c) Other expenses

6 BRBIAIEE(E)
(c) EAbFIZ

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BX B Bl <&
— audit services -BEZRE 2,900 2,900
— non-audit services —SEEZ RS 38 700
Administrative expenses TS 142,016 72,631
Travelling and business development ERREBRERY
expenses 40,825 31,873
Other-party service fees Hib 5 iR e 23,257 20,656
Impairment losses BIEE R
— property and equipment (note 11(a)) — W ENRE(MEE11()) 10,467 2,620
— right-of-use assets (note 11(a)) —FREEE(FE11()) 6,424 4,224
Write-down of inventories (note 17(b)) WO FEE (M3E17(b)) 1,477 1,566
Listing expenses il ha - 14,735
Commissions Uitk 7,730 8,368
Bank charge RITE A 5,983 7,289
Others Hith 8,461 8,763
249,578 176,325
(d) Other items (d) HMIEE
2022 2021
2022% 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREETIT
Amortization cost of intangible assets A B RV SRR
(note 12) (Hi5E12) 167 167
Depreciation (note 11) e (FsE11)
— property and equipment o IE YL 263,016 203,859
- right-of-use assets —(FREEEE 434,930 420,272
697,946 624,131
Other rentals and related expenses HFHE REEFR 228,962 212,996
Cost of inventories (note (i), 17(b)) TFEBRAMEEEG ~ 17(b)) 1,416,094 1,400,674

Note:

(i)  Cost of inventories mainly represented raw materials and consumables
consumed during the sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked goods

and other products and services.

FEE

(i)

TFERANERIENHERBIR - PUEERIA
Ro At 2E G N AR TGS B SH R 0 FR M4 RSB A ©
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6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(e) Other net losses

6 BRBIAIEE(E)
(e) HALEIEFR

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMF T ARBTT
Loss on disposal of non-current assets HEFREEENEE 48,053 33,317
Loss on stores closures B ERNEE 9,671 4,497
Gains on reassessment of right-of-use FREEERHEREN
assets and lease liabilities B (13,469) (13,112
Loss on forward foreign exchange EHIMES W ER
contracts 60,917 —
Loss on foreign currency exchange GNEE [ R E5 18 17,870 7,421
Others Hih 7,823 6,623
130,865 38,746
7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 RREEBEBRZHAENR
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit (a) REREEmR < HMIER
or |OSS represents:
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Current tax BN EA T 18
Provision for the year (note 26(a)) FARBE(H7E26(a)) 121 11,556
Deferred tax B IE
Origination and reversal of temporary EEREBEOERTEEE
differences (note 26(b)) (fi7E26(b)) (40,833) (15,661)
(40,712) (4,105)
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7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 REEBRERZAEH (&)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax credit and (b) IMEAB R E 2 HIEERE K&
accounting loss at applicable tax rates: SITEEZ2EHERAOT ¢
2022 2021
2022% 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARETT

Loss before taxation bR ATEE (516,518) (4,529,629)
Calculated at the rates applicable RRERBRAEEER 2

to profit/loss in the jurisdictions AL EREBEAR R E

concerned (127,048) (41,587)
Effect of preferential income tax rates ETHBARMER

of certain subsidiaries s 2 (387) (7,428)
Additional deduction for qualified BB AR EESNOBR

research and development costs (7,456) (9,949)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses RTH0% 5 S MO B S o 2 6,340 13,048
Tax effect of unused tax losses and AERRBBHIAEER

deductible temporary differences AENEREENRBTE

not recognized 69,591 43,529
Tax effect of utilization of tax losses not R4t B & A FE 2 FI| A

recognized in previous years RIS E RIS 2 (1,213) (1,426)
Recognize the effect of temporary TR LA BT [E AR FER A IRLE

differences for which deferred tax FISHEEMNEREEZR

asset was not recognized in &

previous years (638) (292)
Reversal of previously recognized ¢ [0 5 A i 5R 89 1] 4K 40

deductible temporary differences TR ER 20,099 -

Actual tax credit ERIEER R (40,712) (4,105)
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7

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax (credit)/expense
and accounting loss at applicable tax rates:
(continued)

Notes:

(i

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is subject to Hong Kong's
two-tiered profits tax regime, under which the tax rate is 8.25% for
assessable profits on the first Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD") 2,000,000
and 16.5% for any assessable profits in excess of HKD 2,000,000. The
Group's subsidiaries in Hong Kong did not have any assessable profits
for the year ended December 31, 2022 (2021: nil).

Taxable income for the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC is subject to
PRC income tax rate of 25% for the year ended December 31, 2022
(2021: 25%), unless otherwise specified below.

Certain subsidiaries fulfilled the criteria required for preferential
income tax rate granted to small and low profit-making enterprise in
the PRC and were entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 2.5% and
5% on taxable income for the first RMB1,000,000 and the subsequent
RMB1,000,000 to RMB3,000,000, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2022 (2021: 2.5% and 10%, respectively).

The subsidiaries in the United States of America and Japan of
the Group did not have any assessable profits for the year ended
December 31, 2022 (2021: nil).

AANREEDITR)

7

REREEBERZAEH(E)

b) BB EFE 2B A (K
%)/ AX RatEE ik
o (%E)

G

(iii)

(iv)

REASHESRABEMRES ([ LB
AREEDORALER  ~AEEBA
BRENHERERABERREEMS
B o

EENEHAREENESHEMRSIFTIR
% H P 2,000,000 ([T ])
JE AR T 08 A A 8.25% B FR R BB & 1B 38
2,000,000/ 7t B £E{7] P& R B2 08 A1 LA 16.5%
MR - AEBREAOHBRRIR
HZE2022612831 B L FEAW EAT &
SEREM (20214 : 48) o

BTXBAEREIN + BE2022512 731
BILFE - NEETHEWEA TR ERR
W A\ B 12 Bl BT 45 B B SR 25% Bt (2021
& 1 25%) °

HE202F12831BLEE - ETWE
ARAFEHETHENE RIEFBEEEESR
FTSBB R EIZAE - UG ERERT
WA B AR 1,000,0007T & EENTF
AR %1,000,0007T & A K #3,000,0007T
B2 DB ZEH2.5% 5% EBEAMER
T (20214F = 9 5l2.5% K% 10%) °

HE2022F12A31BLEFE » AEER
EFRA RE R B AK M B A R TR
JERBIEF (20214 « £E) ©
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8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 8 EEHM
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) BIBEFEB R AEHIE 3831 (1) A A (]
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BEENREMRIIE2HRENES
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of E2i b (ul NI

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2022

BZ2022512A31ALEE
Salaries,

allowances Retirement Share-based

Directors'’  and other Discretionary scheme  payments
fees benefits bonuses contributions  (note (iv)) Total

s DR R

EHR Bfhe ERNME
¥ 0k HipER BT SEMS (WEv) @t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR

Chairman EZR
Mr. Zhao Lin HEE - 1,250 - 86 - 1,336
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Peng Xin gLt - 1,250 - 86 - 1,336
Mr. Deng Bin e - 886 - 41 443 1,370
Non-executive Directors kHTEZE
Mr. Pan Pan it e = = = = = =
Mr. Wong Tak-wai BERLE - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Chen Qunsheng (note (i)) B EEA % A (P REG)) 103 - = = = 103
Mr. Liu Yiwei (note (i) 212 R EE (W) 103 = = = = 103
Ms. Zhang Rui (note (i) a1 (FizEG) 103 - - - - 103

309 3,386 - 213 443 4,351
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8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 8 EEHM(E)

Year ended December 31, 2021

HE021F12R31BLEE
Salaries,

allowances Retirement  Share-based

Directors'  and other Discretionary scheme  payments
fees benefits bonuses contributions (note (iv)) Total

- AR B

28R BiRe  EEMET
EELGE ey Wi fEgs (W) e

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARBTR ARETE ARBTR ARETR

Chairman EER
Mr. Zhao Lin il e = 1,187 333 72 3,940 5,532
Executive directors YITEE
Ms. Peng Xin gLt - 1,187 333 72 3,940 5,532
Mr. Deng Bin il e - 744 259 26 763 1,792
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Pan Pan EREA = = = = = =
Mr. Shao Gang (note (ii) FB3A % A (B EE () = = - - - _
Mr. Wong Tak-wai FEELE - _ _ _ B B
Independent Non-executive BUFATES

Directors
Mr. Chen Qunsheng (note (i)) BREEA LA (FFE() 50 - - - - 50
Mr. Liu Yiwei (note (i) HRB AR 50 = - - - 50
Ms. Zhang Rui (note (i) Rt (HEEG) 50 = = = = 50

150 3,118 925 170 8,643 13,006
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8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

() Mr. Chen Qunsheng, Mr. Liu Yiwei and Ms. Zhang Rui were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company on June 18, 2021,
respectively.

(i) Mr. Shao Gang resigned from his position as a non-executive director on
December 29, 2021.

(iii) During the year ended December 31, 2022, there were no amounts paid or
payable by the Group to the directors or any of the highest paid individuals
set out in note 9 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as a compensation for loss of office (2021: nil). There was no arrangement
under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year ended December 31, 2022 (2021: nil).

(iv) These represent the estimate value of share options granted to the directors
under the share option plan (note 27). The value of these share options
is measured according to the Group's accounting policy for share-based
payments as set out in note 2(s)(iii).

8 ESHM(E)
W3

() MREBEELEE FNREBEEREHZLIDHIR
2021F6 18R B LR ERAN R RIBIIENITE
-

(i) BREMSEAN2021512A29B BHESEITE S -

(i) REZE2022F12A31HILFE » AEEBER
BRI T XM MR SRm F oA £ sk
FEHERIFRIBIE B DA SR AN A A £ B 14 /) 52 B
HEBBERAE (20214 - &) WEAWES
REZE20229F 12831 B It FEREXRBEME
TAEHE L HE(20214F « ) »

(v) ZESTEREBEERESS(ME27)RXTES
ZBEIRME A - AN EL2(s)Gil) T - 2SR
Wt 2 BETYRIEA S AR AEEZ R
ZEREERAE -
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9

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, none

(2021: two) of them are directors whose emoluments are

disclosed in note 8.

R AL

hEmEeFMALF  LE(2021F M
RIEENE R ESRKE -

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the five (2021: BB TRE(20214F : =%) AT A
three) individuals are as follows: SRRT|UT ¢
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Salaries and other emoluments He hEMME 7,149 3,211
Discretionary bonuses BIETEAL = 1,048
Share-based payments VAR 1 B BB 3K 4,351 6,036
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET SRR 79 40
11,579 10,335
The emoluments of the five (2021: three) individuals with the HE (20214 : =2) 5= 5 A+ 1 B
highest emoluments are within the following bands: SNFETFEE :
2022 2021
20224 20214
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
N AEX
HKD1,500,001 — HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7t—2,000,0007%8 7T = -
HKD2,000,001 — HKD2,500,000 2,000,0017% 75-2,500,0007%8 7T 2 -
HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 2,500,001% 75-3,000,000/%8 7T 2 1
HKD3,000,001 — HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 7t-3,500,0007% 7T = 1
HKD3,500,001 — HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 7t—4,000,0007% T 1 -

HKD6,000,001 — HKD6,500,000

6,000,0017% 7T-6,500,000/% 7T -
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10LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

10 BREE

(a) BIREANEIE
FEREARSBEBDNIEAR AR
HE (5 E1E A R ¥ 469,327,000 7T
(20214 : AR#4,524,506,0007T )
’.1,715,126,147 B 5@ P& (2021 £ -
1,377,499,6460% & i@ A% ) B AN 4 S 15
& WETEWT :

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of RMB469,327,000 (2021: RMB4,524,506,000) and the
weighted average of 1,715,126,147 ordinary shares (2021:
1,377,499,646 ordinary shares) calculated as follows:

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Number of Number of
shares shares
g gE| BRiDE B
Issued shares at January 1, M A1TE&BE BTG 1,715,126,147 986,911,287
Effect of re-designation of ordinary EHETLBRA
shares to preferred shares BERZZE - (4,369,735)
Effect of shares issued to employee AE 8 828 F & 317
incentive platform Rz 2 = 86,685,288
Effect of automatic conversion of A B2 % ] B8 0] 48 St i
convertible redeemable preferred BEEBRKEBR c FE
shares into ordinary shares - 178,581,036
Effect of shares issued by BRPIRBEE T
global offering el 2 & - 129,691,770
Weighted average number of 12 A31 88 E @k
ordinary shares at December 31 DNt 8 1,715,126,147  1,377,499,646
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10LOSS PER SHARE (continued)
(b) Diluted loss per share

10 8REE (&)
(b) BIEERR

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

The Company had potential ordinary shares from
redeemable capital contributions, financial liabilities at
FVTPL and convertible redeemable preferred shares for
the year ended December 31, 2021. All potential ordinary
shares convertible from redeemable capital contributions,
financial liabilities at FVTPL and convertible redeemable
preferred shares had been converted into ordinary shares
upon the listing of the Company on June 30, 2021. As the
Group incurred losses for the year ended December 31,
2021, the potential ordinary shares were not included in
the calculation of diluted loss per share, as their inclusion
would be anti-dilutive.

There were no diluted potential ordinary shares for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

Accordingly, diluted loss per share for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021 are same as basic loss per
share.

BREEEENEBABEITEIN
BB ORE - UERRER
ABEEET BRMmTSE -

KARBE2021F12A831BILEFE
BABETE  UAAREBETSER
HEBH AZHETNEREER
BT ELELREEEEEE
B - FTEEREREE - LARE
B EBEEHFTAZHEZND
Bh B (E K A] e A i B8 ST iR s iR
MBEZRRKRENARFR20214F
6H30B FmgER L@k - ER
AREBREE2021F12A831H 1IEF
EHBEE HEEREEEER
WEIFABELRRK - TTRHRFTA
ZERMEERREE -

B E2022F12A31H L FE L & #
SBEELEAK -

At - B ZE202249F % 202112 A 31
BEFEMNERBESEHEGRE
KEEAER o
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT- MYUERRBEREAREE
OF-USE ASSETS
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) FREE 2 ¥R
Office
Electronic building  Subtotal of Property
Leasehold Kitchen Furniture  equipment  Construction  situated on  Propertyand  Right-of-use
impr juipment Juif and others in progress leasehold land  equipment assets Total
frVEE
B& BT 1L nER UES

NERE BERE GERE  RERAM fRIE R78 RENT RAREE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARMFR  AR®TZ  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARWTR  ARETR  ARWTR  ARMTR  ARBTR

Cost: A

At January 1, 2021 RAONE1R1R 528,763 197,369 51,618 81,818 8570 - 868,138 1,888,349 2,756,481
Additions NE

- Purchase -G8 - 108,990 37907 73,683 253,364 - 473944 598,686 1,072,630
- Transfer from construction in progress  ~EBAEETE 218,116 - - - (227485) - (9.369) - (9.369)
Disposals HE (47,843 (11,474) (43,482) (23,908) - - (126,707) (320,775) (447 482)
Exchange adjustments ERE% 49 m 1537 178 = = 2918 472) 2446
At December 31, 2021 R2021512831R 699,528 295,596 47,580 131,771 34449 - 1,208,924 2,165,788 3374712
At January 1, 2022 RN2F1A1R 699,528 295,596 47,580 131,11 34,449 - 1,208,924 2,165,788 3,374,712
Additions hE

- Purchase -E8 - 97,780 24,918 66,199 193,379 166,717 548,993 537,869 1,086,862
~ Transfer from construction in progress  ~EBEEETRE 211,11 - - - 211,11) = a o =
Disposals e (106,985) (16,255) (11,183) (10,532) - - (144,955) (496,689) (641,644)
Exchange adjustments ERER 344 4 10 38 - - 439 931 1,370
At December 31, 2022 #2022%12A318 804,658 377,168 61,325 187,476 16,057 166,717 1,613,401 2,207,899 3,821,300
Accumulated depreciation: ZiiE:

At January 1, 2021 RANE1R1R 183401 52,650 14,376 29,654 - - 280,081 647,121 927,208
Charge for the year EfE 126,512 9,590 11,200 56,557 - - 203,859 40,212 624,131
Written back on disposals HEERE (26,712) (13,626) (20,082) (18,462) - - (78,882) (218,984) (297,866)
Exchange adjustments ERER (160) 1 0] I§] = = (117) (185) (302)
At December 31, 2021 Ra021 5128318 2301 1615 5493 679 - Smem w80 12537
At January 1, 2022 R02%1818 283,041 48,615 5493 61,792 - - 404,941 848,230 1,253
Charge for the year EfHk 151,871 62,783 11,910 34,764 - 1,688 263,016 434,930 697,946
Written back on disposals L ERER (67,079) (9,547) (5,913) (5,864) - - (88,403) (355,666) (444,069
Exchange adjustments ER5E 186 18 4 9 - - 217 696 913

At December 31, 2022 #20225128318 368,019 101,869 11,494 96,701 - 1,688 519,11 928,190 1,507,961
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT- MYERZERFEAREEE(E)
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) (a) BREIMBEZHR(E)
Office
Electronic building  Subtotal of Property
Leasehold Kitchen Furniture  equipment  Construction situated on Propertyand  Right-of-use
impr juipment Juif and others in progress leasehold land  equipment assets Total
fHEE
HE Ef 1M NER VES

NERE BERE GERE  RERAM fRIE R78 RENT RAREE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARMFR  AR®TZ  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARWTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

Impairment: WE

At January 1, 2021 RANE1R1R 941 - - - - - 94 1,156 2097
Addition E 2,620 - - - - - 2620 424 6,844
Written back on disposals HERRE (941) = - = = = (941) (1,156) (2,09
At December 31, 2021 R2021512A31R 2,620 - - - - - 2,620 4204 6,844
At January 1, 2022 RN2E1R1H 2,620 - - - - - 2,620 4,224 6,844
Addition e 9,481 197 440 349 - - 10,467 6,424 16,891
Written back on disposals HERER (3,544) - - - - - (3,544) (4,224 (7,768)
At December 31, 2022 #2022%12A318 8,557 197 440 349 - - 9,543 6,424 15,967
Net book value: REFE:

At December 31, 2022 120225128318 428,082 275,102 49,391 90,426 16,057 165,029 1,024,087 1,273,285 2,297,372

At December 31, 2021 R021E12A318 413,867 246,981 42,087 63,979 34,449 - 801,363 1313334 2,114,697
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

MPRRBREREAEEE (FH)

(a) FREE 2 H AR (%)

Impairment loss

The recoverable amount of each teahouse (cash-
generating unit (“CGU")) with indication of impairment is
estimated at the end of each reporting period. As at the
end of each reporting period, in view of the unfavorable
future prospects and poor performance of certain
teahouses, there were indications that the CGUs may
suffer an impairment loss. The management of the Group
has conducted impairment testing for teahouses with
impairment indications. The recoverable amount of each
CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations
by preparing cash flow projections of the relevant CGU
derived from the most recent financial forecast approved
by the management covering the remaining lease term.
The cash flows are discounted using discount rate of
11.59% as at December 31, 2022 (2021: 12.77%). The
discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the relevant CGU.

As at December 31, 2022, the carrying amount of certain
CGUs exceeds their recoverable amount, therefore,
an impairment loss of RMB16,891,000 for property and
equipment and right-of-use assets within the CGU was
recognized in “"Other expenses” in the consolidated
statements of profit or loss for the year ended December
31, 2022 (2021: RMB6,844,000).

JBL BT 18
REREHRSHEFTERETEH
ERBEReEFEM([REE
FEBEM]))MATKEISE - REHRE
R - ERE TRKIERRKTS
LRIBRE BRRETRRESELE
BAAESIRERE AEEE
BEEDETRENR SBREESE
BAMAREDEREBEERER
HEREETE  AEAS REER
B EN SR BB OCRERT
FEH)HERBReELEMMIE
& mETER - BA2022F 128318 -
WL REFM11.59% A IR R BLIR
(20214 : 12.77%) » FT{E A BAIR
RNBAIY RMERABRSELS
BB ERRE o

20229128318 EFREESE
BAUMNEEDEBBEATKESEE
it IR EABURNNYENR
REUARFEAEEENREBSEA
R #16,891,00070 (20214F : AR#
6,844,0007T ) Ty R &L = 2022F 12 B
NBEFEMNGEERRA [ M
X PR o
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT- MYERRERERAEEE (&)
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets (b) FRAEEE
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases HREEERNEEAEENRTIE
recognized in profit or loss is as follows: BEDHT
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use RIABEEY ENERAEEE
assets by class of underlying asset: MITERY :
Property — Right-of-use assets Y —FRAEEE 434,930 420,272
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HEABENNE (EE6@)) 79,182 88,757
Expense relating to short-term leases H1%5 HATH S AERA A0 7 2 44,003 27,099
Expense relating to leases of low-value  EEEEEEMREHBEH
assets, excluding short-term leases HY o TERRBEREEEEN
of low-value assets EHEE 1,540 1,379
Variable lease payments not included Rt AHEBEFEN
in the measurement of lease liabilities AIEAE MR 65,443 62,882
Covid-19-related rent concessions E &S M Covid-1948#
received HEER (11,442) (2,100)
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity HERRLREREES RS
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 19(d) and 24, BT aF15 2 BIE A 51 19(d) K224 »

respectively.

The Group early adopted the Amendment to IFRS 16, MEE2021F12 431 B ILF EH B
Leases, Covid-19-related rent concessions beyond 30 TR &R 7N & E 17 T ER A0 B PR B 75 3R
June 2021 in the financial statements for the year ended HRBF16RMEFIARHEE - 2021
December 31, 2021, and applies the practical expedient to F6H30H 2 #Covid-1910 % &
all eligible rent concessions received by the Group. Further B WHAIITRE ZFTEARAS
details are disclosed in (i) below. ERSHNaERHERER - £

FHBERTX()KE -
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

MPRRBREREAEEE (FH)

(b) EREEEE)

(i) Property — Right-of-use assets () Vx—RHBEEE

The Group has obtained the right to use properties as
its teahouses and offices through tenancy agreements.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 3 to 5
years.

The Group leased a number of teahouses which
contain variable lease payment terms that are based
on sales generated from the teahouses and minimum
annual lease payment terms that are fixed. These
payment terms are common in the PRC where the
Group operates. In 2021 and 2022, the Group received
rent concessions in the form of a discount on fixed
payments as a result of severe social distancing and
travel restriction measures introduced to contain the

AEEREBAHERARGEEE
ERERERRERBREROE
Fo BOMBHRABATR=ER
7=

AEBHELZRAERE HBHE
ERRREMEEHER 2 TE
HEeEREFREEERES AR
BRI FIER o ZEMRIEHRER
EEZEREWTEBER - ©
202149 ] 20224 - AR BBl
COVID-19%Z 15 EFEm & A B
AL BB R R ITR BRI - A
EEUABEE M IR ES

spread of COVID-19. The amount of fixed and variable HEER o ERMET L&
lease payments for the year is summarized below: BT
2022
2022%F
Variable
payments
and other COVID-19
Fixed related rent Total
payments expenses concessions payments
CIE-ZNEN
kHfz COVID-19
B ES R MR HEER EE
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETRT AR¥TRt AR®TR AR%®TxR
Lease assets HEEE 490,571 212,035 (11,442) 691,164
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11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

MPRRBREREAEEE (FH)

(b) EREEEE)

(i) Property — Right-of-use assets (continued) () Y% —(EHEZEE)
2021
20214
Variable
payments
and other COVID-19
Fixed related rent Total
payments expenses concessions payments
EIE-SNEN
S E-Kiil COVID-19
& TE 3K MEEER HEER R4
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETrT AR%ETET
Lease assets HEEE 474,364 204,914 (2,100) 677,178

(i) Rental deposits

The refundable rental deposit itself is not part of
the lease payments and is in the scope of IFRS 9.
Therefore, the rental deposit should be measured at
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the initial fair value and the nominal value of the
deposit is an additional lease payment made by the
Group and it is included in the measurement of the
right-of-use assets.

(i) HE®RE

REMERSANGWIFHER
RO —# - BRI SRS
EHERMEE - At - HE
BREEENRBERARHAAE
BFtE - eI A BER
EER N ZR AR EEFFEREIN
MENKAEFAEREEEN

it
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12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 128 EE
Software
B4
RMB'000
ARET
Cost: R :

At January 1, 2021 MR2021%F1A1H 1,258
Disposal HE (550)
At December 31, 2021 and 2022 20215 & 20229128 31H 708

Accumulated amortization: Sty .
At January 1, 2021 MR2021F1A1H 207
Charge for the year F AR 167
Written back on disposal H e B ) (123)
At December 31, 2021 MR2021%12H31H 251
At January 1, 2022 MR2022F1 A1H 251
Charge for the year F R 167
At December 31, 2022 MR2022%12H31H 418

Net book value: BREFRE
At December 31, 2022 2022912 H31H 290

At December 31, 2021 MR2021%12H31H 457
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13 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Investment in subsidiaries — the Company

1I3RAMBARNRE
(a) RHTBARIHIRE — AR A]

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T R AREFT

Investment costs (note (i) % B BN (P EE(G)) 116,046 106,233

Deemed investments arising from PARZ (D A E BB

share-based payment expenses X EERRERE

(note (ii)) (BRFEEGN) 54,051 38,418
Capital loan to subsidiaries (note (iii)) B NGRS G

B R (B EE (i) 3,055,231 =

3,225,328 144,651

Notes:

(i

(iii)

Investment cost consist of (i) the initial fair value of the warrants issued
by the Company in connection with the onshore loans provided to a
subsidiary of the Group, and (ii) the interest on redeemable capital
contribution that were converted along with the capital contribution
principal in January 2021 for the subscription of series A, A+ and series
B-1 convertible redeemable preferred shares of the Company.

The amount represents share-based payment expenses arising from
the grant of share options and RSUs of the Company to employees of
the subsidiaries (note 27) in exchange for their services provided to
these subsidiaries, which were deemed to be investments made by the
Company into these subsidiaries.

All these balances are unsecured and their repayments are neither
planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

GE

i)

(i)

BERABEONANR AR T AEE—
KM B A R IR R E R T 31T R
BE AR EE - R(i)R2021F1 AR E
AEARSER  URBAARARY) - A+
F 5 K& B-1% 75 A] &2 4 7] & 0] & 5t Ak & 7]
fE BT S -

ZFIRAE AR B A M A RME B R BB AR
T IR IR B ) Bz (P27 ) PAMRER AR 5
)% 5 Y B8 2 R4 AR S T 2 A ) DA AR £
RERNNFF - BIEAR B RZEN
BARELNIRE -

ZENA & AR B A EIEE
SRR BRI REEE -
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13 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 1I3RHMEBELATNKRE (&)

(b) Subsidiaries of the Group (b) NEE 2 HB AR
The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries TRBEBEHAEEEE  BEXE
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities BEXTEZEZHMBRAIMNGE °
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless MREEEAEN - ARG EN G
otherwise stated. EimAR

Proportion of
ownership interest

BRRRLIL
Place of
incorporation
and operation/
date of Registered Held by Held by
Name of company establishment share capital the Company asubsidiary  Principal activities
ARAIR
AER EENY/RUAR MR HARERE AKNELERE  IEED
Shenzhen Pindao Group Co., Ltd. * The PRC RMB2,810,000,000 S 100%  Investment Holding
171212019
MTREREERAT i AR %2,810,000,0007 RERK
019%12A178
Shenzhen Pindao Food & Beverage The PRC RMB455,000,000 - 100%  Store operations management
Management Co., Ltd. * 12/05/2014 and other services
AMmmEENEERRAT hE ARH455,000,0007C EHERERRAMRE
01458128
Shenzhen Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * 210412016 goods and other product
MITREEAEERRAT hEl AR#10,000,0007T HERRAR  MRERREMER
N16F4A21A
Xi'an Nayuki Food & Beverage Management The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Co, Ltd.* 28/09/2017 goods and other product
BEREEARRARAT hEl AR#10,000,0007T HERRAR HRERREMER
017594287
Beijing Nayuki Food & Beverage ManagementThe PRC RMBS,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Co, Ltd.* 13/11/2017 goods and other product
FRREERERARAT hE ARR5,000,0007C HERRAR  HRERREMER
175117138
Shanghai Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * 05/12/2017 goods and other product
LEREEARRARAT hE AR#1,000,0007 HERRAR MRERREMER

017512758
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13 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Subsidiaries of the Group (continued)

AANREEDITR)

13 %Mﬂ‘%"ﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ(%)

b) AEE 2B AE

Proportion of
ownership interest

(#)

L L
Place of
incorporation
and operation/
date of Registered Held by Held by
Name of company establishment share capital the Company asubsidiary  Principal activities
ARRIR
AR EENY/HIRE RS HAARER HMELATER IEED
Wuhan Tai Gai Food & Beverage ManagementThe PRC RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Co, Ltd.* 09/11/2017 goods and other product
REDREERERARAA i AR 5,000,0007 HERRAY  MEERRAMER
1711498
Chengdu Tai Gai Food & Beverage The PRC RMB1,000,000 = 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * 28/08/2017 goods and other product
RBHRERRERERAA el AEH1,0000007 HERRAR  MEERREMER
201758728R
Guangzhou Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * 20/11/2017 goods and other product
ENTREEAEEARAR hE AB#1,000,0007 HERRAR  MEERREMER
01711 A28
Nanjing Nayuki Food & Beverage The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of freshly-made tea drinks, baked
Management Co., Ltd. * 18/04/2018 goods and other product
ARRZEREEARAR hE AB#1,000,0007 HERRAR  MEERREMER
2018547188
Shenzhen Pindao Technology The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Brand management
Service Co., Ltd. * 21/05/2020
AHREHEREARAA hEl AR %10,000,0007 mEEE
2000554218
Shenzhen Pindao Research & The PRC RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Software development
Development Co., Ltd. * 26/04/2020
T REN KT ERAT G ARE10,000,0007 HitHS
20054A268
Shenzhen Nayuki Beverage The PRC RMBS50,000,000 - 90%  Sales of flavored bottled sparking water
Technology Co,, Ltd. * 200712021 HERRRERR
ATREREHRARAT hE ABR#50,000,0007
00157A28
*  The official name of these entities is in Chinese. The English translation * ZEBERNBEAREBAD Y  HXELE
of the name is for identification only. R o
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14 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 1A RBEQTNRE
The following list contains the particulars of associates, all of REFRBL DN TIEDS (R EREFE
which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market BRESEABESEBMT :

price is not available:

Proportion of
ownership interest

BERERGY
Place of Group's
incorporation Registered effective Held by
Name of associate and business share capital interest  asubsidiary  Principal activity
80 5%
HeENTER EMELREELY ZRRE ERES WMELRKE IEEH
Shanghai Ultimate Food Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB2,545,000 214% 21.4%  Sales of coffee and other products
(note(i)(ii))
LERFERBARAT(MENM) & AR#2,545,0007C 21.4% 2.4%  HEMEREMER
Shanghai Jiu Wen Qian Food & The PRC RMB1,248,477 19.9% 19.9%  Sales of fresh fruit teas and
Beverage Management Co., Ltd. other products
(note(i)(i))
EENXBERRERARAR G ARH1,248 4777 19.9% 199% HEMEKRREMER
(&G i)
Shenzhen Xing Fu Kai Brand The PRC RMB1,176,500 15.0% 150%  Sales of coffee and other products
Management Co., Ltd. (note(i)(ii))
AT ERRREERERAR G AR#1,176,5007C 15.0% 150% HEWEREAMGER
(HEEG) i)
Notes: BisE
()  The official name of these entities is in Chinese. The English translation of () ZEEBHNEIRBATX -  ANEREMHHR
the name is for identification only. 7l
(i) Based on the investment agreement, the Group has the right to appoint (i) BEREHZ  AEEEEZE=H2—HE
one-third of the board members, allowing the Group to exercise significant =8KE - X% @Tiﬂxﬁ%‘f%ﬁ'}i‘“ = &
influence over the investee’s operational and financial directions. BAHRITEERTES
All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the P AR E A RN R A MWK FE Ak
consolidated financial statements. JENER °
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material: BRI P B AREER SR B 2 EEEHR
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AR¥ETT
Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial {EBII N E K KB & A AR 4R & BT 15 3R
associates in the consolidated financial statements FHEEAEE 24,292 =
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of AEBREZEHENTNEDHE
those associates’
— Losses from continuing operations and —REFELCEEBENEERE KRS

total comprehensive income pake] (1,288) -
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15 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS AND OTHER 1I5SEMRBHEERBEMIERDE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS =
2022 2021
2022% 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTFR ARET T

Current ik

Certificates of deposit RNEFE 100,000 -
Non-current SERE

Certificates of deposit RNiEfFE 170,000 =
Prepayments for purchase of property BEYMENTENFIA 204,115 331,816
Prepayments for purchase of equipment B8 B R R FE T 7018 26,892 6,567
Others HAit 1,666 -

402,673 338,383
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16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

i & M35 3R RO EE

AANREEDIR)

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBT T AREFT

Listed equity investment (note(i)) AR E () 43,200 46,200
Unlisted equity investment (note (ii) I ETARERE () 6,000 =
Wealth management products (note (i) 3284 2 a (K3 5E i) 110,397 -
159,597 46,200

Notes:

0]

(iii)

The Group held equity interest in Tianye Innovation Corporation (H%f
BIETRR (D B R AR (“Tianye"”), which has received formal approval from
China Securities Regulatory Commission (the “CSRC"”) on December 21,
2022 for public issuance of ordinary shares on Beijing Stock Exchange and
subsequently successfully listing on February 2, 2023. Fair value of Tianye is
measured by referencing to the listing offer price.

The Group held unlisted equity investment engaged in sales of baked
goods. Fair value of the unlisted equity investment is measured by
referencing to the latest equity transactions. Otherwise, the costs are used
as approximation of fair value if there is no significant change observed.

Wealth management products, including wealth management products
and structured deposits, are issued by financial institutions and banks in
mainland China with a floating return which will be paid together with the
principal with the maturity date within 1 year.

BYEE -

(iii)

AEBBFEEHTFEAFROERAR(TEHE O
R MAEHN2022612 821 B EFE B S
BEERZEg([FEHEEFES ) EXIAERILR
BHERX G ARMBEITLAR - HEMN202342
A28 T - BEONAREBEDERSZE L
MBEEETE -

AEBFAREHERBERNIELTERR

o ETRERENRABEDEBRSER

%ﬁf&ﬁnx%:ﬁrg [z - i SRR E B KB
C AIEARAER AR BEREUE -

BEMERBEEMERREBIETR  ATR
RER S BEHE RIRTTHIT - AR FEK -
ABER—FAZIHABRAE R -
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17 INVENTORIES 17 'T?—m
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statements of a) MEMBEMRARAZFE
financial position comprise: ¥
2022 2021
2022% 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Raw materials FEA R 72,976 121,383
Bottled drinks mEERR 3,193 =
Packaging supplies and others BEAMREM 50,115 52,706
126,284 174,089

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognized as an expense and included in profit
or loss is as follows:

(b)

b) A TN AR AL AR
MEETRBEII

N/

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET AREFIT

Carrying amount of inventories sold EHEFSENERE 1,416,094 1,400,674
Write-down of inventories WoRTFE 1,477 1,566
1,417,571 1,402,240

fm

Y|
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i & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

18 EZ R HMEWFIR

The Group REE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Trade receivables E 5 WA 3,178 2,756
Input valued-added tax recoverable ] Ui [B] 3 TH 1% (F F 158,805 146,449
Income tax recoverable EEERES 1,770 893
Amounts due from a related party JfE U BE B 5 FR0E 13 2,464
Loan to an ongoing investment (note (i)) A% & FBHE (M) 50,000 -
Interest receivables JRE R B, 28,694 -
Other receivables H i pE U Gk IR 42,441 24,401
284,901 176,963
Prepayments B RIE 91,561 169,109

The Company ViN/NET!
2022 2021
2022% 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETIT
Amount due from subsidiaries N EIENGIE ] - 1,947,794
Other receivables H i fE I SR IR 21,008 =
21,008 1,947,794

Note: BIEE -

() Pursuant to a working capital loan agreement entered between one of
the Company'’s subsidiary and Shanghai Chatian Catering Management
Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Chatian”), which operates the “LELECHA" brand, the
Company's subsidiary has provided a loan of RMB50,000,000 to enhance
the short-term liquidity of Shanghai Chatian. The loan is unsecured and
repayable within 180 days.

All of the current portion of trade and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognized as expense within one
year.

() BEARAEF—RHBARELSHAHER
EEARAT ([ EBEH]  HE% reegex |
IS MEEESER N - AR AKKHE AT
B2 A S A R#50,000,0007THIE 5K - bR
A LEZXENEHRBIE - BRAERFER
1808 AfEE

EE S REMEYFIAENRE DA
HHR—F AR FRE R ER R/ -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Ageing analysis

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables based on the invoice date, is as follows:

K Hifto FE WK TE (4])
Rl D AT
RBEHK - REREHOE B EUK

BRRREDOMTT

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Within 1 month —@AA 1,233 443
1 to 3 months —Z=1{@A 1,845 2,132
3 to 6 months =Z=XEA 100 129
Over 6 months NEAE - 52

3,178 2,756

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from the date of
billing. Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit
risk arising from trade debtors are set out in note 29(a).

EZRWHIEBRE B HEI0ENRR
E‘Jﬂﬁ BERAAKENEERR &F&“Hﬂz,ﬂ%
E £ EE R &M FE29(a)
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e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LALAREEFIIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 19BERBRESEEBEYWUREMER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) R RRSFEMEIE -
The Group REHE
2022 2021
2022% 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERE 3,477,336 4,104,555
Less: restricted bank deposits (note (i) & @ PR HIERTT R (BT E()) (995) (51,749)
Less: term deposits (note 20) W EERE R (FIEE20) (1,818,846) -
Less: certificates of deposit B REBTfFE
— current (note 15) —BIEA(B5E15) (100,000) =
Less: certificates of deposit W REEfFE
— non-current (note 15) — FERNEA(PIEE15) (170,000) =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIREEFEY 1,387,495 4,052,806
Cash and cash equivalents presented in RMB are NARBZ2INMNRERBEEEY
denominated in: TiATNB B ¥ EHE -
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTFR ARBTT

RMB AR 719,504 845,209
usb ET 593,760 29,718
HKD BT 73,794 3,177,651
JPY =] 437 228

1,387,495 4,052,806
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

AANREEDITR)

19RERAEEBYUAREMBR

(continued)

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (continued)

EREER (H)

(a) R MBS FEMERE  (B)

The Company b N
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBTT
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERE 2,516,336 3,204,744
Less: term deposits (note 20) W EEE SR (FEEE20) (1,818,846) -
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEFEY 697,490 3,204,744

Cash and cash equivalents presented in RMB are

NARBZINES MRS FEY

denominated in: THLA NG| EHEEHE
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
RMB AR 33,733 9
uUsD ETT 591,475 28,699
HKD BT 72,282 3,176,036
697,490 3,204,744

Notes: MizT -

(i)

(ii)

As at December 31, 2022, cash and cash equivalents placed with
banks in mainland China amounted to RMB785,359,000 (2021:
RMB3,313,347,000). Remittance of funds out of mainland China is
subject to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange

control.

Details of the Group's restricted deposits are as follow:

() M2022%F12A318  FERFEKX
ERTNBESRRASEEVWSEAA
R ¥ 785,359,000 7T (2021 F : A R #
3,313,347,0007T ) ° M B KREGE & &
i BB AR A SNE B bl 9 1B B AR Bl RO
FAPR | o

(i) ANEENZREIERFBOT

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETT

Guarantee deposits for performance guarantees  BAERNRES - 42,166
Guarantee deposits for forward foreign BEHINELBESHNRESR

exchange contracts - 9,201

Others Hb 995 382

995 51,749
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

19RERAEEBEYURHER
EREER (H)

(continued)
(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (b) BT ATE BB ETRIR & ¥
generated from operations: B -
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B aE AR¥ETF T ARETTT
Loss before taxation M Fi R Es 18 (516,518) (4,529,629)
Adjustments for: PR R IEER R
Depreciation e 6(d) 697,946 624,131
Amortization of intangible assets A EEY 6(d) 167 167
Impairment loss on property and W EE N R DA R A R RE
equipment and right-of-use assets EER)BEKE 6(c) 16,891 6,844
Write-down on inventories sEEE 6(c) 1,477 1,566
Finance costs Bh & Ak 2N 6(a) 80,326 91,547
Interest income B A 5 (31,901) (7,893)
Loss on forward foreign exchange  ®&HIINEA LIE 18
contracts 6(e) 60,917 -
Loss on disposal of property and HEMERREAR
equipment and right-of-use assets & EREE 6(e) 34,584 20,205
Share of losses of associates iy N 14 1,288 -
Equity-settled share-based payment A#gEz#EE AR &
expenses EREN R 6(b) 14,475 32,732
Fair value changes of financial assets A AR EEF=ZEHE
at FVTPL BEAEHBEN
CRIEEN AR EE
= 2,603 (7,560)
Fair value changes of financial ’A\f‘tfﬁﬁ.ﬁriﬂ,\
liabilities at FvTPL HE T AEHBEN
TRBENARER
‘@J 2,989 11,330
Fair value changes of convertible GIEEEA @Eﬁﬁxﬁ’]
redeemable preferred shares NABEE - 4,329,052
Covid-19-related rent concessions B /E{SAJCovid-19
received EEE S ER 11(b) (11,442) (2,100)
Changes in working capital: BEESEE
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FEREL(3Ehn) 46,329 (72,594)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and B 5 N H b el FRIE
other receivables, prepayments SCANE IEL/{&TH?E
and rental deposits BeRD,/ (Em) 34,602 (192,551)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5 & EMERTRIBLA
other payables and provisions R CRid) /10 (127,336) 67,039
(Decrease)/increase in contract BHBECHD), N
liabilities (387) 139,503
Increase in restricted bank deposits PR KSR 7 TIE L AN (613) (382)
Cash generated from operations KEPTSIRE 306,397 511,407
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

19RERAEEBYUAREMBR
EREER (H)

(continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) MEBEEHFTEALAABYR
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRFANWRNEBREETHMEEE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash %%@J BERENIFRSLE -
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are @Eé/ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ%%%fﬁéﬁ%%?@
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will Egé Q_@f‘;ﬁ Z&%E’%ﬁﬂ*? *Ei
be, classified in the Group's consolidated statements of %JK;K/ =y ':'\\Zﬁgi ”'Liz‘%{}lzﬁﬂé/ﬁ
: . S RS REMNEE -
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.
Listing
expense Capital
payable injection
(included in from non-
trade controlling
Bank Lease and other interest of
loans liabilities payables) subsidiaries Total
JEft LA
(FFABRR HEAR
RITER HEEE  EfEARE)  FEREREE Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTR ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT
(note 24) (note 21)
(i24) (Wz21)
At January 1, 2022 R2022F1 718 428 1,453,038 204 - 1,453,670
Changes from financing cash flows: ~ BEREHELH
Payment of capital element and interest % THEEENFETARAE
element of lease liabilities gy - (479,129) - - (479,129)
Listing expenses paid B L% = = (219 = (219)
Capital injection from non-controlling ~ HEAFEERERTE
interest of a subsidiary - - - 1,350 1,350
Total changes from financing cash flows  BEREHELHEE - (479,129) (219) 1,350 (477,998)
Exchange adjustments EiE - 239 15 - 254
Other changes: Hf25:
Interest expenses (note 6(a) 785 (Ff3k6(a)) - 79,182 - = 79,182
COVID-19-related rent concessions EEERICOVID-19
received REALEN - (11,442) - - (11,442)
Exemption of bank loans Nl (428) = - - (428)
Addition WE - 530,678 - - 530,678
Disposal e - (150,268) - - (150,268)
Total other changes e (428) 448,150 = = 447,722
At December 31, 2022 R2022%128318 - 1,422,298 - 1,350 1,423,648
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 19RERAEEBYUAREMBR
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREER (H)
(continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) MBEBMESXABHER(E)
activities (continued)
Listing
expense
payable
Amounts Convertible  (included in
Interest- dueto  Redeemable Financial ~ redeemable trade
Bank bearing related capital Lease Liabilities preferred and other
loans  borrowings parties  contributions liabilties at FVTPL shares payables) Total
WAL EE
dex Bty

mEE ER(HA

TR BARAR
Bk EME) 5t
RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR

FEf 5
R RRER ERAAE B REAR
RMBODO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBODO  RMBIODO
ARRTL  ARETR  ARBTR  ARBTT  ARETR

(note 31(d)) (note 24) (note 21)
(H3E31(d) (Htsk24) (H3k21)

At January 1, 2021 R2021£1518 283120 438 159 465,309 1,356,726 361,881 652,490 132 3,121,444
Changes from financing cash flows: BEREEEY:
Repayment of bank loans BEBIER (283,120) = = = = = = = (283,120
Repayment of redeemable capital REAEENERTER

contributions arising from &

Reorganization - - - (381,000) - - - - (381,000)
Repayment of warrants, onshore loans ~ (£iE2AtIER » EMER

and convertible note RuaRZEE - - - - - (200,000) - - (200,000)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible ~ EfTA/EAAERE LR

redeemable preferred shares HFERE = - - - = = 1,115,264 = 1,115,264
Payment of capital element and interest  XHRAEE ERALHH

element of lease liabilities RF 85 - - - - (462,485) - - - (462,485)
Interest of bank loans paid ERRAEFHE (2,351) - - - - - - - (2,351)
Proceeds from policy-based discount ~ HRMEZEFHHEH

interest FifgsE 1,500 = = = = = = = 1,500
Listing expenses paid B ETEY - - - - - - - (3527) (3527)
Advances from related parties Py - - 309 - - - - - 309
Repayments of advances from related ~ EEREEIFE T

parties - - (468) - - - - - (468)
Total changes from financing cash flows  BER &% (283971) - (159) (381,000) (462,489) (200,000) 1,115,264 (3,527) (215,878)
Exchange adjustments Eig% - (10) = () (23) (1,627) (18,938) = (20810)
Changes in fair value MMEESD - - - - - 2874 4329052 = 4331926
Other changes: A2
Interest expenses (note 6(z)) 8 3 (H3k6(a) 851 = = 866 88,757 = = = 90,474
COVID-19-related rent concessions EEGHCOVID-19

received FBALEH - - - - (2,100) - - = (2,100
Receivable from issuance of preferred BT B AR ENFUE

shares - - - - - - (521,992) - (521992)
Re-designation of preferred sharesto ~ BELRER B

ordinary shares BERR - - - - - - 32,303 - 32,303
Conversion from redeemable capital A% BEFERERE

contribution, FVTPL to preferred STAEBERRTER

shares i = - - (85,174) - (163128) 248302 - -
Automatic share conversion upon listing R LTif4 BB - - - o = = (5,836,481) = (5,836,481)
Reclassification of bank and loans SIRERENE 42 (428) = = = = = = =
Addition hE = - - - 586,122 - - 2410 588,532
Disposal HE - - - - (113,748) - - - (113,748)
Total other changes 1,219 (428) - (84,308) 559,031 (163,128) (6,077,868) 2410 (5,763,012)

At December 31, 2021 20215128318 48 - - - 1453038 - - 204 1,453,670
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 19BRERBESEEYUAREMEA
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREEH(E)
(continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d) HERE KL EE
Amounts included in the consolidated statements of cash HABEGZEBRERERNEES
flows for leases comprise the following: FETHEIE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

Within operating cash flows RERERER 212,035 204,914
Within financing cash flows BmERSRESR 479,129 472,264
691,164 677,178
20 TERM DEPOSITS 20 EHFRK
Term deposits presented in RMB are denominated in: NAR® 23K TEBMFERTIATIE RS
FHA
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
HKD T 1,616,873 —
usD XL 201,973 -
1,818,846 -
Term Deposits are placed with China Merchants Bank and Bank EBMER RN BERTRFABR

of China with initial maturity terms of over three months. 17 PR BB EEBR=EA -
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21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21EFGREMENRE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Trade payables E S ENFRIE 169,875 289,213
Other payables and accrued charges Hib S sIB N ERTE B 307,482 362,509
Amounts due to a related party JE 1~ BB 75 SR IE (B EE31(d))
(note 31(d)) 1,157 2,486
478,514 654,208
All trade and other payables (including amounts due to a P B B 5 I B Ath FE < 5RIE (6 43 FE 1< A Bt
related party) are expected to be settled or recognized as FRIE)FEHER —F AL E N ERRR
income within one year or are repayable on demand. Wekig BKER -
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of REBREHR  BEFENFIBRESR
trade payables based on the invoice date, is as follows: M RESITAT -
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARBTT

Within 1 year —F K 168,648 287,942
More than 1 year =&E [ |E 1,227 1,271

169,875 289,213
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22 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AANREEDITR)

2E5HMEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Contract liabilities related to prepaid HBENREENEGLHEE
cards 205,024 209,741
Contract liabilities related to discount HITHAE N EBAEBN
vouchers and free vouchers AEHBRE 2,090 977
Contract liabilities related to customer HEFEEEXAHEN
membership programs AHEE 7,527 3,810
Contract liabilities related to service HRBEAE A MEIZERESD
contract and trademark licensing BRENEHBEEBIEEG)
contract (note(i)) 3,026 3,526
217,667 218,054

Note:

()  The contract liability related to service contract represents the Company'’s 0}
remaining contractual obligations under the agreements it entered into
with a mobile device charging service provider to allow the service provider
to install its power bank cabinets in the Company's teahouses for its
customers’ use.

HRBENEENENABEARFE—
BB B R E RS I8 B AT SL A % R
TR FZREHEER AR BRRE LK
HEFPEANAEENRBENEE -

The contract liabilities relate to trademark licensing contract represents the
Group's granting of permission to certain collaborated parties to use its
brands on certain agreed commercial products

HERFAUANEHENAaNAERARE
AETAEDTRTEETHER R LER
Honh#HIFFA] ©

Movements in contract liabilities S A EE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMF T ARBT T
Balance at the beginning of the year RE VR 4R 218,054 78,551
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result EER AETEHEED
of recognizing revenue during the FAKSEHE OB ERD
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (214,249) (75,271)
Increase in contract liabilities SABREEM 213,862 214,774
Balance at the end of the year RE R4S 217,667 218,054
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23 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVTPL 23U AREFEEEHSEBTAE
HEZNEREs
2022 2021
2022% 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTFR ARET T

Forward foreign exchange contracts REIMNELEBED
(note 29(e)(i)) (FH3E29(e)(i)) 3,121 8,376
24 LEASE LIABILITIES 24 FHEAE
As at December 31, 2022, the lease liabilities were repayable as MR2022F12831H > ENHEEEEMN
follows: T:
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Within 1 year —FRN 472,805 421,153
After 1 year but within 2 years —FAEERMER 319,941 381,093
After 2 years but within 5 years RENFBERFA 594,132 589,912
After 5 years AEE 35,420 60,880

949,493 1,031,885

1,422,298 1,453,038
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25 PROVISIONS 25 &1
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
Current mE
Provisions for litigations B 1,282 =
Non-current TR ED
Provisions for restoration costs (note (i) {E1&R AN (B FEG)) 20,634 17,934
The movements of provisions during the year were as follows: RERNBEEZENT :
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARETTT
Balance at the beginning of the year R E I AR 17,934 13,858
Additional provisions NE B 2,913 3,575
Interest on provisions BAERF B 1,144 1,073
Provisions utilized EE AR EE (75) (572)
Balance at the end of the year ME R AEER 21,916 17,934
Note: BisE
()  Pursuant to the terms of the respective tenancy agreements entered into () WEREEMITIZNEBEERZGT KA
by the Group, the Group is required to return its leased properties to the WHHREBE RN  ASEAGEEENERES
conditions as stipulated in the tenancy agreements at the expiration of the FRABEERRTHARE(HER) - BFEK
corresponding lease term as appropriate. The provision for reinstatement AEEERASEEEEREBAEERKAE
costs was estimated based on certain assumptions and estimates made by RS E A RS T5E B ATE L K5 T RE
the Group’s management with reference to historical reinstatement costs fEHER AR o AEt EETEER - WERE
and/or other available market information. The estimation basis is reviewed HERT »

on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.
going ppP
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 RE BB AR R RETBH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement (a) #R & B AR S 5k /9 BN EA 754 18
of financial position represent: =28

Iy

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Balance at the beginning of the year RE R 4584 27,058 20,825
Provision for income tax for the year FEMEREE(ME7)

(note 7(a)) 121 11,556
Income tax paid EfFrEH (1,314) (5,357)
Income tax refunded BIREMEH 1,545 34
Balance at the end of the year RERLE R 27,410 27,058
Reconciliation to the consolidated AR

statements of financial position:

Income tax payable JEB RS 29,180 27,951
Income tax recoverable (note 18) AR E R IE (F5E18) (1,770) (893)

27,410 27,058
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized:

(i) Movement of each component of deferred tax
assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognized in the consolidated statements of financial
position and the movements during the year are as

26 REMBMRR KR FTEH (E)

RAFEFRE VBRI HER
ERERIREE (BB R E
BT

follows:
Inventory
provision and
Impairment of
property and
Accrued equipment
payroll and and
Unused tax other Lease  right-of-use Contract  Property and
Deferred tax arising from: losses expenses expenses assets liabilities  equipment Others Total
FEBEUR
NERRE
ABR  EHIER RERE
BEFREELR: REEE HfH% HEMX BERE SHRE  NERRE A &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARWTR  ARWTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR
At January 1, 2021 R0 F1A18 16,357 1,367 35,961 1299 2,09 (35,331) 1801 23,550
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss ~ Bi&Z&t A/ (i)
B 9,216 13 (1,297) (541) (378) 10911 2.231) 15,661
At December 31, 2021 and R0 E12A318 R
January 1, 2022 02241518 25633 1,294 34,664 758 1,718 (24,420) (436) 39211
Credited/(charged) to profitor loss ~ Ei&#5tA/ (1)
R 30,595 - (4,889) 868 609 12,380 1210 40833
At December 31, 2022 R2022512A318 56,228 1,294 2,775 1,626 230 (12,040) 834 80,044
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 IREMBARR TR TS ()
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized: b) BREREILTRIBEENAE :
(continued) (&)
(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statements of (i) ARE BB R RS ER

financial position

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Net deferred tax asset recognized i ?/.:.\ BA TS AR R R HERR
in the consolidated statements of RIEFHIBEEEFE
financial position 81,464 44,238

Net deferred tax liability recognized R4R& MG R R IERH
in the consolidated statements of FEEIEEEFE

financial position (1,420) (5,027)
80,044 39,211
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized c) RERHELERIBEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note BEME20MH A FEEE - AR
2(t), the Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in PRAIEEEBEHRIEREZEER K
respect of cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries as it EREGRENBENRRERY
is not probable that future taxable profits against which the wA AR BERE THE QA
losses can be utilized will be available in the relevant tax R RIABEERGENELTER
jurisdiction and entity. Deferred tax assets have not been BEE - AERNELERAEER
recognized in respect of the following items: Banh :

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Unused tax losses AB)FAFIEREE 435,302 174,978
Temporary differences TRMEER 125,947 58,916

561,249 233,894
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

26 FE M BARR RSB (&)

(o) RERELERIALE (&)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized (continued)

The expiration information of the Group’s unused tax
losses is set out below:

AEEBBEABAVAEBENDH
BEREIIMT

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

2023 20234 28,970 27,437
2024 20244 399 3,577
2025 20254 14,593 10,972
2026 20265 123,610 104,210
2027 and beyond 20274 R PAtE 267,730 28,782

435,302 174,978

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognized

According to the CIT Law and its implementation rules,
dividends receivable by non-PRC corporate residents from
PRC enterprises are subject to withholding income tax at
10%, unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements, for
profits earned since January 1, 2008.

As at December 31, 2022, deferred tax liabilities in respect
of the dividend withholding tax relating to the distributable
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries were not
recognized as the Company controls the dividend policy
of the subsidiaries. Based on the assessment made by
management as at December 31, 2022, it was determined
that the distributable profits of the Company’s subsidiaries
would not be distributed to the Hong Kong and overseas
holding companies in the foreseeable future. The amounts
of undistributed profit of the Company’s subsidiaries for
the year ended December 31, 2022 is RMB38,767,000 (2021:
RMB48,475,000).

(d) REERHELER AR E

BIBELEMBREREERIEN
B E20084F1 A 1H & HEUEF -
FPECEEREBUI A RS EAR
BUABRI0%TBIFT SR » BrIER
BRI IS IR A S BEF0 R -

R2022F 128318 © BRARQ G
FIFZEM B AR MR EBUR » ik
ELEZEN B A R A 9K @ A8
8 9 A% B T8 31 BT 15 o e 52 R IE 7 1R
B1E - BIBEEEER2022F12A31
HAETER R - ER AR QA B
RAA DR EFTERA R RS
K o AR A B R A& E20224F 12
A3TALFEARD K EFSELEA
R #38,767,0007T (20214 : AR
48,475,0007T) °
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27 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The table below sets forth share-based payments expenses for

share options and RSUs during the year:

27 fﬁﬁéﬁﬁuﬂﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁ

TA
RERNEERER S LZ RS IRMDEA
T8I AR (D AER N REZE#HIR
T

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

Share Option Plan (i) B R REST 21() 6,426 13,256
RSUs (ii) PR 1 A 1D B (i) 8,049 11,984

Re-designation of ordinary share to # E 3E NI EE ETHE E A B S IR (i)
preferred shares (iii) - 7,492
14,475 32,732

The Group has the following share-based payment
arrangements:

(i) Share Option Plan (equity-settled)

The Group granted share-based awards to qualified
director and employees pursuant to the Share Option
Plan, which was adopted in May 2020 and governed
by the contractual terms of the awards. The qualified
participants of the Share Option Plan are required to
satisfy certain vesting service and non-market performance
conditions for the entitlements. In accordance with the
Share Option Plan agreements, the holders of vested
options are entitled to purchase the Company’s shares at
fixed prices predetermined as at each vesting date. Prior
to the completion of the listing of the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange, the Company has the option to
repurchase the vested option upon the occurrence of
certain events at the fixed prices predetermined. Such
option to repurchase will be extinguished upon the
completion of the listing process and the holders of the
shares may freely exercise control over the shares.

Options granted typically expire in 10 years from the
respective grant dates. The options may be exercised at
any time after they have vested subject to the terms of
the award agreement and are exercisable for a maximum
period of 10 years after the date of grant.

AREETEE AT AR SERON KL
B

() BhEsrS (A EREE)
A& BIR B P 20204F 5 A FRA M B AR
BN AEREEREEREMU
B RERNER X8R EH
REWEQBRFTOR - BIRES
MEER2EERARTE THBR
B R IEMIBRB G T ERER - 1R
EEREGTEGE  CRBRERE
NEEABRUARSRERHEL
BETMEEERBEARBRD -
PR B B FE B AR P B T 5E K
Al - RARAERERLEETEMN
RABLBEENEEERBELE R
ERRE AHEBEEEESN L
MRRERERY - BOFHHEAR
B BT S RS

ERNBREAFNARRGLAHS
ETFRER BRETRERS
BBERTTE  HAXEBHENE
RABRAA FIEBRES /EL
HHEE+F -
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27 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(continued)
() Share Option Plan (equity-settled) (continued)

The Group recognizes share-based payments expenses
in its consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income based on awards ultimately
expected to vest.

A summary of activities of the service-based share options

27 NS EH AR BERNA

(&)

(i) MERRIERTEI (LU EEE) ()
AEBRBSKEREERBOE
FEBN R B RBERARD A
ERH T HEI -

HERGHBNERELISHEZZS

is presented as follows: m
Weighted
Weighted average
Number average remaining
of share exercise contractual
options price term
InREFE1G InREFIg
BREHE TEE BRTEHNH
RMB Year
AR% T F
Outstanding as at 7R2021F1A1H
January 1, 2021 i ARITIE 29,915,062 0.73 9.6
Forfeited during the year RERE R (2,596,380) 0.73 =
Outstanding as at 202112 H31H
December 31, 2021 R AR TE 27,318,682 0.73 8.6
Exercisable as at 1202112 A318
December 31, 2021 EIEGEEd 5,660,282 = —
Outstanding as at 1202291418
January 1, 2022 I ARIT R 27,318,682 0.73 8.6
Exercised during the year RERBEITE (2,381,360) 0.73 -
Forfeited during the year RERNE R (2,001,075) 0.73 =
Outstanding as at 202212 A31H
December 31, 2022 i ARTTE 22,936,247 0.73 7.6
Exercisable as at 2022412 H31H
December 31, 2022 Al{TfE 8,521,662 - -
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27 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 27 L REZEEURDAERNS
(continued) ;(E)

() BIRETEI(AEREE)(B)

Y|

() Share Option Plan (equity-settled) (continued)

Fair value of share options

The fair value of share options was estimated using the
trinomial option-pricing model. The determination of
estimated fair value of share-based payment awards on the
grant date is affected by the fair value of the Company’s
ordinary shares as well as assumptions regarding a number
of complex and subjective variables. These variables
include the expected volatility of the shares of the
Company over the expected term of the awards, actual
and projected employee share option exercise behaviors, a
risk-free interest rate and expected dividends, if any.

Based on fair value of the underlying ordinary shares,
the Group has used trinomial option-pricing model to
determine the fair value of the share option as at the grant
date. Key assumptions are set as below:

BIREN LA IEE
AEEER=ZAAHEEEELG
AAERENAREE  BEREL
B HR LA B A7) 70 2R 8 B0 f<F SR A2 B &
ARAABEXRARREBRRNAAR
BEARBBEASEMNTIBES
NERRFE RAEZEERRCERHR
REHTFAEHBAR AR QA RD A
HRE) - BERMAHIESBRET
B1TA - BRRERNXRBEHERE (0
B) -

REHEEBRNAIAEBE A&
BEER A PREERILETE
BREANREBBMOAAEBE =
ERFEIIOT

As at grant dates
R E B

Risk-free interest rates 4 5 e 1) 2= 0.34% - 0.53%
TEHRHARR — 5 10

Expected term — years

Expected volatility TEARK B) 30.97% — 36.58%
Exercise multiple TR ST 2.86x — 3.34x
Fair value of ordinary shares (RMB) RN A L EBE(ARET) 1.97 — 2.06
Exercise price (RMB) THREB(ARET) 0.71-2.17

Dividend yield % B s & 0.00%
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27 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(continued)

27 UESEHEUARDHERNN

(%)

(i) RSUs (equity-settled)

The RSUs granted would vest in tranches from the grant
date over a certain service period, on specific service
condition that the employees remain in service and
scheduled to be vested over one to four years without
any performance condition requirements. Based on the
vesting schedules of the Group's plan, the first tranche
shall be vested upon the first anniversary dates of the
grants, and the remaining of the awards shall be vested on
straight-line basis at the anniversary years over a period
of the remaining three years. Once the vesting conditions
underlying the respective RSUs are met, the RSUs are
considered duly and validly issued to the holder, with
restrictions on transfer of such entitlements at any time
during a period of six months commencing on the date on
which the shares of the Company are publicly listed (the

“Lock-up Period”).

(if)

SR G BAL (AR EE)
ERHZREIB D ECHRR LA
HEERERBMRASHEE (R
BRI R 2R BRERY) - A
SEY EEMRBHAEERLDER
TR-—EMFARE - RIEAEE
VERBRRRKRAE - FHERE
HEEREBFARE - ek T 2R
ERHRT=FHARNBFRIREAR
ERE o X R G B ERE
VR B IR — R EAX - ZRBIRD
BB SZ /BRI ET TR
BA - EAARA KD AREE B
HARE N (E A i (TR EH ) s fEfa
By ) PR Bl B2 SR R A A

Movements in the number of RSUs granted and the ERESEHKRODEMHERE E
respective weighted average grant date fair value are as BEANEIrOFEERH AL BENE
follows: BT -
Weighted
average grant Remaining
Number of  date fair value vesting
RSUs per RSU periods
B R
R il AR 15 B8 AL HY
IRPER TR R
HEE HEARAREE 7 &5 B A
RMB Year
AR F
Outstanding as at 202141 H1H
January 1, 2021 BRI 6,565,400 2.74 3.6
Granted during the year RERERE 2,346,700 8.62
Exercised during the year REABITHE (1,641,350) 2.74
Forfeited during the year REAB IR (859,450) 5.49
Outstanding as at M202112H318
December 31, 2021 LENFI 6,411,300 4.52 3.0
Outstanding as at 7202241 H1H
January 1, 2022 W ARITHE 6,411,300 4.52 3.0
Granted during the year RERNBRE 79,000 4.99
Exercised during the year NERNDITE (1,959,950) 3.17
Forfeited during the year MNERND I (377,250) 13.33
Outstanding as at 7202212 A31H
December 31, 2022 R ARTTE 4,153,100 4.37 2.0
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27 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 27 L REZEEURDAERNS

(continued) ;(E)
(i) RSUs (equity-settled) (continued) (i) XRFIRDELML(AERER)
(%)

At of 31 December 2022, a total of 35 employees of the
Group have been granted with a total of 7,401,400 RSUs.

Share-based payment expense relating to awards granted
to employees is based on the grant date fair value of the
RSUs is recognized, on a straight-line basis over the entire
vesting period. The fair value of each RSU at the grant
dates are determined by reference to the fair value of the
underlying ordinary shares of the Company on the date of
grant.

RSUs were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant
date fair value measurement of the services received. No
dividends have been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services received. There
were no market conditions associated with the RSUs.

(iii) Re-designation of ordinary shares to preferred

shares

Simultaneous with the issuance of series C preferred shares
in December 2021, PAGAC Nebula Holdings Limited
purchased 18,124,469 ordinary shares for an aggregate
purchase price of USD20 million from Linxin Holdings
Limited.

In January 2021, pursuant to a shares purchase agreement
entered between the Company, the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company and a Pre-IPO investor,
namely Court Card HK Limited (“CCHK"), CCHK purchased
4,531,117 ordinary shares for an aggregate purchase price
of USD5 million from the Controlling Shareholders,

The aforementioned shares were immediately re-
designated as series C preferred shares. The difference
between the transaction price and fair value of the ordinary
shares were recognized as share-based compensation
expense in the consolidated statements of profit or loss.

MN20225E 128310 - AEEHE3S
ZEBEF 257,401,400 IR 4|
R fn BEfL o

HEETRENEBEBRNIARND S
E B0 FRFE S TD BN R IR I A 1)
BUuNRBARAIABEGRERE
REFERFBAERRBEE - 80H %
REEODELREHBAHNDAE
EBENES2EARRAABEERNE
HEHN AR BEETE °

PR 1 B ) B A 0 8 B A E AR A 1
- AEEWBRBHRHDBHEA
R EERILEEBIGE - FFES
WHRIE B A B A R BER I
BEERS - WEEZ RS RMDE
2 AERE R T A5 R 1 o

(iii) #5 & B B HT e E S EE

2021F12 B #1TCRIIEB IR -
PAGAC Nebula Holdings Limited
LA 48 B85 B (B 20 B & 3% 7T B Linxin
Holdings Limitedf# 518,124,469/% &
Bk e

R2021F1 A - BEARRAFR - AR
AR R — R X AREER
& & #& ( B) Court Card HK Limited
([CCHK 1)) 8T M%7 B8 B s -
CCHKARB EESE 8T aER
AR EREEE 4,531,117 IR E@AL -

B By BE BN B B HT 5 E RC R HI B
R RHERELTBRAREE
ZHENERREE BB RAERS
AR REREER -



208 Nayuki Holdings Limited - ZEMHZEIZRAER A7)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 & M35 3R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEIERAIN © LAAREEFIIR)

residual assets.

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28 EX - EERKRE
(a) Share capital ) BRAR
Number of Nominal
Shares Value
R #E HE
RMB’'000
ARBT T
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: TR BETTRAR
At January 1, 2021 72021118 986,911,287 422
Reorganization =4 = (100)
Re-designation of ordinary shares to BETEEBRRCEY
series C preferred shares B (4,531,117) (M
Issuance of ordinary shares to employee [AIfE B 8B &% TEBK
incentive platform 121,226,552 40
Automatic conversion of preferred 2IREEE B BERELR
shares upon global offering 354,250,425 114
Global offering IREE 257,269,000 83
At December 31, 2021, January 1, 2022  7A2021F12H31H 20224
and December 31, 2022 1H18 K&2022F12A31H 1,715,126,147 558
The ordinary shares of the Company has a par value of AN 7] i AR B9 N8 74 & 1£0.00005
USD0.00005 each. ETT e
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TRBRFHBEABEBKRIAREEIRZ
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled RE  WHEERARAAE LGS
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All R —F « AR A Z R R E
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company'’s EME @ IASEKREARSHAL -
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28 &7 - HERKRE (&)
(continued)
(b) Movements in components of equity (b) #Ez=AEAK 2B & F)
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual KRB E R =B D BB FF
components of equity are set out below: EEH T
The Company KAE
Share-based
Share Share  payments  Exchange Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve losses Total
NRGAES

Bx  KfteR  NAREE  ERRE  ROER it
Note ~ RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Wi ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARRTR ARMTR ARETR

Balance at January 1, 2022 R2022651 B1BE &R 558 9,826,225 31,101 (52,927) (4,517,173) 5,287,784

Changes in equity for the year BE202F12831ALLEE

ended December 31, 2022: HERSE
Loss for the year ENEE = = = = (29,143) (29,143)
Qther comprehensive income A EkG - - - 484738 - 484,738
Total comprehensive income PENGEE - - - 484,738 (29,143) 455,595
Equity-settled share-based NEREERNRNZS

transactions 2 - - 14,475 - - 14,475
RSUs vested ESEXRAIRREL - 8,054 (8,054) = = =
Share option exercised BTRRRE = 7,989 (7,989) = = =

Balance at December 31, 2022 R2022%12 831 B Rk
(note (i) (& G)) 558 9,842,268 29533 431,811  (4,546,316) 5,757,854
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 28 EX - EERKRE(E)
(continued)
(b) Movements in components of equity (continued) (o) MK D EE)(E)
Share-based
Share Share  payments  Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
ki AER

ke RivEE OfFEE  EiRG 2R a5t
Note  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i ARETn ARMTT ARETR  ARETR ARBTT  ARMTR

Balance at January 1, 2021 R2021%E1 A1 AMEE 322 (86,710 10,355 4,858 (153,883) (225,0%)

Changes in equity for the year HE2021512831BLLEE

ended December 31, 2021: HERSET .
Loss for the year ERER = = = - (4363290) (4,363,290
Other comprehensive income E2mba - - - (57,785) - (57,789)
Total comprehensive income 2ENRES = = = (57,785 (4,363.290) (4,421,075
Equity-settled share-based WEREENRNRS
transactions 2 - - 25,239 - - 25,239
Re-designation of ordinary shares ~ EFEE EBRACES
to series C preferred shares BER 1) (24.822) = = = (24.823)
Automatic conversion of preferred 2SR EHEHRE TR
shares upon global offering 114 5836367 - - - 5,836,481
Issuance of ordinary shares upon PREERETTAR
global offering, net of issuance costs ~ (FIBREFTEARE) 83 409,878 = = - 4096961
Shares issued to employee incentive ~ FIES HEIT AZAHKA
platform 40 19 - - - 59
RSUs vested EERXRAROEN - 4493 (4,493) = - -
Balance at December 31, 2021 R2021E12A31 A4S
(note (i) (GE) 58 9,826,225 31,101 (52927) (4517173 5,287,784
Note: B
(i) Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the () MEFSEHSQFNEMEIER])  AARRH
funds in the reserve account of the Company are distributable to the BEANE S DR TARRRR - AT
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following REBEZED KRS BEE  AARE
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the AIREBEIER - EE—REKBERE
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the BE -

ordinary course of business.
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(c) Nature and purposes of reserves

(i)

(ii)

Share premium

Issuance of ordinary shares

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of the ordinary shares of the Company
and proceeds received from the issuance of the
ordinary shares of the Company.

Re-designation of ordinary shares to preferred shares

In prior years, the Group recognized the difference
between the fair value and par value of ordinary shares
resulted from the redesignation of ordinary shares to
preferred shares amounted to RMB125,099,000.

Automatic conversion of all classes of preferred shares
upon global offering

All classes of preferred shares were automatically
converted into ordinary shares on a one-to-one ratio
upon the Company’s listing on June 30, 2021. The
principal amount of all classes of preferred shares and
the cumulative changes in fair value are capitalized as
share capital and Share premium accordingly.

Other reserve

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

In prior years, the Group acquired an additional
5% equity interest of certain subsidiaries from
their non-controlling shareholders at consideration
of nil in aggregate, the differences between the
consideration paid and acquired proportionate
interest in identifiable net assets of the subsidiaries
of RMB5,087,000 was recognized as a deduction from
other reserve.

288X - BERKRE(E)

) BEHME KRR
() REG=E

s

BT LR

B0 (B AN A B AR A 8
BOIAR R L BRATKEN TS
%KIE\ZFEE'\J%%E\ °

EFEE S BRAEER

RBEEFE  AEEERLTEBR
REHET EBKSEBILRME
B BEEREZHNER
AE#125,099,0007T °

EHBEREDERMARNE
FeB%

KAFR2021F6H308 £
% FTEBERELEREA——
ML Bl BB AL ER - FTA
HAEBERNASERAREBE
B 25T Z B) MR B b A%
AEREAD&E(E °

(i) EfbraE

Ui SRR A b

RBEFE - AEBEUAEHTH
BB HIEER R RIS S T B
RAREEINGARE - BT HE
BB W EE TH B2 B8 A] 35
FEEMLOIER 2 HEBA

R#¥&5087000tE R AEE H
M REEHIRR o
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(c) Nature and purposes of reserves (continued) (c) RENHEERA®(E)
(i) AR 17 BB B

28 EX - EERKRE(E)

(iii) Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve represents the
portion of the grant date fair value of share options
and RSUs granted to the directors and employees of
the Group that has been recognized in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 2(s)(iii).

For shares granted, the equity amount is transferred
from share-based payment reserve to share premium.

(iv) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements for operations outside of mainland China.
The reserve is handled with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(w).

AR B ER MR EEHREE T
AEBEENREENBERERR
BRI ) B R B AR A (B
BERED - EEREME2(s)(i)
o Bt LA RR 17 5 EE B £ < SRER AR
SETBURMER

MEBRLHBROME @ HEaeR
B UMD AERNNRFERE
BERDGE -

(iv) FE 5 f#E1E

ERFEERAERREFBEAX

e DA SN 88 S6 755 1) B 75 R EE A

E’Wl\liﬁgﬁ o EEETIRB M EE
W) PR ET BRI

(d) Dividends (d) IR &

HE2022F12A31BIEFE - KA
BN T R 3RS I B (2021 4F ¢
/) o

No dividends have been declared or paid by the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2022 (2021: nil).

No final dividends were proposed after the end of
reporting period (2021: nil).

R|EBKRE  TEEZDIRAD
A% B (20214 « &) o
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

288X - BERKRE(E)

(e) EAREIE

(e) Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of debt-to-asset ratio. This ratio is calculated as total
liabilities divided by total assets. The Group's debt-to-
asset ratio as at December 31, 2022 was 31.3% (2021:
32.5%)

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are subject to
internally or externally imposed capital requirements.

AEFBEREANTIERBRERRE
AEEFELENEN - NEAB
8 B B 7K SF AR E B EE dn M AR 75 E
BERAGEMNKAESHE - #&
AR BR M 0 R Ko o H R 25 48
FHREM S -

AEEBERERRSLEREEAR
BB ERBRSOBERE R (R
fif 8= 18 B K ) B AR A2 ) & AR
RS RNEE ML 242 HHF
o WERKHEBRAAERHEERNR
e

AEBZREKEELREREER
B RN BBEERUNEEE
SHE o REBP2022F12831HH)
B EE R A31.3% (2021 4F :
32.5%) °

ARBREMBARE TN K
SNERHE AN B ANAR TE PIAR IR ©
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group's business.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables and term deposits. The
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and restricted deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks, financial institutions, Alipay and
WeChat Pay with high credit rating and no past due history,
for which the Group considers having low credit risk.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers.

In determining the ECL for trade debtors and other
receivables, the management of the Group has taken into
account the historical default experience and forward-
looking information, as appropriate. The management
of the Group has assessed that trade debtors and other
receivables have not had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and risk of default is insignificant,
and therefore, no loss allowance of trade debtors and
other receivables is considered necessary by management
for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. The
expected credit loss rate is insignificant and close to zero.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

29 cREREERESHTAND
SEE
AEEREFEBBETEGEE 7
BES - FRREER -

=

A EE R K S AR AR E T B
% B RS RAR TR F R R
MR -

(a) FEER
EERREXZIHFRETEEAR
BEEMEBRAEELHMEEED
R - AEENEERREIERRA
RE 5 K H e W kB A K e i1
R HRRZEF RBEILEEDH
LHEMBEEFRRT  SEH¥
B XNBERMEXNMN  AEER
SEEERRRIE  SAKE@ER
KERERREFEBWARZRH
FROEERBRAER -

AEEEHENEERREIEXES
EFHNEARFE(MIETE EEMB
TRIMEBRRSME)FE - A
SEIEAHEEMNEPHERNE
RERFEHAESESETHEERR -

1E 758 7E B URAR 3k % EL At B W SR IE Y
HHEEEER  ~5EEEER
5T K S A0 48 B SR AU RE M B R (48
BA) AEBEEECDTMHEK
BR 5k M E b B W SR IE B W) S RERR 12
EERRIERZIZMEENRR
MTRE FAHERERAEAR
B E2022F M 2021F12A31H IEF
[E T & UL AR 30 K H b 8 U SR IE 1B I
EERE - BHEEBBEERMTRE
B BEIENE -

AEEYEREEAAESAE
HEREERRAER

Ji]
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 294 FiEMEERABIAND
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REEE)
(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) mBE 2R

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses, participation
in supplier finance arrangements with banks and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to approval by the parent company’s board when the
borrowing exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realizable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's
non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay.

AEENSEBLIELEREEH
Reel  BRASAKNEHR
B 2HEMAEFERITORE LH
NEEEFRUREEHNREH
ko MR B BB B R TR E B IR AR K
T AKBRARESFSHE - K
SERREEHERERDESR
KEHBTERRIZONER
NHREABARNREHE 5
RERNAEEESULTESHHE
BRUEBHNEAZESHEE AR
REMRBERANRBDESTL

TRFNAEENFETESRAE
RBSHRNBTERIBIER -
ZERTARZBABRIIRESF
AMBRBAERE(BRERAEGRAMN
KA BEHOFENR - HHBFEBH
o AIRBR HRERRORITH R
AE)ARAREE R REAN RO RE
Sh R
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 9 cREREEREMTIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REE(E)
(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) mENESER (L)
Year ended December 31, 2022
BE2512A3BLEE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
AERBRALR
More than ~ More than
Within -~ 1yearbut 2 years but Carrying
1 year or less than less than ~ More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total December 31
-ERg -ENE RENRL M2A31A
REX BmER BEfR BENE a3t MEEE

RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMBO00  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARTR ARRTR  ARRTR  ARETR

Trade and other payables ESRENEMTE 478,514 - - - 478,514 478,514
Lease liabilities HEAE 546,486 359,188 632,550 36,369 1,574,593 1,422,298

1,025,000 359,188 632,550 36,369 2,053,107 1,900,812

Year ended December 31, 2021

BENFI2A3NALFE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ARABRA SR
Morethan  More than

Within ~ Tyearbut  2yearshut Carrying

1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years Syears Total  December 31
—ER% FNEE MEMLE M2A31A
REX mEM RER RENE it ol

RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMB'O0D
ARt  AR%TR  AR%Tn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Bank loans BIER 48 = = = 4% 428
Trade and other payables BAREMERNFE 654,208 = = = 654,208 654,208
Lease liabilities HERE 500,577 432,453 640,529 62,839 1,636,398 1,453,038

1,155,213 432453 640,529 62,839 2,091,034 2,107,674
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 9 cREREEREMTIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS REEGE)
(continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) =X R\
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future MEEBIEILMIAENAALBES
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because REReNEEEMSNEEH M
of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest EENTHRAR AEEHFXE
rate risk arises primarily from cash and cash equivalents, S TFTERARESNESEEY
term deposits, certificates of deposit and restricted HER  KREFERIRBRHETHF
bank deposits. The Group does not enter into financial Ko AEBWRUTES T AE
derivatives to hedge interest rate risk. AR @ g o
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIZRAR
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRAFNERSHARETEED
the Group's cash and cash equivalents, term deposits ReRREEEY  THEZRR
and certificates of deposit at the end of each reporting REFERFZRARR

period presented:

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBET T

Fixed rate instrument: EERELEMTA :

Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEeFEY 1,400 410

Term deposits TEBE R 1,818,846 -

Certificates of deposit NEEIFE 270,000 =
2,090,246 410

Variable rate instrument: FEHRAEEMIA :

Cash and cash equivalents RERBFEEFEY 1,386,095 4,052,396

Restricted bank deposit IR HIERITIFK 995 51,749

1,387,090 4,104,145
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

9cmEREERERITAND
REEGE)

(c) M=k (%)
(i) BRE DM

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At December 31, 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variable held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's loss for the year and
accumulated losses by approximately RMB12,193,000.

At December 31, 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variable held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's loss for the year and
accumulated losses by approximately RMB38,850,000.

R2022%12A31H - EFEH
M ERFENEMIBFRT  H5T
FEF EHATHI100EED
FAREENEBRRTEES
B/ EAHARE12,193,000
=5

MR20215E12A31H - EEH
M ERFTNEMBERT  EaT
FEFZ LA THI00EED -
FAREEMEB R REES
TB&,/ EF 4 AR #38,850,000
=5

(d) E% Ak
AEBAZNERRRIEZELS
AN (RN BB R IS I BE |
BANMER)FTENRE RS S
EBYMAREREFR - slEEERAR
MEBEEZRETIARE -

(d) Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily give rise
to cash and cash equivalents and term deposits that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions related. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily HKD and RMB.

(i) Exposure to currency risk (i)

BERER

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognized assets denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the
spot rate at the year end date. Differences resulting
from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations into the Group's presentation
currency are excluded.

TRFNNAEE NS HIRAA
XA ERIGEEEIAINER
HEMERREEMELNE
Rk - /REFNEE - FIAZER
B &R EIRF 45 H AR HIE X
BER/ARYE - ETBREKBEIE
BN BHRRBESATSENZ
SIEMMELHZER -
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 9 cREREEREMTIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEEE)

(continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥ R (E)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i) EkE b ()

Exposure to foreign currency
(expressed in RMB)
As at December 31, 2022

SMEREBE(UARERE)
®2022%12A31H
Hong Kong
Dollars Renminbi
BT ARH
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARBF T

Cash and cash equivalents ReERELEEY 72,282 33,738
Term deposits TEEE R 1,616,873 =
1,689,155 33,738

Exposure to foreign currency
(expressed in RMB)
As at December 31, 2021
SNE R (AARERT)
72021412 A31H
Hong Kong  United States

Dollars Dollars
BT ETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents RELRBEESEEY 3,177,651 29,718
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

9cmEREERERITAND
REEGE)

(d) B R (E)

(i) HERE ST
TRINRRREMETE RS
RIEFAE - WRREBRE AE
EEEXRRAERHIRES -

(d) Currency risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the instantaneous change

in the Group's loss after taxation (and accumulated
losses) and other components of consolidated equity

that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period had changed at that date, assuming

MBI B8 (R R ER)
B 25 48P 2045 7T B 3R
BEs 28 -

all other risk variables remained constant.

2022 2021

20225 202148
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) loss after (decrease) loss after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange accumulated exchange accumulated
rate losses rate losses
BRBEER BriiaEE
HEER REFER SMERER  RRFEE
LA (TH) VEE A (TR) B
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFTT
Hong Kong Dollars BT 1% 16,907 3% 31,769
1% (16,907) -3% (31,769)
Renminbi AR 5% 1,691 3% =
-5% (1,691) -3% -

ER2HNZAMERTIRBRE AR
SEZERBZBRBRESEN(RE
BZWEEEHEE - WRLE5IMm
BHREMRZBARERBEDA
RE)MERZ AR E -

Result of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ loss after taxation
and equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to remeasure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of each reporting period. The analysis excludes
differences that would result from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group's presentation currency.

FRESMBRER 2EHET
FER - UBHFEZEFSAEE
K& E HREERINE R 2 A
SEERMTE - ZN T T EER
BEBINEBHBEHRRAAEE
2INEERELNER -
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the end of
each reporting period on a recurring basis, categorized
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

9cmEREERERITAND
REEGE)

(e) AREBEE

(i)

AR BETEN S MEER
BfE

NRBEEBR
TRINFAEER RS HRIZE
FUHEEGFEZERMTANDA
BE HEESBERYHHREE
AIFIBRAAEBEAEMREZ
—EArRBEEBERL - RAE
B EMBFERZRRTIZ2RIAT
R E M AT A A RIE 2 B
RENBEIREMERE

— FREE: ERE-—RE
ABE (VR E A AR
BEXRBETEEMSZK
RABRBE)AEZOAE
(=]

— BE_RMHE: ERE_AE
ABBE(FRENEF R
REZAINBERIZEHA
8E - AR TNMERTABE
BRzEZBARBRE)E
ZRRfEE - TABREE
ZEABEBEREGHEBTS
2B 2 BUE

— FZAMLE: ERTHEER
RECEBEHAREFEL
RfEE

I
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 9 cREREEREMTIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table presents the Group's financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period:

REEGE)

(e) AAEBEE(E)
() UaAnBEFENcHEER
BE(E)

“RBEEBR(E)
TRIRAEER S EREHR
BEARnBENENCREERS
BEE :

Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
December December 31, 2022 categorized into
31,2022 R2022F12A31ANAABETEDER
H2022%F Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
12A3181
AREE E-% EZR E=ZR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®Tr AR®TR AR¥BTR
Recurring fair value BEMDAAEBEFTE
measurement
Financial asset at FVTPL BARBEG AR
WEREE
- Listed equity investment —RETRAR
BAER A 43,200 43,200 - -
- Unlisted equity investment ~ —A3F F A AIAY
BAER B 6,000 - - 6,000
— Wealth management products — 2B & & 110,397 - - 110,397
159,597 43,200 - 116,397

Financial liabilities at FVTPL BRRBETA
BaMeraE
- Forward foreign exchange —RHSNELES L
contracts (3,121)

- (3,121) -
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 9 cREREEREMTIAND

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS nEE(E)
(continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) NABEZ(E)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) UL EBEFAENSHEER
value (continued) BE(E)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) ARBEEERE)
Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
December 31, December 31, 2021 categorized into
2021 R2021F12A31 BN AR BENED L
7202146 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
1283188
DREE EF—M E_M; F=;

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  AREBTT ARETE ARBTR

Recurring fair value REEDNAEENE
measurement
Financial asset at FVTPL BRRABEFA
BRNEREE
— Listed equity investment — N EMmARK
R A 46,200 46,200 - -
Financial liabilities at FVTPL RRABEA
BamnemaE
- Forward foreign exchange —BREINEREBE D
contracts (8,376) - (8,376) -
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts EHINEREBE N ZAREETD
is determined by using the forward exchange rates at R SHRe RSB ERES
the end of the reporting period quoted from financial WEMEBE °
institutions.
During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, H E2022%F ;2021512 H31H
there were no transfers among different levels of fair IFFE - EARBEAERTD

values measurement. @%&ZF&?%ELE@ °
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

9cmEREERERITAND
REEGE)

(e) AAEBEE(E)
() UaAnBEFENcHEER

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Fair value of the unlisted equity investment is
measured by referencing to the latest equity
transactions. Otherwise, the costs are used as
approximation of fair value if there is no significant
change observed.

Fair value of wealth management products is measured
by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based
on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The un-observable inputs
are expected annual return rate determined in the
investment contracts.

The movement during the period in the balance of
Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows:

B (4E)
ABE=RLABEHEZER

FEMESKEZARBES
BRESZTERIITE - K
2 W EBRIEKE
%E%W$¢ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁmﬁw
g -

i%%&u%ZﬂfEF@Eﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁfﬁ

RengMmEEErThat
ﬁ‘t%maﬁT&E%@\ﬁiﬁ{ﬁﬂ‘}z
EXTFEER - TABREE
ZHABBRREGHNEE L
FERHFEIREK

F=RAABEFERENDA
ZEBIT

2022

2022%
Unlisted Wealth
equity management
investment products

RELHAT
HWRERE BEHE M
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR®T T
At January 1, 2022 R2022F1 A1H = =
Payment for purchases A2 6,000 110,000
Changes in fair value recognized in ~ FRR Bz ER A

profit or loss during the year NAEEZE - 397
At December 31, 2022 7202212 H31H 6,000 110,397
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)

9cmEREERERITAND
REEGE)

(e)

e) nitfB

BFtE (&)

() KRABEGTENTHBEER
BE(#&)

ENESRARBEFEZER

(%&)
2021
20214

Warrants,
onshore Convertible
loans and redeemable
convertible preferred
note shares

RAREE
BEREHR K IRz
#RREE  TEEELR
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBT T

At January 1, 2021 202141 H1H 361,881 652,490
Issues BAT - 1,115,264
Settlements HE (200,000) -
Changes in fair value recognized in ~ FRRIBHHERH

profit or loss during the year AR BEZS) (161,881) (1,767,754)
At December 31, 2021 2021412 H31H = =

(i) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at amortized cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at December 31, 2022
and 2021 because of the short-term maturities of all
these financial instruments.

(1) IR A BIEZRRA 2 BB E
REEHNALEE
HARFEZS SR T ANIIHA

B

BN R B 42 8 PR AR 51 B

Z & TAREEER2022F K&
2021512 ANB 2 AR BEY
BEAER -
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30 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at December 31, 2022 not
provided for in financial statements were as follows:

30 AiE

2022128318 » MABITREYRE
B ISR R AE R B 2 B AFRIEN T ¢

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Contracted for: EETA -

Acquisition of property and equipment B2 K 24 & 27,897 84,411

Capital investment in an associate REFE R RINERKE 525,000 -
552,897 84,411

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Name and relationship with related parties

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the directors
are of the view that the following are related parties of the
Group:

Name of related parties

BARE T B

B1EXRBEBRLRS

(a) FBEHGTT 2 M R

HE2022F12A31HILFE - &=
RE T EAEAEENBEE T

Relationship with the Group
BN S B RO AR

Mr. Zhao Lin & Ms. Peng Xin
RS EEE LT

Dongguan Zundao Environmental Protection Packaging
Co., Ltd. (REMEERFREEEXZAR QA
(referred to as “Dongguan Zundao”)
REMBERREREXZARAT(EAS [REE])

Shenzhen Fucheng Technology Co., Ltd. and
its subsidiaries *(R I B IERHE B R A F)
(referred to as “Shenzhen Fucheng”)

RITEENXERARRENMBAR (R DRYIEED)

*  The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English
translation of the names is for identification only.

Founders of the Company
ZN/NCIFIECUN

Entity controlled by the founders of the
Company

ARRREIIE AESIRE RS

Entity where the founders of the Company
had significant influences

ARREIRABEATZEINER

*

BB AW ATX - AR

HEE
WX RFEMHT o
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31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest paid

i & M35 3R RO EE

AANREEDIR)

NMNEXBERLIRS (&)
(b) TEEE A S HH
REEEEEEABOHH(2IEN
ELE EALEINGE & S a Bk
RO BBERE T &S HHIES

employees as disclosed in note 9, is as follows: TRMEFE)IWT :

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT AREFT

Short-term employee benefits 72 ER{E B 12 A 7,890 9,464

Post-employment benefits ERBL 1218 T 288 243
Equity-settled share-based payment RS E AN B

expenses ARe R 1,345 11,714

9,523 21,421

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note

6(b)).

Related parties transactions

In addition to those related party transactions disclosed

FEEBEA A EIRARI(RME
6(b)) °

(c) BN X5
BHBRER A KEOBH S

elsewhere in financial statements, the Group had the RN RER - 7N & B B H B
following material transactions with its related parties FETATEARRS -
during the year:
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Recurring transactions: BEURS :
Purchase from related parties i)y
- Dongguan Zundao —REEE 8,976 63,461
— Shenzhen Fucheng —RYIBH IR 9,461 8,392
18,437 71,853
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31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31 EAXBEAIXS (F)

(continued)
(d) Balance with related parties (d) FEES 5 4554
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBTFTT
Amounts due from FEWAT A58
Trade in nature (i) TS ()
- Dongguan Zundao —RoEE - 2,464
- 2,464
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFT
Amounts due to FERT AT AR
Trade in nature (i) e =10
— Shenzhen Fucheng — 7852 1,157 2,486
Note: Bt
()  The outstanding balances with these related parties are trading () R TABERENERTATE
balances included in “Trade and other receivable” (note 18) and %&ﬁfﬁﬂ%”&%ﬂﬁj(m’fﬁm)ﬁrfﬁ%&:ﬁi
“Trade and other payables” (note 21). R IE | (P EE21) 'S 58458 -
(e) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (e) MANEER ZHH) EMARA
connected transactions
The recurring transactions with related parties in respect FA M EE31(c) R BB T R B IR
of note 31(c) above constitute continuing connected SR TR RIS 14AT P FUE B0
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. BRERS - TTRAFEVLATRTE
The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing WRBEHNEZTGRE [HEEER
Rules are provided in paragraph headed “Continuing ZI—B -

Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ Report.
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32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 32 A BB H B SRR &R
FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31, December 31,

2022 2021
20224 20214

128318 12A31H

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

i & AR®T ARET T

Non-current asset FRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries REB AR E 13 3,225,328 144,651
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b e G IE 18 21,008 1,947,794
Prepayments TAS IR = 241
Cash and cash equivalents NENRESEEY 19 697,490 3,204,744
Term deposits T HITER 20 1,818,846 -
2,537,344 5,152,779
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables Hih e IE 1,697 2,908
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BARBEFAEBZSN
SREE 3,121 6,738
4,818 9,646
Net current assets MBEEERE 2,532,526 5,143,133
Total assets less current HEERRBEE
liabilities 5,757,854 5,287,784
NET ASSETS EEFH 5,757,854 5,287,784
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRFEE
Share capital B AR 28(a) 558 558
Reserves HE 28(b) 5,757,296 5,287,226

TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 5,757,854 5,287,784
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33 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

As at December 31, 2022, the Directors consider the immediate
parent of the Company to be Linxin Holding Limited, which is
incorporated in the BVI, and the ultimate controlling party of
the Company to be Mr. Zhao Lin and Ms. Peng Xin.

34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB
has issued a number of amendments and new standards, which
are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2022 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements.
These include the following which may be relevant to the
Group.

IBEERRRERES

MN2022F12R31H - ESRAKREER
BEERERRRATRBHBREETIMAK
S HJLinxin Holding Limited * KA & #J
BEIER T BB ERZ O L -

34E £2022F12A31HLLF

ECEMERERERBNER
ﬁé%ﬂﬁ%&%ﬁ%%&

LV = |

EEZSEVBRETZAS  BERes
ERUBESOEHGE TBIIARTE
Bl EZEEITARTTENRE R
2022F 12 A3THIEFEMARER » BR
REEB M IERERPERM - HFBEUT
AR AREEAEEE o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after
RIATBEs
‘AT
HARR A K

IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

BRI S ERIE175% - RERE AT

Amendments to IFRS 17
R TSRS 2RI 175k (1B 5T AN)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of

Accounting Policies
R AR5 M BRI
BATHRZKE

HEREBRAER2R(BEFTAN) :

Amendments to IAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimate

B S ERIESR(EFTA) - Bt ZEE

Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising

from a Single Transaction
REFTERF125R(BRIAR) - BE—XGHELZEER
BEBRHELHE

January 1, 2023
2023F1H1H

January 1, 2023
20231 A1H

January 1, 2023
2023F1H1H
January 1, 2023
2023F1H1H
January 1, 2023

2023F1AH1H
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34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
(continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after
RATE#s
&M G

HARM &2

Amendment to IFRS 17, Initial Application of IFRS 7 and IFRS 9 —

Comparative Information

January 1, 2023

BIBR B IR SR 79 (IBRTAN) « B A& BIBR 1 7% # & 22 Al 2023%F1H1H
FE7HE R EIBR A R CER FE 99 — HE B A

Amendment to IAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current January 1, 2024

Ra st ERIE1R(BEIR) : BESERBTEXIETE 20241 A1H

Amendments to IFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

BB BREEANE165R(ERIAN)  ELHEZHERE

Amendments to IAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

January 1, 2024
20241 A1H

January 1, 2024

B2t £RIE 15 (BETAR) : WERFEZHERBEE 202451 H1H

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

B BR B 7 R 5 YE RI 55 1057 R BIRR S TR 552857 (85T A ) ¢ FEEE

REZHABENRAIXEELR A EEHEL LA

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards is
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far, the
Group has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

AEEIE AR FERT AR ERR
BERERHRENELNTE - 295
b AEEEERMER] A R ERR
KPS EMBRRENEATE
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35 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS IS HAREH

On December 5, 2022, the Group had entered into an
investment agreement to acquire 43.64% of the shareholdings
of Shanghai Chatian Catering Management Co., Ltd. (the
“"Target Company”) with cash consideration totaling RMB525
million (the “Transaction”). The Target Company is principally
engaged in the sales of freshly made tea drinks, baked goods
and other products in the PRC under its flagship brand of
“Lelecha”. The Transaction is expected to be completed in the
first half of 2023, subject to the satisfaction of certain regulatory
approvals and other customary closing conditions.

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Transaction has
received the “Decision on No Further Examination in relation
to Concentration of Business Operators and Anti-monopoly
Examination” KK EEEFREBEGES T ERE —FTEERTE
£)) issued by the State Administration for Market Regulation
of the PRC and the Group expects the Transaction will be
completed in time in the first half of 2023.

MR2022%F12A58 » ZEBTVIRE W
FONBBLESEHEREEBRAR
(TEZERAA])HA43.64%0 7 - R4 HHE
AEHRHEARKESSBEL(IRSGEHE]) -
BIZAREZ A B A E A R [ 285
FHINEHERDRR - HIEERREM
B RPHBEETN2023F LHF 7%
B EAFETEERERKMETR
SR ER BT EEE o

RBERER  RHBHOEEFREA
RHEMBEMSZESEERERTEHA(EE
EETREHBEESTERE —TESR
EE) MAKBEEFRSBEFIRFER
2023%F FHF5ERK ©
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